The Moldovan Medical Journal

The Publication of the Scientific Medical Association of Moldova

Frequency – 4 per year Category – B+

Vol. 64, No 5 November 2021

This issue is dedicated to the Annual Scientific Conference of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy of the Republic of Moldova on the occasion of the 76 years of activity



Welcome to the Moldovan Medical Journal!

The Moldovan Medical Journal is an international scientific double-blind peer reviewed periodical edition, 4 per year, of the Scientific Medical Association of the Republic of Moldova designed for specialists in the areas of medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, social medicine and public health. From its debut the journal has striven to support the interests of Moldovan medicine concerning the new concepts of its development.

The Editorial Board warmly welcomes both the readers of and the authors for the journal, all those who are enthusiastic in searching new and more effective ways of solving numerous medicine problems. We hope that those who want to make their contribution to the science of medicine will find our journal helpful and encouraging.

Open Access Online Fully Open Access Journal



Articles are released under the terms of CC BY SA 4.0 International License

Our journal follows the COPE, WAME, ICMJE, OASPA and ORCID recommendations

1

Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief

Boris Topor, MD, PhD, Professor of Clinical Anatomy and Operative Surgery, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova. https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4427-2027; editor@moldmedjournal.md. H-index Scopus – 3, Citations – 85

Associate Editors

Sava Kostin, MD, PhD, Honorary Academician of Moldova, Professor of Morphopathology, *Max-Planck*-Institute for Heart and Lung Research, Bad Nauheim, Germany. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1594-9476; sawa.kostin@mpi-bn.mpg. de H-index Scopus – 58, Citations – 11703
 Alexander Mustea, MD, PhD, Professor of Gynecology, Department of Gynecology and Gynecological Oncology, University Hospital, Bonn, Germany. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3002-6039; alexander.mustea@ukbonn.de Publication metrics: H-index Scopus – 25, Citations – 250

Emeritus Editor-in-Chief

Stanislav Groppa, MD, PhD, Academician, Professor of Neurology, Laboratory of Neurobiology and Medical Genetics, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2120-2408; stanislav.groppa@usmf.md

H-index Scopus - 7, Citations - 342; Google Scholar - 12, Citations - 3282; Web of Science - 8, Citations - 2024.

Managing Associate Editor

Vitalie Lisnic, MD, PhD, FEAN, Professor of Neurology, *Diomid Gherman* Institute of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Chisinau, Moldova https://rcid.org/0000-0002-5432-8859; vitalie.lisnic@usmf.md. H-index Scopus – 5, Citations – 136; Google Scholar – 6, Citations – 226; Web of Science – 5, Citations – 115

Editorial Advisory Board

Adrian Belii, MD, PhD, Professor of Anesthesiology and Reanimatology, Institute of Emergency Medicine, Chisinau, Moldova. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4128-1318; adrian.belii@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 5, Citations 186; Google Scholar – 5, Citations – 152

Victor Botnaru, MD, PhD, Professor of Internal Medicine, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid. org/0000-0002-0863-5268; victor.botnaru@usmf.md. H-index Scopus – 6, Citations – 2188; Google Scholar – 9, Citations – 381

Emil Ceban, MD, PhD, Professor of Urology, Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1583-2884; emil.ceban@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 5, Citations – 39; Google Scholar – 8, Citations – 172

Dumitru Chesov, MD, PhD, Associate Professor of Pneumology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Moldova. https://orcid. org/0000-0001-6203-5020; dumitru.chesov@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 7, Citations – 116; Google Scholar – 7, Citations – 188

Ion Codreanu, MD, PhD, Associate Professor of Radiology, Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2644-5572; ion.codreanu@usmf.md. H-index Scopus – 12, Citations – 680; Google Scholar – 16, Citations – 1132

Susan Galandiuk, MD, Professor of Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Louisville, Kentucky, USA https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9994-5263; susan.galandiuk@louisville.edu H-index Scopus – 44, Citations – 7110

Aurel Grosu, MD, PhD, Professor of Cardiology, Institute of Cardiology, Chisinau, Moldova

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2824-2306; grosuaa@gmail.com H-index Scopus - 11, Citations - 10980; Web of Science - 2, Citations - 13

Gabriel Gurman, MD, Emeritus Professor of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, Ben Gurion University of Negev, Israel.

https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9694-4652; gurman@bgu.ac.il H-index Scopus - 26, Citations - 1883

Raymund Horch, MD, Professor of Surgery, Department of Plastic Surgery, *Friedrich Alexander* University, Erlangen-Nurnberg, Germany https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6561-2353; raymund.horch@chir.imed.uni-erlangen.de H-index Scopus – 46, Citations – 8526; Web of Science – 43, Citations – 7675

Anna Ivanenko, MD, PhD, Professor of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, *Feinberg* School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, USA. https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8998-6619; aivanenko@sbcglobal.net H-index Scopus – 21, Citations – 2040

Igor Mishin, MD, PhD, Professor of Surgery, Institute of Emergency Medicine, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0754-7917; igor.misin@usmf.md

H-index Scopus - 8, Citations - 213; Google Scholar - 12, Citations - 478; Web of Science - 6, Citations - 115

Viorel Nacu, MD, PhD, Professor of Clinical Anatomy and Operative Surgery, Laboratory of Tissue Engineering and Cell Cultures, Chisinau, Moldova. https://orcid.org/0000-00032274-9912; viorel.nacu@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 5, Citations – 97; Google Scholar – 7, Citations – 223

Murali Naidu, BDS, MMedSc, PhD, Professor of Anatomy, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6156-430X; murali_naidu@um.edu.my.

H-index Scopus - 18, Citations- 830; Google Scholar - 3, Citations - 17; Web of Science - 17, Citations - 717

Hiram Polk Jr, MD, Emeritus Professor of Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Louisville, Kentucky, USA https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1590-4219; hiram.polk@louisville.edu H-index Scopus – 59, Citations – 14989

Irinel Popescu, MD, PhD, Academician, Professor of Surgery, *Dan Setlacec* Center of General Surgery and Liver Transplantation, Bucharest, Romania. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2897-1170; irinel.popescu@icfundeni.ro

2

H-index Scopus - 31, Citations - 4622; Google Scholar - 43, Citations - 8368; Web of Science-35, Citations - 4814

Lilian Saptefrati, MD, PhD, Professor of Histology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2779-718X; lilian.saptefrati@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 5, Citations – 53; Google Scholar – 7, Citations – 142

Dumitru Sofroni, MD, PhD, Professor of Oncology, Institute of Oncology, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2779-718X; dumitru.sofroni@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 4, Citations – 96; Web of Science – 4, Citations – 95 Mihail Todiras, MD, PhD, Professor of Pharmacology and Anesthesiology, Max-Delbrück Center of Molecular Medicine, Berlin, Germany https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9373-4753; mihail.todiras@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 18, Citations – 1174; Google Scholar – 19, Citations – 1559

Valery Timirgaz, MD, PhD, Professor of Neurosurgery, *Diomid Gherman* Institute of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5205-3791; timirgaz@mail.ru H-index Scopus – 5, Citations – 281; Web of Science – 5, Citations – 228

Svetlana Turcan, MD, PhD, Professor of Gastroenterology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid. org/0000-0002-3348-8466; svetlana.turcan@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 12, Citations – 560

Eleonora Vataman, MD, PhD, Professor of Cardiology, Institute of Cardiology, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1091-4549; vatamanab@mail.com H-index Scopus – 11, Citations – 12746; Web of Science – 3, Citations – 20

Emeritus Members of the Editorial Board

Ion Ababii, MD, PhD, academician, Professor of Otorhinolaryngology; Laboratory of Otorhinolaryngology. Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2578-1424; ion.ababii@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 2, Citations – 12

Gheorghe Ghidirim, MD, PhD, Academician, Professor of Surgery; Laboratory of Hepato-Pancreatic-Biliar Surgery, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9047-0596; gheorghe.ghidirim@usmf.md. H-index Scopus – 7, Citations – 180

Mihail Popovici, MD, PhD, Academician, Professor of Cardiology; Institute of Cardiology, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7500-0625; popovicim@gmail.com H-index Scopus – 2, Citations – 38; Web of Science – 6, Citations – 110

Valeriu Rudic, MD, PhD, Academician, Professor of Microbiology, Academy of Sciences, Medical Section, Chisinau, Moldova https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8090-3004; valeriu.rudic@usmf.md H-index Scopus – 7, Citations – 146

INDEXING AND ABSTRACTING

- 1. DOAJ Aworded the Seal, Directory of Open Access Journals (www.doaj.org)
- 2. Google Scholar (https://scholar.google.com/citations?hl=en&user=weWUEMAAAAAJ)
- 3. VINITI, All-Russian Scientific and Technical Information Institute (www.viniti.ru)
- 4. Ulrichsweb Global Serials Directory (www.ulrichsweb.serialssolutions.com)
- 5. Directory of Open Access Scholarly Resources (https://portal.issn.org/resource/ISSN/2537-6381#)
- 6. CrossRef (https://search.crossref.org/?from_ui=&q=2537-6373) official Digital Object Identifier (DOI) Registration Agency of the International
- DOI Foundation
- 7. eLIBRARY.RU Scientific Electronic Library (https://elibrary.ru/contents.asp?titleid=65889)
- 8. Sherpa Romeo, open access policies analyzer (https://v2.sherpa.ac.uk/id/publication/35606)
- 9. EuroPub, Directory of Academic and Scientific Journals (https://europub.co.uk/journals/19267)
- 10. Collective Catalogue of Moldovan University Libraries Consortium (www.primo.libuniv.md)
- 11. National Bibliometric Instrumnt (https://ibn.idsi.md/ro/vizualizare_revista/moldmedjournal)
- 12. Institutional Repository in Medical Sciences (http://library.usmf.md:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/5643)
- 13. WorldCat (https://www.worldcat.org/title/moldovan-medical-journal/oclc/1029854308&referer=brief_results)
- 14. NLM LocatorPlus (https://locatorplus.gov/cgi-bin/Pwebrecon.cgi)
- 15. BASE, Bielefeld Academic Search Engine (https://www.base-search.net/Search/Results?lookfor=moldovan+medical+journal&name=&oaboost=1&new search=1&refid=dcbasen)
- 16. Integrated Information System of Moldova's Libraries (SIBIMOL) (http://cc.sibimol.bnrm.md/opac/bibliographic_view/573823?pn=opac%2FSearch&q= moldovan+medical+journal#level=all&location=0&ob=asc&q=moldovan+medical+journal&sb=relevance&start=0&view=CONTENT)
- 17. CiteFactor Academic Scientific Journals (https://www.citefactor.org/journal/index/23553#.XAjn89szblU)
- 18. Central and East European Index (https://www.ceendx.eu/?page_id=/93/moldovan-medical-journal/)
- 19. Electronic Journals Library University of Regensburg (http://rzblx1.uni-regensburg.de/detail.phtml?bibid=AAAAA&colors=7&lang=en&jour_id=431225)
- 20. Journal Factor (http://www.journalfactor.org/Journal.php?JOURNAL=JF3174&NAME=Moldovan_Medical_Journal)
- 21. CYBERLENINKA (https://cyberleninka.ru/journal/n/the-moldovan-medical-journal)
- 22. Index Copernicus International (https://journals.indexcopernicus.com/search/journal/issue?issueld=all&journalId=51450)
- 23. JIFACTOR, Global Society for Scientific Research (http://www.jifactor.org/journal_view.php?journal_id=4696)
- 24. Central Scientific Medical Library of Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University (www.scsml.rssi.ru)
- 25. East View Information Services (https://shop.eastview.com/results/item?SKU=5140480P)
- 26. Atlant Clinical Inc (www.atlantclinical.com)
- 27. Open Academic Journal Index (http://oaji.net/journal-detail.html?number=7489)



Editorial Staff

Anatol Calistru, MD, PhD, Head of the Editorial Office: +373 22 205 209 Ludmila Martinenko, English Corrector, telephone: +373 22 205 209 Irina Litvinova, Editorial Secretary, telephone: +373 32205877

Address of the Editorial Office

3

192, Stefan cel Mare Avenue, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova Phone: +373 22 205 209, Office: +373 79 429 274 mobile www.moldmedjournal.md editor@moldmedjournal.md

Publisher

"Revista Curier Medical" 192, Stefan cel Mare Avenue Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Printing House "Tipografia Sirius"

2, Lapusneanu str., Chisinau, MD-2004 the Republic of Moldova www. sirius.md

Index for subscription - 32130

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ORIGINAL RESEARCHES

Clinical-epidemiological aspects of acute coronary syndrome in the morbidity and mortality in the Republic of Moldova Iana Coropceanu, Gheorghe Ciobanu
The use of the constrained prosthesis in the difficult primary knee arthroplasty Vitalie Iacubitchii, Alexandru Betisor, Nicolae Erhan
The effect of diabetes mellitus on evolution and outcome of tuberculosis in a prospective study Alina Malic , Evelina Lesnic
Correlations of myocardial bridges with left ventricle myocardial hypertrophy and prepontin coronary atherosclerosis Mihail Tasnic, Valeriu Revenco, Ilia Catereniuc
The peculiarities of patients with COVID-19 infection Andrei Ungurean, Alina Malic, Tatiana Osipov, Evelina Lesnic
Endourological treatment of non-muscular-invasive bladder tumors Ivan Vladanov
Treatment approaches of electrical injuries Anatolie Taran
The incidence of uterine abnormalities Constantin Toncoglaz, Serghei Toncoglaz, Alina Toncoglaz
Clinical and imaging interrelationships in the diagnosis of foreign body aspiration in children Diana Rotaru-Cojocari, Victor Rascov, Rodica Selevestru, Svetlana Sciuca
Assessment of teachers' health in relation to working conditions Dumitru Cheptea
Impact of targeted treatment in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma with primary lymph node involvement Victor Tomacinschii, Maria Robu, Sanda Buruiana, Veronica Finciuc, Ana Grecu, Cristina Dudnic, Dumitrita Urescu, Marina Suschevici
First manifestation and evolution of early left ventricular dysfunction in children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy Iulia Rodoman, Alexandr Dorif, Ina Palii, Victoria Sacara
Erythrocytic antioxidant system in the administration of new coordination compounds thiosemicarbazide derivatives Valeriana Pantea, Marina Gamaniuc, Veaceslav Popa

REVIEW ARTICLES

Г

The role of boron in the functioning of the osteoarticular system	
Maria-Victoria Racu, Ion Romulus Scorei, Iurie Pinzaru	
GUIDE FOR AUTHORS	

ORIGINAL RESEARCHES

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.01 UDC: 616.12-009.72-036.11-036.22(478)



Clinical-epidemiological aspects of acute coronary syndrome in the morbidity and mortality in the Republic of Moldova

*Iana Coropceanu, Gheorghe Ciobanu

Department of Emergency Medicine, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy National Center of Prehospital Emergency Medical Care, Institute of Emergency Medicine Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Iana Coropceanu, e-mail: ianacoropceanu@gmail.com Manuscript received August 07, 2021; revised manuscript November 11, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is associated with high costs of hospital care, frequent recurrences and high risks of sudden death and short-term mortality.

Material and methods: The retrospective study was based on the evaluation of 140 patients who met the ACS criteria. Clinical and epidemiological data were obtained based on the analysis of statistical reports of the Ministry of Health during 2016-2020.

Results: The mean age of the patients was 65.0 ± 27.7 years. Incidence of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) in the population increased from 4.7 to 5.2 cases per 1000 inhabitants. The study found the following occurrence of risk factors: history of cardiovascular disease – 42 (91.3 %) patients, hypertension in 35 (76.1%), obesity in 21 (45.6%), diabetes mellitus in 14 (30.4%) and smoking in 13 (28.3%). The share of risk factors in the male group was distributed as follows: history of cardiovascular disease – 82 (87.2%) patients, hypertension – 63 (67.1%) patients, smoking – 40 (42.5%) patients, diabetes mellitus – 27 (28.7%) patients and obesity was established in 24 (25.5%) of men.

Conclusions: ACS affects men more frequently, compared to women, in a ratio of 2.04:1. People under the age of 65 years constitute 57.5%. The results of the study showed that compared to men, women with ACS were older and had significantly more comorbidities. **Key words:** acute coronary syndrome, acute myocardial infarction.

Cite this article

Coropceanu I, Ciobanu G. Clinical-epidemiological aspects of acute coronary syndrome in the morbidity and mortality in the Republic of Moldova. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):5-10. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.01.

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease causes about a third of all deaths in the world, of which 7.5 million deaths are estimated to be caused by ischemic heart disease. Acute coronary syndromes (ACS) and sudden death cause the most deaths related to ischemic heart disease (IHD), which accounts for 1.8 million deaths per year, or 20% of all deaths in Europe, although there are large variations from one country to another. The incidence rate in European countries is between 43 and 144 per 100.0000 inhabitants per year [1-3]. Previous studies suggest that women with ACS have different onset symptoms compared to men. There is a fairly clear tendency for STEMI to occur more frequently in young people than in the elderly and as often in men as in women. The incidence of IHD, in general, and ACS increases with age, although, on average, it occurs 7-10 years earlier in men compared to women [4]. ACS occurs much more often in

men than in women under the age of 60, but women represent the majority of patients over the age of 75. The risk of acute coronary events throughout life is related to exposure to traditional cardiovascular risk factors. ACS is a major health problem associated with high costs of hospital care, frequent recurrences and high risks of sudden death and short-term mortality [5]. The frequency of ACS increases with age and is a medical-social problem that increases with the aging of the population of the Republic of Moldova. Mortality in patients with ACS is influenced by multiple factors, including old age, Killip class, delayed treatment, therapeutic strategy, history of myocardial infarction, diabetes, renal failure, number of affected coronary arteries, and left ventricular ejection fraction [6]. Early diagnosis of patients with ACS is important for the selection and success of treatment. Currently, there are limited data on the clinical and epidemiological aspects of ACS in women. Therefore,

the aim of the study was to evaluate the clinical-epidemiological aspects of ACS in the population of the Republic of Moldova.

Material and methods

The retrospective study was conducted based on the evaluation of 156 acute medical unit (AMU) statistical forms (SF No 110/e) approved by the Ministry of Health (MHL) (order No 1079 of 30.12.2016) of patients with ACS during January - July 2020 by the prehospital emergency medical service. Of all the records examined, 140 patients who met the ACS-ST elevation (STE) and ACS- non ST elevation (NSTE) criteria were included in the study and clinically confirmed. Patients with ACS-NSTE were older (P < 0.001) than those with ACS-STE. The mean age of the patients included in the study was 65.0 ± 27.7 years, including 46 women with a mean age of 69.7 \pm 28.4 years and 94 men with a mean age of 64.6 ± 20.8 years. In order to study the mortality and morbidity of the population caused by ACS, the statistical reports of MHL were also analyzed during the years 2014-2020 (SR No 30-health, ST No 12-health). Statistical analysis of the results obtained was performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS 19.0) and the Microsoft Excel 2010 version. The confidence intervals were calculated at the level of 95%. A p value below 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Demographic variables and risk factors were also analyzed in terms of frequency and percentage.

Results

According to the statistical data of the National Bureau of Statistics of the Republic of Moldova (2020), presented in table 1, the coefficient of population aging in the period 2014-2020 increased from 17.5 to 21.8, including men from 14.5 to 18.1 and women from 20.3 to 25.1. There was found an acceleration of the aging process of the population, in the referenced time period, and an increase of the aging coefficient by 3.6 in men and 4.8 in women, and the average for both sexes by 4.3.

Table 1. Coefficient of population aging duringthe years 2014-2020 (on January 1, the numberof people aged 60 and over per

100 inhabitants)

Total	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
Men	14.5	15.0	15.4	16.0	16.7	17.5	18.1
Women	20.3	21.0	21.5	22.2	23.0	23.9	25.1
Both sexes	17.5	18.1	18.5	19.2	20.0	20.8	21.8

Note: According to the J. Beaujeu-Garnier-E. Rosset scale, the value of indicator 12 and above qualifies as "demographic aging".

The study of the morbidity of the population of the Republic of Moldova due to cardiovascular diseases, years 2014–2020 (per 100 thousand population) demonstrates an ascending dynamics, both of prevalence and incidence (fig. 1).

The prevalence of cardiovascular diseases in the population increased from 1604.8 cases in 2014 to 2141.6 cases in 2020, per 100 thousand inhabitants, or by 133.5%. During the reference period, the incidence of the population due to cardiovascular diseases increased from 189.8 cases in 2014 to 258.1 cases in 2020 per 100 thousand inhabitants, or by 136.0%.



Fig. 1. Prevalence and incidence of cardiovascular diseases in the population of the Republic of Moldova, years 2014–2020 (per 100 thousand population)

The analysis of the morbidity of the population of the Republic of Moldova due to acute myocardial infarction during the years 2014-2020 (fig. 2), established an increase in the prevalence from 4.7 cases to 5.2 cases per 10 thousand inhabitants.

The study of the general mortality and mortality caused by cardiovascular diseases of the population of the Republic of Moldova during the years 2014-2020 shows a high level in 2020 – 1147.9 and 649.3 deaths per 100 thousand inhabitants, respectively (tab. 2).

Table 2. General mortality and through cardiovascular
diseases of the population of the Republic of Moldova,
years 2014-2020 (per 100,000 population)

Indicators	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
General mortality	1110.5	1122.8	1083.5	1036.3	1049.3	1037.2	1147.9
Mortality through CVD	642.5	648.2	617.3	605.6	609.4	608.5	649.3
Mortality through IHD	359.5	348.6	314.9	317.7	320.6	313.7	356.6
Mortality through stroke	240.7	206.9	237.8	151.9	147.4	146.1	142.0
Mortality through AMI	51.7	53.2	56.3	51.3	53.2	53.0	49.6

Note: CVD – cardiovascular diseases; IHD – ischemic heart disease; AMI – acute myocardial infarction.

The pathology of the circulatory system continues to remain on the first place in causes of death of the population, constituting 56.6% in 2020. Out of the total 40466 deaths registered in the Republic of Moldova in 2020, 22889 deaths were caused by cardiovascular diseases, including ischemic heart disease causing 12571 deaths, or 54.9%, which are 356.6 cases per 100 thousand inhabitants. The mortality of the population by myocardial infarction remains at a constant level, constituting 49.6 cases per 100 thousand inhabitants, especially in rural areas. The study of the mortality of the rural and urban population due to cardiovascular diseases highlights an over-mortality in rural areas (tab. 3).



Fig. 2. Prevalence and incidence of acute myocardial infarction in the population of the Republic of Moldova, years 2014–2020 (per 10 thousand population)

Table 3. Mortality of the population of the Republic of Moldova by areas of residence, due to cardiovascular diseases, for the years 2014-2020 (per 100000 population)

Indicators	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
Urban popula- tion	430.4	438.4	427.7	422.5	435.0	417.7	488.4
Rural popula- tion	720.0	725.7	687.9	675.2	675.3	682.5	712.6
Total RM	642.5	648.2	617.3	605.6	609.4	608.5	649.3

The mortality rate of the population due to cardiovascular diseases increased from 642.5 deaths in 2014 to 649.3 deaths in 2020 per 100 thousand inhabitants. The mortality of the population due to cardiovascular diseases in 2020 registered 488.4 deaths in urban areas and 712.6 deaths in rural areas, per 100 thousand inhabitants. The distribution of mortality rates of the population due to cardiovascular diseases, in the referenced period, remains on the first place constituting 57.5% in 2014, 58.4% in 2017 and 56.6% in 2020 (fig. 3).

The analysis of the mortality of the population due to ischemic heart disease, by areas of residence established a high level of 359.5 deaths in 2014 and 356.6 deaths in 2020 (tab. 4).

The study showed an increase in the mortality of the urban population due to ischemic heart disease from 211.9 deaths in 2014 to 356.6 deaths in 2020. The mortality level of the rural population due to ischemic heart disease exceeds that of the urban population by 195.2% in 2014 and respectively 146.2% in 2020.

Table 4. Mortality of the population of the Republic of Moldova due to ischemic heart disease, by areas of residence, for the years 2014-2020 (per 100 thousand population)

] [
Indicators	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
Urban popula- tion	211.9	229.1	214.0	215.2	207.6	207.1	267.8
Rural popula- tion	413.6	92.9	352.5	356.6	363.3	363.3	391.5
Total RM	359.5	348.6	314.9	317.7	320.6	312.9	356.6

The assessment of the mortality of the population due to acute myocardial infarction, by areas of residence, for the years 2014-2020 established a level of 51.7 cases in 2014 and 49.6 cases in 2020, per 100 thousand inhabitants (fig. 4).



Fig. 3. The distribution of mortality rates of the population of the Republic of Moldova due to cardiovascular diseases (in%), for the years 2014-2020





The evaluation of 140 application forms for patients with ACS - STE and NSTE showed a total mean age of 65.0 ± 22.7 years, that is 69.7 ± 28.4 years for women and 64.6 ± 20.8 years for men (P<0.001), (tab. 6).

Table 5. Medical assistance provided to patients with
ACS in the Republic of Moldova the years 2015-2020 at
the hospitals level

Indicators	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020				
Acute	Acute coronary syndrome									
Total hospitalization	7276	7838	6694	6408	8771	6338				
Transported in the thera- peutic window	4758	5464	4362	4499	5764	4987				
Coronary angiography was performed	1060	1671	1130	879	2278	2408				
Thrombolytic treatment was performed	633	683	502	587	642	310				
Percutaneous coronary angioplasty was perfor- med	671	919	682	576	1759	112				

Of the group of patients included in the study, 67 (49.3%) patients were under 64 years of age and 71 (50.7%) were patients aged 65 years and over. At the hospital level, ACS-STE was established in 27 (19.3%) patients, ACS-NSTE in 38 (27.1%) and UA in 75 (53.6%). Of 46 (32.9%) women with ACS included in the study, 15 (32.6%) were under 65 years and 31 (67.4%) were aged 65 years and over. The male group consisted of 94 (67.1%) patients, of whom 54 (57.4%) were up to 65 years of age and 40 (42.6%) were aged 65 years and over. In the under 65 age category, ACS is more common

in men - 57.4% compared to women - 32.6% (P<0.001). In the over 65 age category, ACS is more common in women, accounting for 67.4% cases compared to 42.6% in men (P< 0.001). The study of risk factors in the general group showed the presence of hypertension in 98 (70.0%) patients, diabetes mellitus in 51 (36.4%) patients, obesity in 45 (32.1%) and history of cardiovascular disease in 128 (91.4%). In the female group, history of cardiovascular disease was present in 42 (91.3 %) patients, hypertension in 35 (76.1%), obesity in 21 (45.6%), diabetes mellitus in 14 (30.4%) and smoking in 13 (28.3%) patients. The distribution of risk factors in the male group was as follows: history of cardiovascular disease - 82 (87.2%) patients, hypertension - 63 (67.1%) patients, smoking - 40 (42.5%) patients, diabetes mellitus - 27 (28.7%) patients and obesity was established in 24 (25.5%) patients. In women, there was a higher level of history of cardiovascular disease (91.3%), hypertension (76.1%), obesity (45.6%) and diabetes mellitus (30.4%) compared to men (P<0.001).

Discussion

The aim of the study was to evaluate the clinicalepidemiological aspects of acute coronary syndrome in the population of the Republic of Moldova. The study group included 140 patients with ACS, the mean age of the patients in the study was 65.0 ± 27.7 years, among them 46 (32.8%)women with a mean age of 69.7 ± 28.4 years and 94 (67.1%)

Indicators	То	tal	Wo	men	Me	en	P value
	Abs	%	Abs	%	Abs	%	
otal	140	100	46	32.9	94.	67.1	< 0.001
ean age	65±	27.7	69.7	±28.4	64.6±	20.8	< 0.001
			Age c	ategories		·	
15years	12	8.6	3	6.5	9	9.6	< 0.001
5-64 years	57	40.7	12	26.1	45	47.9	< 0.001
5 – 79 years	50	35.7	22	47.8#	28	29.8	< 0.001
80 years	21	15.0	9	19.6	12	12.8	< 0.001
			Risl	cfactors			
noking	53	37.8	13	28.3	40	42.5	< 0.001
/pertension	98	70.0	35	76.1#	63	67.1	< 0.001
abetes mellitus	51	36.4	14	30.4#	27	28.7	< 0.001
oesity	45	32.1	21	45.6#	24	25.5	< 0.001
story of CVD	128	91.4	42	91.3	82	87.2	< 0.001
CSSTE	39	27.8	18	12.8	21	22.3	< 0.001
CS-NSTE	85	60.7	26	56.5	59	62.8	< 0.001
llip Class I	109	78.0	32	69.5	77	81.9	< 0.001
lip Class V	33	23.6	12	26.1#	21	22.3	< 0.001

N SCA-NSTE - acute coronary syndrome without ST-segment elevation.

8

men with an average age of 64.6 ± 20.8 years. The ratio of men to women was 2.04:1 [7]. Women were on average 5.1 years older than men (p <0.001). The results regarding the ratio of women to men with ACS were similar to those in the studies conducted by Muherjee S. et al. [8], and Alvi HN. et al. [1]. The majority of ACS cases are registered in men 67.1% and the majority (57.5%) are under the age of 65 [3]. Several studies of the epidemiology, risk factors, and prognosis of ACS have been published in Western countries, which have shown that women with ACS are older and have more comorbidities and risk factors [9-11]. In several studies, smoking, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolemia and hypertension are well-established risk factors for the development of coronary heart disease [12-15], which have different characteristics in men and women [15]. Several studies on epidemiology, risk factors and prognosis have been published [5, 16, 17]. The results of the present research showed that compared to men, women are older (69 vs 64 years; P <0.001) and had significantly more comorbidities, such as diabetes mellitus (30.4 vs 28.7%; P <0.001), hypertension (76.1 vs 67.1%: P <0.001), obesity (45.6 vs 25.5%; P <0.001) and history of cardiovascular disease (91.3 vs 87.2%), data correlating with the results of the studies [1, 15]. Men were more likely to have a history of SCA-STE (22.3 vs 12.8%; P = 0.001), SCA NSTE (62.8 vs 56.5%; P < 0.001) and smoking (42.5 vs 28.3%; P < 0.001) [3]. The increasing share of ACS in women is due to an aging population, changing risk factor profiles and changes in diagnostic capabilities [4, 13]. 33 (23.6%) of the patients in the study group had Killip Class II-IV, including 12 (26.1%) women and 21 (22.3%) men, a situation caused by the high frequency of comorbidities and the advanced age of women [18, 19].

Conclusions

1. Acute coronary syndrome is a major health problem for the population of the Republic of Moldova, substantially influencing the rates of morbidity and mortality.

2. The rise in the aging processes of the population, the reduced accessibility to modern methods of diagnosis and treatment, the high share of cardiovascular risk factors will determine a high incidence of ACS in future.

3. ACS affects men more frequently, compared to women, in a ratio of 2.04:1. People under the age of 65 years constitute 57.5%.

4. The results of the study showed that compared to men, women are older (69 vs 64 years; P <0.001) and had significantly more comorbidities, such as diabetes mellitus (30.4 vs 28.7%; P <0.001), hypertension (76.1 vs 67.1%; P <0.001) obesity (45.6 vs 25.5%; P <0.001) and history of cardiovascular disease (91.3 vs 87.2%).

5. Men were more likely to have a history of SCA-STE (22.3 vs 12.8%; P = 0.001), SCA NSTE (62.8 vs 56.5%; P < 0.001) and smoking (42.5 vs 28.3% P < 0.001).

6. The study showed the presence of AMI-STE in 27

(19.3%) patients, AMI-NSTE in 38 (27.1%) patients and UA in 75 (53.6%) patients.

References

- 1. Alvi HN, Ahmad S. Prevalence of depression in patients of Acute Coronary Syndrome. Pak J Med Health Sci. 2016;10(2):620-621.
- Udell JA, Koh M, Qiu F, Austin PC, et al. Outcomes of women and men with acute coronary syndrome treated with and without percutaneous coronary revascularization. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(1):e004319. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004319.
- Regitz-Zagrosek V, Oertelt-Prigione S, Prescott E, et al. Gender in cardiovascular diseases: impact on clinical manifestations, management, and outcomes. Eur Heart J. 2016;37(1):24-34. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehv598.
- Kuehnemund L, Koeppe J, Feld J, Wiederhold A, et al. Gender differences in acute myocardial infarction: a nationwide German real-life analysis from 2014 to 2017. Clin Cardiol. 2021 Jul;44(7):890-898. doi: 10.1002/clc.23662.
- Peters SAE, Colantonio LD, Dai Y, et al. Trends in recurrent coronary heart disease after myocardial infarction among US women and men between 2008 and 2017. Circulation. 2021;143(7):650-660. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.120.047065.
- Plaza-Martín M, Sanmartin-Fernandez M, Álvarez-Álvarez B, Andrea R, et al. Contemporary differences between men and women with acute coronary syndromes: CIAM multicenter registry. J Cardiovasc Med. 2019;20(8):525-530. doi: 10.2459/JCM.00000000000812.
- Lawesson SS, Isaksson RM, Thylén I, et al. Gender differences in symptom presentation of ST-elevation myocardial infarction – an observational multicenter survey study. Int J Cardiol. 2018;264:7-11. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.03.084.
- Mukherjee S, Manna K, Datta S. Prevalence of novel risk factors in patients of Acute Coronary Syndrome in Estern India: a detailed analysis. Int Cardiovasc Forum J. 2015;4:14-18. doi: 10.17987/icfj.v4i0.124.
- Medagama A, Bandara R, De Silva C, Galgomuwa MP. Management of acute coronary syndromes in a developing country; time for a paradigm shift? an observational study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2015;15:133. doi: 10.1186/s12872-015-0125-y.
- Okunrintemi V, Valero-Elizondo J, Patrick B, et al. Gender differences in patient-reported outcomes among adults with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7(24):e010498. doi: 10.1161/ JAHA.118.010498.
- Sarma AA, Braunwald E, Cannon CP, et al. Outcomes of women compared with men after non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;74(24):3013-3022. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2019.09.065.
- Cho L, Davis M, Elgendy I, et al. Summary of updated recommendations for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in women: JACC state-of-the-art review. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;75(20):2602-18. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.03.060.
- Rojas-Velázquez JM, Giralt-Herrera A, de la Torre Fonsecaet LM, et al. Gender differences in acute coronary syndrome. "Comandante Manuel Fajardo" Hospital, 2016-2017. Clin Investig Arterioscler. 2020;32(2):43-48. doi: 10.1016/j.arteri.2019.08.001.
- 14. van Oosterhout REM, de Boer AR, Maas AH, et al. Sex differences in symptom presentation in acute coronary syndromes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9(9):e014733. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014733.
- 15. Walli-Attaei M, Joseph P, Rosengren A, et al. Variations between women and men in risk factors, treatments, cardiovascular disease incidence, and death in 27 high-income, middle-income, and low-income countries (pure): a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020;396:97-109. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30543-2.

- Liakos M, Parikh PB. Gender disparities in presentation, management, and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2018;20(8):64. doi: 10.1007/s11886-018-1006-7.
- Mahmood SS, Levy D, Vasan RS, Wang TJ. The Framingham Heart Study and the Epidemiology of Cardiovascular Diseases: A Historical Perspective. Lancet. 2014;383(9921):999-1008. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61752-3.
- Appelman Y, van Rijn BB, Ten Haaf ME, et al. Sex differences in cardiovascular risk factors and disease prevention. Atherosclerosis. 2015;241(1):211-8. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.01.027.
- Pagidipati NJ, Peterson ED. Acute coronary syndromes in women and men. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2016;13(8):471-480. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.89.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Iana Coropceanu, MD, Undergraduate Student – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7471-2698 Gheorghe Ciobanu, MD, PhD, Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8538-0134

Authors' contributions

IC conducted literature review, collected the data, interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript; GC conceptualized the idea and designed the research, collected the data, conducted literature review, wrote the manuscript, revised the manuscript critically. Both authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The research was provided by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy and the National Center of Prehospital Emergency Medical Care. The research was the authors' initiative. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate.

No approval was required for this study.

Conflict of Interests.

There is no known conflict of interests and financial or non-financial support associated with this publication.



https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.02 UDC: 616.728.3-77



The use of the constrained prosthesis in the difficult primary knee arthroplasty

*1,2Vitalie Iacubitchii, ^{1,2}Alexandru Betisor, ¹Nicolae Erhan

¹Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy ²Large Joints Replacement Department, Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopedics Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Vitalie Iacubitchii, e-mail: vitalie.iacubitchii@usmf.md Manuscript received August 12, 2021; revised manuscript 04, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: The constrained knee prosthesis has the basic indication in revision arthroplasty, but the latest literature reveals that it takes place also in primary total knee arthroplasty in cases of knee osteoarthritis associated with major deformities.

Material and methods: Present study is based on the surgical treatment, using the constrained knee prosthesis in the primary total knee arthroplasty, during 2019-2021, of 28 patients with knee osteoarthritis associated with severe deformities in varus or valgus, in the Big Joint Replacement Department, Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopedics, Chisinau.

Results: In this study, the following criteria were evaluated: the type of deformity – valgus (10 cases) and varus (18 cases); the degree of deformation – for varus knees was on average 30° , and for valgus knee – 25° ; bone attrition – 11 cases with bone defects where it was necessary to use augmentations; affected side – in 19 cases the right knee was affected and 9 cases the left one; the women/men ratio was 4/1; the mean age of the patients was 67.5 years; average duration of the intervention – 140 minutes; in 5 cases a lateral para-patellar approach was performed, of which 2 cases with tibial tuberosity osteotomy; complications – 1 case with intra-operative periprosthetic fracture and 2 cases with superficial infections of the operated joints.

Conclusions: Osteoarthritis of the knee progresses rapidly, leading to severe deformities, significant bone defects and joint instability, which are indications to use the constrained prosthesis in the primary total knee arthroplasty, long-term follow-up is necessary to obtain the last conclusion, but from this study the constrained knee prosthesis like primary implant for special indication had promising results.

Key words: knee osteoarthritis, difficult arthroplasty, constrained prosthesis.

Cite this article

Iacubitchii V, Betisor A, Erhan N. The use of the constrained prosthesis in the difficult primary knee arthroplasty. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):11-15. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.02.

Introduction

Knee osteoarthritis (KOA) is a common progressive multifactorial joint disease and is characterized by chronic pain and functional disability [1]. KOA accounts for almost four-fifths of the burden of osteoarthritis worldwide and increases with obesity and age [2]. There were nearly 654 million individuals (40 years and older) with knee osteoarthritis in 2020 worldwide [3]. Up to now, KOA is incurable except knee arthroplasty which is considered an effective treatment at an advanced stage of the disease, however, which is responsible for substantial health costs [4].

Total knee arthroplasty (TKA) is a great success nowadays in modern orthopedics [5, 6] and is a procedure to restore proper function and give pain relief in patients with severe knee osteoarthritis [7].

The use of the constrained prosthesis in the primary TKA was unusual in all the world nearly 15 years ago [8], several years ago the interest in this method appeared in Moldova as well.

The constrained knee prosthesis (CKP) has the basic indication in revision arthroplasty, but the latest literature

reveals that it takes place also in primary total knee arthroplasty in cases of severe knee osteoarthritis associated with major deformity with a significant bone defect, stiffness and instability [9]. CKP with its variety of available stems and augments can also help surgeons improve implant stability, optimum alignment, adequate balance and deformity correction [9-12]. Stability is essential for successful TKA [13-16]. By Sabatini et al. the rate of complication is decreased and a good survival rate and functional score results are shown by using the constrained condylar knee prosthesis in primary knee arthroplasty [7, 12, 13].

But anyway, there are some possible disadvantage of CKP which include large bone removal, mechanical loosening due to load transfer to the respective bone ends through an intramedullar extension of the stems leading to early failure and a periprosthetic fracture [9, 14, 17]. Polyethylene insert wearing is another pitfall of CKP [14]. Revision of TKA following CKP is an extremely difficult procedure, as a need for stem removal increases significantly morbidity and operating time [9, 17]. Second generation condylar constrained knee (CCK) prosthesis reduced some complications to the patella (e.g., fractures, incorrect tracking and osteonecrosis) due to redesigned patellofemoral surfaces [12, 18].

The study aimed to evaluate the method of surgical treatment with constrained prosthesis used in the difficult primary TKA in the clinic.

Material and methods

The study is based on the surgical treatment, using the constrained knee prosthesis (CKP) in the primary total knee arthroplasty (TKA), between May 2019 and June 2021, of 28 patients with severe knee osteoarthritis (KOA) associated with major deformities, significant bone defect, stiffness and instability, in the Big Joint Replacement Department, Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopedics, Chisinau.

All patients were over 58 years old, with an average age of 67.5 ± 9.95 years (58–77), there were 22 women and 6

men. Nineteen patients had right knee involvement, and 9 – left knee involvement. The mean body mass index (BMI) of the patients was 31.07 ± 1.38 (22.49-39.66). Detailed characteristics of the patients are illustrated in table 1.

Table 1. Characteristics of patients

Demographic parameters (N-28)	Mean ± SD	Range
Age (years)	67.5 ± 9.95	58-77
Women/Men	22/6	
Right/left	19/9	
BMI (kg/m ²)	31.07 ± 1.38	22.49-39.66

N - total sample, BMI - body mass index, SD - standard deviation

The decision to use constrained knee prosthesis was taken pre-operatively in all 28 cases based on the severity of knee osteoarthritis – the major deformities, important bone loss and complex instability assessed clinically and radiographically (fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Pre-operative radiographs: A - Anteroposterior (AP) view, B - Lateral view.



Fig. 2. CKP with augmentation on medial plateau implanted in a 70-year-old woman because of 28° varus deformity of the right knee. A – Pre-operative radiographs, B – Radiographs after surgery

12

Pre-operative planning was made on all 28 knees. The constrained TKA was performed in knees with a varus over 20° or valgus over 15°. Eighteen of 28 knees had a varus deformity (fig. 2) and 10 had a valgus deformity (fig. 3). The degree of deformation for varus knees was on average 30° (ranging from 20° to 40°), and for valgus knee – 25° (ranging from 15° to 35°);

Another indication for the use of CKP is the advanced bone defect, based on Ahlbäck classification [19]:

1. Grade I: joint space narrowing (less than 3 mm).

2. Grade II: joint space obliteration.

3. Grade III: minor bone attrition (0-5 mm).

4. Grade IV: moderate bone attrition (5-10 mm).

5. Grade V: severe bone attrition (more than 10 mm).

Eleven cases were with severe bone loss and it was necessary to use augmentations, with thickness from 5 to 15 mm, respectively 9 on the medial (fig. 2), 1 on the lateral (fig. 3), and 1 on the entire surface of the tibial plateau. In one case, with moderate bone attrition, was used 1 screw on the medial compartment for better support of the tibial component (fig. 4).

The mean operative time was 140 min (85–195). A pneumatic tourniquet was used during the surgeries, when the allowed time had elapsed; the tourniquet was deflated for a short period, then inflated again.



Fig. 3. CKP with augmentation 10 mm on lateral plateau implanted in a 56-year-old woman with a valgus deformity of 30° of the left knee. A – Pre-operative radiographs, B – Radiographs after surgery



Fig. 4. CKP in a 76-year-old patient with a varus deformity of 15° of the left knee. A – Pre-operative radiographs, B – Radiographs after surgery

13



Fig. 5. CKP in a 67-year-old patient with a valgus deformity of 23^o of the right knee. A – Pre-operative radiographs, B – Radiographs after surgery

The following approaches were used: medial parapatellar – 21 cases; lateral as described by Keblish [20] – 5 cases; and mid-vast [21] – 2 cases (in moderate knee deformations). To achieve sufficient exposure in 2 cases were performed tibial tuberosity osteotomy (TTO) (fig. 5). The plasty of the articular capsule involving part of Hoffa's fat pad was performed in 3 cases with severe valgus deformity.

In one case, intra-operatively with periprosthetic lateral femoral condyle fracture, the result was achieved by osteosynthesis with one screw. In another case, intra-operatively has been determined on medial femoral condyle a subchondral cyst, size 2x3x2.5 cm, which was supplanted with autologous bone grafting.

The intramedullary femoral and tibial guide was used routinely, stem extensions were always used and all components were cemented. Routine patella resurfacing was not performed in these cases; however, patella denervation with electrocautery was performed in all 28 knees.

Results

28 knees with constrained knee prosthesis were reviewed as the first implant. Ten patients were evaluated clinically and radiologically at 2-, 6-, 12-month after surgery, 14 patients at 2-, 6-month after surgery, and 4 patients at 2-month after surgery.

Knee Society Score (KSS) functional score was used to assess the patients [22]. The mean KSS improved from 25 points pre-operatively to 91 (74-100) points at the last follow-up. All patients recovered full extension during the follow-up.

Radiographs showed no radiolucent lines in all knees neither within the femur nor within the tibia. No component loosening or periprosthetic fracture was reported after the surgery. There were 2 cases with superficial infections of the operated joints, carried out by early irrigation and debridement (I&D). Five patients suffered from thigh pain, solved after 2-3 months of physiotherapy and rehabilitation. No revisions or reoperations were performed. 16 patients experienced numbness on the lateral side of the knee. There were no important neurovascular injuries in this experience.

Discussion

The need of a semi-constrained implant in primary TKA is rare due to ligament instability or significant bone defects; different recent works yet recommend to take into account the use of a CKP when it is particularly complex to gain adequate soft tissue balance. Insall et al. (1976) and Donaldson et al. (1988) had already described indications to CKP replacement among which are included severe axial deformities, collateral ligaments insufficiency and severe bone loss [12].

Negatives about the use of CKP include larger bone removal, polyethylene insert wearing, mechanical loosening due to extension of the stems which lead to early failure and a periprosthetic fracture [9, 14, 17].

The most important deduction of this study was that the use of the constrained prosthesis in the primary total knee arthroplasty corrected the severe deformity with major bone defects, stiffness, and instability of the knee joint restoring excellent clinical outcome and recovered the needed function.

Using KSS after CKP, 11 cases were rated as excellent and 17 as good. Considering this report, it can be concluded that CKP as a primary implant is effective and justified option for the treatment of difficult KOA. However, it's not without some complications.

Conclusions

Osteoarthritis of the knee progresses rapidly, leading to severe deformities, significant bone defects and joint insta-

bility, which are indications to use the constrained prosthesis in the primary total knee arthroplasty, long-term followup is necessary to obtain the last conclusion, but from the present study the constrained knee prosthesis like primary implant for special indication had promising results.

Rigorous selection of patients, pre-operation planning, compliance with surgical techniques according to the algorithm allows to obtain good functional results in the majority of cases.

Constrained prosthesis in the primary total knee arthroplasty allows the correction of deformity, gives stability, removing the pain syndrome, improving mobility in the joint, the relatively rapid resumption of function during the postoperative period and considerably improves the quality of life at the patients.

References

- 1. Hunter DJ, Bierma-Zeinstra S. Osteoarthritis. Lancet. 2019;393(10182): 1745-1759. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30417-9.
- Vos T, Allen C, Arora M, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2015. Lancet. 2016;388(10053):1545-1602. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31678-6.
- Aiyong C, Huizi L, Dawei W, Junlong Z, Yufeng C, Huading L. Global, regional prevalence, incidence and risk factors of knee osteoarthritis in population-based studies. EClinicalMedicine. 2020;29-30:100587. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100587.
- Bannuru RR, Osani MC, Vaysbrot EE, et al. OARSI guidelines for the non-surgical management of knee, hip, and polyarticular osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2019;27(11):1578-1589. doi: 10.1016/j. joca.2019.06.011.
- Darciuc M. Tratamentul chirurgical al fracturilor patelei [Knee arthroplasty problems]. [Bull Acad Sci Mold Med Sci]. 2009;21(2):163-166. Romanian. doi: 10.52692/1857-0011.
- Stratan L, Sirbu P. Classification and the history of total knee arthroplasty. Rev Ortoped Traumatol (Bucuresti). 2004;14(3-4):191-200.
- Sabatini L, Risitano S, Atzori F, Aprato A, Massè A. Indications and results of condylar constrained implant in primary total knee replacement. Ann Orthop Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;1(1):1005. doi: 10.21037/ atm.2017.03.29.
- Lachiewicz PF, Soileau ES. Ten-year survival and clinical results of constrained components in primary total knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2006;21(6):803-8. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2005.09.008.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Vitalie Iacubitchii, MD, Assistant Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9465-7019 Alexandru Betisor, MD, PhD Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2990-230X Nicolae Erhan, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3430-4531

Authors' contributions

VI designed the trial and interpreted the data. AB and NE revised the manuscript critically. All the authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The trial was the authors' initiative. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

15

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The research project was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 02, of 23.10.2017).

Conflict of Interests

No competing interests were disclosed.

- 9. Rai S, Liu X, Feng X, et al. Primary total knee arthroplasty using constrained condylar knee design for severe deformity and stiffness of knee secondary to post-traumatic arthritis. J Orthop Surg Res. 2018;13:67. doi: 10.1186/s13018-018-0761-x.
- Bala A, Penrose CT, Seyler TM, Mather RC 3rd, Wellman SS, Bolognesi MP. Outcomes after total knee arthroplasty for post-traumatic arthritis. Knee. 2015;22(6):630-9. doi: 10.1016/j.knee.2015.10.004.
- 11. Mozella Ade P, Olivero RR, Alexandre H, Cobra AB. Use of a trabecular metal cone made of tantalum, to treat bone defects during revision knee arthroplasty. Rev Bras Ortop. 2014;49(3):245-51. doi: 10.1016/j. rboe.2014.03.009.
- Sabatini L, Risitano S, Rissolio L, Bonani A, Atzori F, Massè A. Condylar constrained system in primary total knee replacement: our experience and literature review. Ann Transl Med. 2017;5(6):135. doi: 10.21037/ atm.2017.03.29.
- 13. Sanguineti F, Mangano T, Formica M, Franchin F. Total knee arthroplasty with rotating-hinge Endo-Model prosthesis: clinical results in complex primary and revision surgery. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2014;134(11):1601-7. doi: 10.1007/s00402-014-2061-1.
- 14. Cholewinski P, Putman S, Vasseur L, Migaud H, Duhamel A, Behal H, Pasquier G. Long-term outcomes of primary constrained condylar knee arthroplasty. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2015;101(4):449-54. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2015.01.020.
- Fehring TK, Odum S, Griffin WL, Mason JB, Nadaud M. Early failures in total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2001;392:315-8. doi: 10.1097/00003086-200111000-00041.
- Clarke HD, Scuderi GR. Flexion instability in primary total knee replacement. J Knee Surg. 2003;16(2):123-8.
- Anderson JA, Baldini A, MacDonald JH, Pellicci PM, Sculco TP. Primary constrained condylar knee arthroplasty without stem extensions for the valgus knee. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2006;442:199-203. doi: 10.1097/01. blo.0000185675.99696.29.
- Lachiewicz PF, Soileau ES. Results of a second-generation constrained condylar prosthesis in primary total knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2011;26(8):1228-31. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2011.05.010.
- Ahlback S. Osteoarthrosis of the knee. A radiographic investigation. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh). 1968;Suppl 227:7-72.
- 20. Keblish PA. The lateral approach to the valgus knee. Surgical technique and analysis of 53 cases with over two-year follow-up evaluation. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1991;(271):52-62.
- Engh GA, Holt BT, Parks NL. A midvastus muscle-splitting approach for total knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 1997;12(3):322-31. doi: 10.1016/ s0883-5403(97)90030-9.
- 22. Insall JN, Dorr LD, Scott RD, et al. Rationale of the Knee Society clinical rating system. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1989;(248):13-4.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.03 UDC: 616.379-008.64:616.24-002.5



The effect of diabetes mellitus on evolution and outcome of tuberculosis in a prospective study

Alina Malic, *Evelina Lesnic

Department of Pneumophthisiology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contribution are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Evelina Lesnic, e-mail: evelina.lesnic@usmf.md

Manuscript received September 10, 2021; revised manuscript November 08, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: In the Republic of Moldova almost 5% of the cases with tuberculosis are diagnosed annually among diabetic patients. The aim of this study was to assess the impact of diabetes mellitus on the evolution and anti-tuberculosis treatment effectiveness in a prospective study.

Material and methods: A prospective, longitudinal and case-control study, which included a total number of 252 patients diagnosed with pulmonary tuberculosis and distributed in a study group, consisting of 93 patients diagnosed with diabetes mellitus and a control group, consisting of 159 patients without glycemic disorders, was performed.

Results: This study identified that one half of the group with diabetes was detected by active screening and one third received anti-tuberculous treatment before actual episode. A similar rate of diabetic and non-diabetic patients was microbiologically positive, as well confirmed with drug-resistance. The anti-tuberculous treatment effectiveness was lower in diabetic patients, the death rate and the low treatment outcome (lost to follow-up and failed) were higher than in non-diabetic patients. The main causes of unfavorable evolution were: glycemic disorders (hyperglycemia), diabetes complications and the history of the anti-tuberculous treatment in the anamnesis.

Conclusions: The individualized approach and a tight follow-up should be performed regularly in all patients with glycemic disorders and tuberculosis for the improvement of the disease outcome.

Key words: tuberculosis, diabetes, risk factors, outcome.

Cite this article

Malic A, Lesnic E. The effect of diabetes mellitus on evolution and outcome of tuberculosis in a prospective study. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):16-20. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.03.

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is an important public health issue worldwide [1]. It is one of the four priority non-communicable diseases targeted by the sustainable development goals. Diabetes is a group of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from the disturbances in insulin secretion, insulin action or both [2]. The chronic hyperglycemia contributes to the long-term damage, dysfunction of different organs, increased risk for infections of lower respiratory tract and tuberculosis [1]. The risk for tuberculosis is increased 1.5-7.8 times in patients with uncontrolled hyperglycemia due to high levels of pro-inflammatory mediators (IL-6, TNF- α) released by the infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in the lung tissue [3, 4].

Patients with both types of diabetes are one of the most important risk groups for tuberculosis and are exposed to the annual radiological investigation [5]. The association of diabetes and pulmonary tuberculosis is most commonly established in patients who have been diagnosed with diabetes [6, 7]. If tuberculosis and diabetes are detected simultaneously, diabetes worsens the evolution of tuberculosis and decreases the treatment effectiveness [8-10]. The factors that contribute to the development of tuberculosis in diabetic patients are the disturbances of the innate resistance, cellular immunity, and the alveolar macrophage dysfunction [1, 3]. Late detection, the glucose metabolism disorders during the anti-tuberculous treatment, the high rate of the adverse drug reactions and acquired MDR-TB due to the low absorption of the drugs from the gastrointestinal tract contribute to the unfavorable evolution of tuberculosis [11, 12]. Antidiabetic therapy in patients with tuberculosis should be frequently revised due to the high frequency of glycemic balance disturbances and adverse reactions to anti-tuberculous drugs. In severe forms of tuberculosis, the association of the insulin with metformin is recommended for maintaining the control of the glucose level [12]. The rate of the adverse anti-tuberculous drug effects in diabetic patients is high and ranges between 20% and 54% in MDR-TB patients [12]. The most frequent adverse drug reactions effects are: peripheral neuritis caused by Isoniazid, toxic hepatitis determined by Isoniazid, Rifampicin, Pyrazinamide, renal toxicity of Aminoglycosides (Streptomycin, Kanamycin, Amikacin) and optic neuritis due to Ethambutol [8]. In consequence, the hospitalization of the diabetic patients with tuberculosis is recommended for initiation of the antituberculous treatment [5].

Tuberculosis in diabetic patients is often misdiagnosed and several factors contribute: low specificity of the clinical signs and atypical localization [13]. If the relevant localization in typical tuberculosis is in the segments I, II, VI and X, in DM patients the localization is more often in the segments III, IV and V. Also, severe, extensive destructive process is a common funding in new diagnosed cases of tuberculosis and diabetes. Despite including the patients with DM in the risk groups for annual screening, they are regularly detected with severe forms of tuberculosis with chronic evolution [13]. The late detection and late onset of the antituberculous therapy, dietary errors and inadequate antidiabetic treatment represent the causes of premature death in diabetic patients with TB [8-13]. Considering all the abovementioned data, the study has been performed with the aim to assess the impact of diabetes mellitus on the evolution and anti-tuberculous treatment outcome.

Material and methods

The research was prospective, selective, descriptive and cross-sectional. It included a series of 252 patients diagnosed with pulmonary tuberculosis during the period 01.01.2017-31.12.2017 in the Republic of Moldova. The inclusion criteria, which determined the selection of the patients in the research, were: age over 18 years old, TB diagnosed by a phthisiopneumologist and the signed informed consent. The cases were distributed in two groups. In the study group were selected 93 patients in which the main inclusion criteria was the DM diagnosed by an endocrinologist. In the control group were selected 159 patients without DM or history of DM. The diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis was confirmed through the criteria provided by the National Clinical Protocol. The sputum examination by Xpert MTB/Rif test, Ziehl-Neelsen staining, culture on Lowenstein-Jensen and liquid BACTEC media and chest X-ray investigations were performed in all patients from both groups.

The methods used for the diagnosis of DM were: capillary glucose concentration, the fasting venous plasma glucose (FVPG) done after 10-14 hours of fast and the glycated albumin (HbA1c). The capillary glucose concentration was measured with a glucometer in a blood sample obtained from the fingertip. Glycated albumin was calculated, as the percentage of glycated albumin in the total albumin and the value ≥6.5% (48 mmol/Mol) and was a diagnostic indicator. The investigation schedule included the following data about the patients: biological and social peculiarities, high-risk characteristics (homelessness, migration, history of detention, the contact with a TB patient), case-management, and features of tuberculosis, glycemic indicators, anti-tuberculous treatment, antidiabetic treatment and outcome. The research was approved by the bioethics committee of Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy on 21st of November 2017.

The statistical analysis was performed using EpiInfo software. The data were appreciated as nominal or quan-

titative. The frequency and percentage were reported for nominal data, and the mean and standard deviation were reported for continuous data. The statistical analysis of the differences between normally distributed continuous variables was tested with the t-*Student* test. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The distribution of the patients, according to the sex established a higher rate of men compared with the women rate in the control group (2.9) compared with the study group (2.1). The repartition of the patients, according to the age established that the young groups aged between 18 and 44 years prevailed in the control group – 100 (63%) vs 18 (19%) cases in the study group. A similar rate of patients aged between 45 and 54 years was determined in both groups. The patients older than 55 years statistically predominated in the study group – 53 (57%) vs 22 (14%) cases in the control group (tab. 1). So, young individuals aged younger 44 years, prevailed in the control group and older than 55 years in the study group. The patients' average age in the study group was 59 ± 8 years old, and in the control group – 38 ± 5 years old.

Table 1. Distribution of pa	atients by	y sex and	age
-----------------------------	------------	-----------	-----

Sex	Study group Control group		P-value
Age groups	N=93 (M%)	N=159 (M%)	
Men	63 (67)*	118 (74)*	>0.05
Women	30 (33)	41 (26)	>0.05
18-24 years	0	20 (13)	<0.001
25-34 years	8 (8)	40 (25)	<0.001
35-44 years	10 (11)	40 (25)	<0.001
45-54 years	22 (24)	37 (23)	>0.05
55-64 years	37 (40)	18 (11)	<0.001
65+ years	16 (17)	4 (3)	<0.001

The applied statistical test: the paired sample T-test, M – Mean. *Absolute numbers and percentages per column (in brackets).

According to the type of glycemic disorders, in the study group, the type 1 diabetes was diagnosed in 17 (18%) patients and type 2 diabetes in 76 (82%) patients, which was complicated in 39 (42%) patients. The value of the FVPG exceeded the normal limit of 6 mmol/L in 68 (73%) diabetic patients. Reporting to the total number of patients with hyperglycemia, the fasting venous plasma glucose was established in the range between 6.1 and 8 mmol/L, assessed as a low increased level in 31 (46%) patients. In 18 (26%) cases the value ranged between 8.1 and 12 mmol/l and was assessed as middle increased value. Higher than 12 mmol/L was established in 19 (28%) patients and was defined as uncontrolled hyperglycemia. So, in the most of the cases the fast venous plasma glucose exceeded the normal limit and in less than one half, in 39 (42%) cases, was within the normal range being under medication control. The concentration of the glycated albumin was assessed in 68 (73%) diabetic patients. The normal HbA1c concentrations detected in the range between 4.8 and 5.6%, considered as normal values, were found in 14 patients (20% of the investigated ones). Those patients were identified with low increased hyperglycemia. The values included in the range between 6 and 6.4% were found in 27 (40%) patients. In 27 (40%) cases the HbA1c concentrations exceeded 6.4% and in all cases the FVPG exceeded 12 mmol/l.

The insurance provided the free of charge screening procedures. The health insurance was identified in 61 (66%) cases of the study group vs 72 (45%) cases of the control group. Homeless or people without a place of permanent residence, neither urban nor rural, predominated in the control group 39 (25%) vs 4 (4%) patients in the study group (p<0.05). A similar rate of the economic migrants, who returned from abroad in the last 12 months were identified in both groups. A couple of patients from the control group had a life history of detention. The individuals with tuberculous contact were detected in a low proportion in both groups - 5 (5%) in the study group and 15 (9%) in the control group. In 71 (76%) patients of the study group were diagnosed several associated diseases, among which one was diabetes, complicated in every third case ((39 (42%) patients). In the control group comorbidities were diagnosed in 24 (15%) patients. So, the rate of the patients with associated diseases statistically predominated in the study group (p<0.001). Data are shown in the figure 1.



Fig. 1. Distribution according to the risk factors

The TB case-management was particularly for diabetic patients. Symptomatic screening performed by the general practitioner detected tuberculosis in a higher proportion in the control group - 68 (43%) compared with the study group, 20 (21%) cases. The active screening of the risk groups detected a higher proportion of the patients in the study group 49 (53%) compared with 34 (21%) cases in the control group. The rate of the patients detected through the active screening realized by the medical specialists was statistically higher in the study group 26 (28%) compared with the control group – 10 (6%). The rate of the patients detected through the symptomatic screening realized by the medical specialists was insignificantly higher in the study group -23 (25%) compared with the control group 24 (15%). Only patients from the control group came directly to the Pneumophthisiology hospital and avoiding the primary healthcare facilities. Thus, the specialized therapeutic intervention was more accessible for diabetic patients and the direct addressing to the pneumophthisiology hospital was preferred way for patients without glycemic disorders.

Evaluating the disease history, it was established that patients previously treated with anti-tuberculous drugs were found more often in the study group 32 (34%) compared with 31 (19%) patients in the control group. The major causes of the treatment interruption in the study group were the low treatment clinical tolerance and in the control group the treatment incompliance. The assessment of the laboratory results identified a similar rate of the patients that were positive on Ziehl-Neelson staining and conventional cultures in both groups. The drug-resistant TB was diagnosed through Xpert MTB/RIF assay in 20 (23%) cases in the study group and 44 (28%) cases in the control group and was confirmed through the conventional cultures (tab. 2).

The distribution of the patients according to the clinical and radiological criteria resulted in similar rates of the patients diagnosed with pulmonary infiltrative tuberculosis and the predomination of the fibro-cavernous form in the study group. All patients with chronic evolution had been

		•		
Deferrer	Consider a stanistica	Study group	Control group	P-value
Keterence	Case characteristics	N=93 (P%)	N=159 (P%)	
Primary health care providers	Detected by GPs – symptomatic patients	20 (21)*	68 (43)*	<0.001
	Detected by GPs - screening of HRG	23 (25)	24 (15)	>0.05
Specialized health care level	Detected by SP – symptomatic patients	24 (26)	35 (22)	>0.05
	Detected by SP - screening of HRG	26 (28)	10 (6)	<0.001
	Addressed directly to the specialized TB hospital	0	22 (14)	<0.001
Case type	New cases	61 (66)	128 (80)	<0.001
	Previously treated for TB	32 (34)	31 (19)	<0.001
Microbiological results	Positive on AFB microscopy	38 (44)	79 (50)	>0.05
	Positive on conventional cultures	46 (53)	94 (59)	>0.05
	MDR-TB	20 (23)	44 (28)	>0.05
Clinical-radiological forms	Infiltrative tuberculosis	85 (91)*	144 (90)*	>0.05
	Disseminated tuberculosis	1 (1)	14 (9)	<0.001
	Fibro-cavernous tuberculosis	7 (8)	1 (1)	<0.001

Table 2. Methods of detection, case-types and microbiological features

The applied statistical test: the paired sample T-test, GP – general practitioner, SP – specialist, HRG – high risk group. *Absolute numbers and percentages per column (in brackets)

18

treated with anti-tuberculous drugs, before actual episode was diagnosed.

The standard treatment for drug-susceptible TB, according to WHO recommendations is recommended in the Republic of Moldova since 2000 and all selected patients were treated according to it. The treatment for the drug-susceptible tuberculosis was administrated in 73 (78%) cases of the study group and in 115 (72%) cases of the control group. The treatment for drug-resistant tuberculosis was provided in 20 (23%) patients of the study group and in 44 (28%) patients of the control group. The treatment success rate, which included cured and those who completed the treatment was statistically higher in the control group - 140 (88%) compared with 66 (71%) patients in the study group. The death rate was statistically higher in the study group - 14 (15%) compared with 1 (1%) in the control group. A similar rate of patients in both groups was lost to follow-up or failed the treatment (fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Distribution according to the risk factors

Discussion

This research established that type 2 diabetes was diagnosed more often, even if the patients with type 1 diabetes were more vulnerable to infection and the occurrence of tuberculosis. The research established that tuberculosis appeared in diabetic patients with increased glycaemia and with associated complications. Similar results confirmed that uncontrolled blood glucose level increases the risk for the occurrence of tuberculosis, as the consequence of the immune disturbances [8-10, 12]. Studies showed that men are significantly more at risk for contracting and dying from tuberculosis than women, as peculiarity of the high burden country [6]. The conducted research established a similar distribution of the diabetic patients in groups according to the sex, which demonstrated the impact of the immune disturbances on the risk for acquiring tuberculosis, more than the social risk factors. Most of the studies carried out in high tuberculosis burden countries demonstrated a high prevalence of tuberculosis in young age groups [14]. This research concluded that diabetic patients are often older 55 years which constituted a risk for acquiring type 2 diabetes. This study and the several cohort studies as well established that the social and economic vulnerability constituted a risk factor for tuberculosis in patients with DM [8-10, 12]. As a result, the research established a high rate of the diabetic patients with free access to the screening procedures, due

to specific conditions, like having been retired or disabled, which is characteristic for our country. The low rate of tuberculosis detected within the investigation of the tuberculous clusters in diabetic and non-diabetic groups, reflected poor quality of the contacts' examination done in the frame of the primary health care sector. It was confirmed that the annual radiologic investigation of diabetic patients was an efficient way for tuberculosis detection in the Republic of Moldova, as being recommended by the National Clinical Protocol. The result has been sustained by another study [11]. In case the active radiological screening was routinely used, the tuberculosis with chronic evolution, such as fibrocavernous type was more often diagnosed in diabetic patients. The literature explained the effect of the uncontrolled glucose level in the blood on the releasing of the pro-inflammatory cytokines and occurrence of fibrotic changes in the lung tissue with chronic inflammation [9, 14]. Furthermore, in the reported research the rate of previously treated for tuberculosis patients was high, which explained the fibrotic changes of the lung parenchyma in diabetic patients with long-lasting disease. A high rate of the tuberculosis recurrence and lost to follow-up among diabetic patients were shown by other researches [8-11]. The main causes contributing to the recurrence or relapse of tuberculosis in diabetic patients are: short duration of the standardized anti-tuberculous treatment, high rate of MDR-TB and adverse drug reactions, detection at the late stage, associated complications and dysfunction of the immunity [3, 4, 8-14].

The standard treatment for drug-susceptible and MDR-TB was applied in a similar proportion in both groups. However, there are studies demonstrating a higher rate of drug resistance in diabetic patients [14, 15]. The Republic of Moldova ranks in the list of the countries with a high prevalence of drug resistance, which explained that every fourth patient in both selected groups was confirmed by culture with MDR-TB [6]. The anti-tuberculous treatment effectiveness was considerably lower in the diabetic patients. The mortality rate was higher in diabetic patients, compared with non-diabetic patients, which was confirmed by other studies [3, 4, 8-10, 12-16]. This study is the first to identify the peculiarities of the patients diagnosed with tuberculosis and diabetes in the Republic of Moldova and to clarify the evolution and outcome of the patients with both diseases. The limitations of this study should be also considered, due to a small number of patients included. Further studies on a larger scale are needed to establish the risk factors of both diseases.

Conclusions

The main peculiarities of diabetic patients with tuberculosis are: the average age 59 ± 8 years old, social-economic vulnerability, diagnosis of type 2 diabetes, which was complicated in every third case and high level of blood glucose. The present study identified that one half of the diabetic group was detected by active screening and one third received anti-tuberculous treatment before actual episode. A similar rate of diabetic and non-diabetic patients was microbiologically positive, as well confirmed with drug resistance. More frequently diabetic patients have been diagnosed with fibro-cavernous tuberculosis. The anti-tuberculous treatment effectiveness was lower in diabetic patients, the death rate and the low treatment outcome (lost to follow-up and failed) were higher than in non-diabetic patients. The main causes of unfavorable evolution were: glycemic disorders (hyperglycemia), diabetes complications and the history of the anti-tuberculous treatment in the anamnesis. So, the individualized approach and a tight follow-up should be performed regularly in all patients with glycemic disorders and tuberculosis for the improvement of the disease outcome.

References

- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2018 Jan;41(Suppl 1):S73-S85. doi: 10.2337/dc18-S008.
- United Nations Department of Global Communications. Sustainable Development Goals [Internet]. [Cited 2021 Aug 12]. Available from: https:// www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/ SDG_Guidelines_January_2019.pdf.
- 3. Yorke E, Atiase Y, Akpalu J, Sarfo-Kantanka O, Boima V, Dey ID. The bidirectional relationship between tuberculosis and diabetes. Tuberc Res Treat. 2017;2017:1702578. doi: 10.1155/2017/1702578.
- Restrepo BI, Fisher-Hoch SP, Pino PA, Salinas A, Rahbar MH, Mora F, et al. Tuberculosis in poorly controlled type 2 diabetes: altered cytokine expression in peripheral white blood cells. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;47(5):634-641. doi: 10.1086/590565.
- Ministerul Sănătății al Republicii Moldova [Ministry of Health of the Republic of Moldova]. Tuberculoza la adulți: Protocol clinic național. [Tuberculosis in adults: Clinical national protocol] [Internet]. Chisinau: The Ministry; 2015. Romanian [cited 2021 Aug 12]. Available from: http://89.32.227.76/_files/15189-tuberculoza%2520la%2520adult.pdf
- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2018 [Internet]. Geneva: WHO; 2018 [cited 2021 Aug 12]. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/274453
- Centrul National de Management in Sanatate al Republicii Moldova [National Center for Health Management of the Republic of Moldova]. Indicatori preliminari privind sănătatea populației și activitatea instituțiilor medico-sanitare pe anii 2016-2017 [Preliminary indices on the health

of the population and activity of the medical sanitary institutions for 2016-2017]. Chisinau: The Center; 2018 [cited 2021 Aug 12]. Available from: http://old2.ms.gov.md/?q=rapoarte/indicatori-preliminari-format-prescurtat-privind-sanatatea-populatiei-si-activitatea

- Workneh MH, Bjune GA, Yimer SA. Prevalence and associated factors of tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus comorbidity: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0175925. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175925.
- Chang JT, Dou HY, Yen CL, Wu YH, Huang RM, Lin HJ, et al. Effect of type 2 diabetes mellitus on the clinical severity and treatment outcome in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis: a potential role in the emergence of multidrug-resistance. J Formos Med Assoc. 2011;110(6):372-381. doi: 10.1016/S0929-6646(11)60055-7.
- Siddiqui AN, Khayyam KU, Sharma M. Effect of diabetes mellitus on tuberculosis treatment outcome and adverse reactions in patients receiving directly observed treatment strategy in India: a prospective study. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:7273935. doi: 10.1155/2016/7273935.
- Lesnic E, Todoriko L, Malic A, Tafuni O. Impact of diabetes comorbidity on outcome of pulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberkulez, legenevi hvorobi, VIL-infectsiia [Tuberculosis, Lung Diseases, HIV Infection] (Kiev). 2019;2(37):10-16. doi: https://doi.org/10.30978/TB2019-2-10.
- John NM, George JM, Poornachary NM. Effect of anti-tubercular drugs and impact of glycemic status in patients with tuberculosis and concomitant diabetic-tuberculosis patients. Ind J Pharm Pract. 2017;10(2):125-128. doi: 10.5530/ijopp.10.2.25.
- 13. Lesnic E, Malic A, Lupu E. Aportul screening-ului în depistarea tuberculozei la pacienții cu diabet zaharat [The impact of the screening in the detection of tuberculosis in patients with diabetes mellitus]. Sănătate Publică, Economie şi Management în Medicină [Public Health Econ Manag Med] (Chisinau). 2018;1-2(75-76):29-33 [cited 2021 Aug 12]. Available from: http://revistaspemm.md/wp-content/ uploads/2019/05/1-275-762018.pdf
- 14. Harries AD, Kumar AM, Satyanarayana S, Lin Y, Zachariah R, Lönnroth K, et al. Diabetes mellitus and tuberculosis: programmatic management issues. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2015;19(8):879-886. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.15.0069.
- 15. Lesnic E, Malic A, Kulcitkaia S, Niguleanu R, Jucov A, Gutu-Grecu M, et al. The predictors of pulmonary tuberculosis in Xpert MBT/Rif positive and resistant assay patients with diabetes mellitus. Mold Med J. 2018;61(2):23-29. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1299008.
- 16. Shewade HD, Jeyashree K, Mahajan P, Shah AN, Kirubakaran R, Rao R, et al. Effect of glycemic control and type of diabetes treatment on unsuccessful TB treatment outcomes among people with TB-Diabetes: a systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12(10):e0186697. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186697.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Alina Malic, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5216-6470 Evelina Lesnic, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4259-0227

Authors' contribution

AM collected the data; EL designed the research, reviewed the statistics and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. All the authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova (No 44 of 26.05.2025).

Conflict of interests

No competing interests were disclosed.

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.04 UDC: 616.127-005.4+616.132.2-004.6



Correlations of myocardial bridges with left ventricle myocardial hypertrophy and prepontin coronary atherosclerosis

^{*1}Mihail Tasnic, ²Valeriu Revenco, ³Ilia Catereniuc

¹Department of Cardiology and Interventional Cardiology, International Hospital *Medpark* ²Discipline of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, ³Department of Anatomy and Clinical Anatomy *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contribution are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Mihail Tasnic, e-mail: mihaitasnic@gmail.com Manuscript received August 20, 2021; revised manuscript November 10, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Of particular interest are the studies researching the correlations of myocardial bridges with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and correlations of thick myocardial bridges with the development of coronary atherosclerosis in the proximal to the bridge arterial part.

Material and methods: Assessment of the correlation between myocardial bridges, coronary atherosclerosis, and the degree of hypertrophy of the left ventricle was performed by retrospective analysis of 6168 coronary angiography protocols (2012-2019) and echocardiographic data from patients' clinical records.

Results: Moderate systolic compression predominated, and the number of patients detected with severe under the bridge systolic coronary stenosis was double as in patients with nonsignificant coronary atherosclerosis. From the total number, patients with myocardial hypertrophy and myocardial bridges were twice less when compared with the patients with the normal myocardial thickness. The comparative research did not show any interdependence between the degree of vascular compression and the degree of left ventricular myocardial hypertrophy. Proximal to the bridges atherosclerosis was detected in 32% of cases without correlation with the force of the myocardial bridge.

Conclusions: The study showed the absence of the correlation between the degree of arterial stenosis caused by the bridge and the degree of hypertrophy of the ventricular myocardium as well as the degree of proximal to the bridge atherosclerosis. Important finding was that the degree of coronary systolic compression is higher in patients with moderate and severe proximal to the bridge atherosclerosis. Key words: myocardial ischemia, coronary angiography, myocardial bridge.

Cite this article

Tasnic M, Revenco V, Catereniuc I. Correlations of myocardial bridges with left ventricle myocardial hypertrophy and preportine coronary atherosclerosis. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):21-26. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.04.

Introduction

The term myocardial bridge means the situation when a portion of the coronary artery with a typical subepicardial trajectory is covered, over a certain length, by a myocardial band, being included into variants of the intramural trajectory of the heart arteries [1, 2].

In patients without obstructive atherosclerotic lesions, in 50% of cases, the cause of myocardial ischemia is the myocardial bridge [3].

A myocardial bridge is a congenital anomaly, which is developing in a close correlation with adjacent vessels [4] and can cause local systolic compression of varying degrees of the subpontine vascular segment [5].

Of particular interest are the studies researching the involvement and impact of thick myocardial bridges in the occurrence of acute cardiac events without associated obstructive coronary artery disease (MINOKA), in myocardial infarction caused by under the bridge or distal to the bridge coronary thrombosis or prolonged coronary spasm [6, 7], sudden death of young people caused by major physical exertion [8], with an intact coronary arteries – especially in case of high-performance athletes [9]or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy [10].

Despite of multiple hypotheses regarding pontine etiopathogenesis, Li J. ed. (2008) stated that the ways in which myocardial bridges cause clinical manifestations are still unknown, as well as the optimal methods of their detection and treatment [11].

Myocardial bridges can have an evident impact on the patient's quality of life, considering the angina pectoris they may induce [10].

Proximal to bridge atherosclerosis [12], vasospasm [8, 13], thrombosis [14], are important etiopathogenetic links of the genesis of acute coronary syndrome.

Another specific feature of the intramural trajectory of the large coronary arteries, which is the subject of controversy, is the protective role of the myocardial bridge in preventing atherosclerosis of the under the bridge vascular segment [15].

In contrast to the subpontine antiatherogenic effect, the

frequency of atherosclerotic lesions in prepontontine vascular segment is increased [16].

Material and methods

Assessment of the correlation between myocardial bridges and the degree of hypertrophy of the left ventricular myocardium, correlation between myocardial bridges and coronary atherosclerosis was performed by retrospective analysis of 6168 coronary angiography protocols performed between 2012 and 2019 at Medpark International Hospital, Department of Cardiology and Interventional Cardiology.

The myocardial bridges were detected in 331 of the 6168 evaluated reports, representing 5.3% of the total number of cases.

Results

In 96.4% of cases the myocardial bridges were detected on the left anterior descending (LAD) artery; on the rest of coronary arteries, myocardial bridges were described in 3.6% of cases: the right coronary artery – 0.6%, the circumflex branch – 0.3%, the diagonal branches – 1.8 %, the marginal branches – 0.6%, the posterolateral branch – 0.3%. The existence of several myocardial bridges in the same patient was detected in 1.8% of cases.

The degree of subpontine arterial systolic stenosis varied within 10-95%. Of the total described myocardial bridges, in 50% of cases, they caused an insignificant systolic compression of the artery, reducing the lumen of the vessel up to 50% of the initial value (visually appreciated) and only in 16% of cases the degree of compression exceeded 75%.

In patients with coronary arteries not severely affected by atherosclerotic pathology, insignificant systolic stenosis caused by myocardial bridge of the subpontine arterial segment predominated, while in the second group of research (patients with moderate and severe atherosclerotic lesions), moderate systolic compression predominated and the



Fig. 1. The degree of the arterial systolic compression variation in the group of patients without atherosclerotic lesions and with moderate and severe coronary lesions

22

number of patients detected with severe subpontine systolic stenosis was double as in the first group of study (fig. 1)

Another aspect, widely discussed in the scientific literature, and thoroughly analysed, is the interdependence of the degree of systolic stenosis of the anterior interventricular branch and the degree of hypertrophy of the ventricular myocardium.

In this study, patients were divided into: the group of patients with myocardial bridges and left ventricular myocardial hypertrophy, and the group with myocardial bridges without left ventricular myocardial hypertrophy.

From the total number, patients with myocardial hypertrophy and myocardial bridges were twice less when compared with the patients with the normal myocardial thickness.

The comparative research did not show any interdependence between the degree of vascular compression caused by myocardial bridge and the degree of left ventricular myocardial hypertrophy excepting the category of patients with myocardial hypertrophy and systolic stenosis lower than 50% (fig. 2). Thereby, in patients with myocardial hypertrophy, were determined 10% more cases of vascular systolic stenosis under 50% of the vessel lumen than in patients with the same degree of vascular compression but without myocardial hypertrophy (fig. 3).

The analysis of the dependence between the myocardial bridges and proximal to the bridge coronary atherosclerotic lesions, showed in 32% of cases atherosclerotic plaques at various distances to the bridge and only in one case (0.5%) – atherosclerotic plaques with location immediately after the bridge.



Fig. 2. Lack of direct correlation between the degree of left ventricular myocardial hypertrophy and the degree of compression of the subpontine coronary segment in the general group of research

No cases with under the bridge coronary atherosclerosis were detected.

The research did not determine the interdependence between the degree of dynamic coronary stenosis caused by bridge and the degree of proximal to the bridge atherosclerosis (fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Lack of direct correlation between the degree of prepontine atherosclerotic lesion and the degree of subpontine systolic stenosis

Discussion

Within the performed research, no cases were detected with atherosclerotic lesions under the myocardial bridge. The obtained data is consistent with the reports published in the medical literature. Thus, some authors attribute to myocardial bridges antiatherogenic functions [17], while the others claim the possibility of forming, in their presence, atherosclerotic plaques under the bridge in 6.7% of cases [18], thus denying the antiatherosclerotic role of the bridges [19].

Therefore, the opinions promote the idea that the association of the myocardial bridge with the atherosclerosis under the bridge is very rare [20] or that this association presents a major risk in the occurrence of acute myocardial infarction [12]. Other authors mention that if the atherosclerosis is detected under the myocardial bridge, its degree of lesion is clearly lower than the proximal to the bridge [21].

As to the protective antiatherosclerotic mechanisms, both are described, the morphological features specific to the subpontine endothelial layer, resistant to atherosclerotic lesions, and the pulsating character of the coronary vessel under the bridge [22]. In this aspect, the essential endothelial changes were highlighted, which allowed the authors to assume that they play a protective role against atherosclerosis [23].In contrast to the subpontine antiatherogenic effect, in the proximal to the bridge vascular segment, the incidence of atherosclerotic lesions is increased [16].

Within the performed study, the atherosclerotic lesions

visualized on angiography in the proximal to the bridge arterial portion were detected in 32% of cases. However, a correlation between the degree of coronary systolic stenosis and the of plaques, and the degree of proximal to the bridge atherosclerotic stenosis, was not found.

The obtained results did not show a definite correlation between the presence of myocardial bridge and preportine coronary atherosclerosis.

In the recent publications of Dr. Ishikawa, he affirms that myocardial bridges can be considered as risk factors for the development of atherosclerosis in certain segments of the coronary arteries, especially the proximal to the bridge ones, and in the genesis of myocardial infarction [9].

The incidence of preportine stenosis is lower in this study than in other published data. Thus, multiple studies denote the predisposition, in 50% up to 90% of cases, of the respective segment in the formation of atherosclerotic plaques [24], increasing thereby the risk of acute coronary syndrome [25]. In this context, cases of complications of proximal to the bridge coronary atherosclerotic plaques by rupture of the fibrous capsule and acute thrombosis are reported [1].

Though, no correlation was detected between the degree of myocardial bridge compression and the incidence of atherosclerotic coronary lesions and their degree. Some authors used IVUS (intravascular ultrasonography) during the diagnostic coronary angiography and established the direct correlation between the degree of pontine compression of the vessel and the development of atherosclerotic plaque in the proximal to the bridge part of coronary artery, the degree of systolic compression being a more influential factor in the development of atherosclerotic plaque than the length, thickness and location of complete myocardial bridges [4]. Therefore, the degree of prepontine coronary damage can serve as an indicator of the severity of the myocardial bridges and the choice of the optimal treatment tactics [26].

The use of intravascular imaging methods is much more sensitive in detecting of minimal atherosclerotic lesions in the preportine coronary segment than the conventional angiography used in the study.

As well as the dependence between the degree of coronary artery disease and the degree of coronary systolic stenosis, the causes of atherosclerotic prepontine lesions remain unclear.Some authors assume the multifactorial influence of the local, proximal to the bridge action of the blood flow, of the parietal stress, which leads to the mechanical lesion of the vascular wall [1].

This mechanical factor is caused by a retrograde blood flow, the result of the systolic expulsion of blood column from the intramural portion of the vessel.

The intima lesions resulted from the meeting of retrograde blood flow with the anterograde one, facilitate the rupture of atherosclerotic plaque and the appearance of acute coronary syndromes [1]. However, it is mentioned the existence of differences in proximal to the bridge and intramural parietal stress forces.

Thus, under the myocardial bridge the parietal stress is higher than in the proximal to the bridge coronary segment, leading to increased transendothelial distribution of lipids [1].

The mentioned effects are aggravated by the turbulent circulation of blood in the proximal to the bridge portion, at the place of meeting of the anterograde blood flow with the retrograde one [28].

These processes are confirmed by intracoronary studies by Doppler investigations [27].

A particular feature, found in the current study, is the predominance of moderate and severe systolic stenosis caused by bridges in case of proximal to the bridge atherosclerotic plaques that reduced the coronary lumen more than 50%, and the number of patients with severe subpontine systolic stenosis was double compared to the group of patients without moderate and / or severe prepontine coronary atherosclerotic lesions.

The obtained results could be explained by the intracoronary pressure and the lower intracoronary resistance in case of coronary bed severely affected by atherosclerosis plaques located proximal to the bridge with the reduction of the coronary flow proximal to the bridge and increasing compressive effect of the bridge. Consequently, it could explain why myocardial bridges bring ischemic suffering in older people and not from childhood or youth. At the same time, this peculiarity would strengthen the idea of the existence of anti-compressive mechanisms at the level of arteries and myocardial bridges, which could prevent arterial systolic stenosis, but with the progression of atherosclerosis of the coronary artery the effect of these mechanisms could be annihilated. In this case, the intracoronary pressure decreases because of proximal to the bridge coronary lesions that diminish the coronary flow.

A second explanation, hypothesis, which could explain the predominance of a more pronounced degree of under the bridge arterial compression in the group of patients with moderate and severe coronary atherosclerotic lesions, would be the medication that patients with severe ischemic heart disease are taking as chronic treatment, including nitrates, which is increasing the degree of systolic arterial stenosis reducing the intracoronary pressure [19].

The above-mentioned explanations resonate with the concepts identified in the literature, as well as the idea that nitrates could accentuate the degree of systolic stenosis of the under the bridge vascular segment by reduction the intracoronary pressure [27].

Although, some authors consider that the bridge is also protecting the distal to the bridge vascular segment from atherosclerosis [28], the results of some studies denote the possibility of atherosclerotic lesion of this segment [29].In 25%-30% of cases, atherosclerosis can affect the postpontine portion of the vessel [30]. Within the present study, these kinds of lesions were detected in only one case.

Another aspect, widely discussed in the literature and analysed in this study, is the interdependence between the degree of systolic stenosis of the anterior interventricular branch and the degree of myocardial hypertrophy [30].

Thereby, it is mentioned that the myocardial bridges are more common (up to 30%) in patients with myocardial hypertrophy [31].

At the same time, in the literature were found discrepancies regarding the influence of myocardial bridges in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and the severity of clinical manifestations.

According to some studies [30], the myocardial bridges in people with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy are worsening the clinical picture and can lead to angina pectoris, ventricular tachycardia, cardiac arrest. However, according to other authors, there is no correlation between myocardial bridges, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and the severity of the clinical picture [32]. There is evidence that in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, the degree of compression is increased by the myocardial bridge [30]. The importance of this correlation could explain why in certain periods of life the myocardial bridges, which are present from birth, could cause myocardial ischemia [30].

From the total number, patients with myocardial hypertrophy and myocardial bridges were twice less, in comparison to patients with normal myocardial thickness. The results contradict the literature references that myocardial bridges are more common in people with myocardial hypertrophy, assuming that hypertrophy increases the compressive effect on the vessel of the myocardial bridge. The comparative research did not highlight any relationship between the degree of under the bridge vascular compression and the degree of left ventricular myocardial hypertrophy in the general study group, except for the category of patients with myocardial hypertrophy and systolic stenosis lower than 50%.

Thus, in patients with myocardial hypertrophy, were detected 10% more cases of vascular systolic stenosis below 50% of the vessel lumen, than in patients with the same degree of vascular compression, but without myocardial hypertrophy.

It should be noted that in the performed study there were no patients with diagnosed hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Patients from the researched group, in most cases had myocardial hypertrophy up to 15 mm, assessed by echocardiography.

This phenomenon could be explained by the fact that in case of hypertrophy below 15-20 mm, possibly, the myocardial bridge does not always have enough force to overcome the intracoronary pressure, opposed to the degree of myocardial hypertrophy encountered in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy [33].

Conclusions

1. Active systolic myocardial bridges, with potential to induce myocardial ischemia, are detected in 5.3% of patients.

2. There is no correlation between the degree of stenosis caused by the bridge and the degree of hypertrophy of the ventricular myocardium in patients without hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, as well as the degree of stenosis caused by the bridge and the degree of proximal to the bridge atherosclerotic stenosis.

3. Important finding was that the degree of coronary systolic compression is higher in patients with moderate and severe proximal to the bridge atherosclerosis.

References

- Perl L, Daniels D, Schwartz J, Tanaka S, Yeung A, Tremmel JA, et al. Myocardial bridge and acute plaque rupture. J Investig Med High Impact Case Reports. 2016;4(4):1-5. https://doi.org/10.1177/2324709616680227.
- 2. Loukas M, Curry B, Bowers M, Louis RG, Bartczak A, Kiedrowski M, et al. The relationship of myocardial bridges to coronary artery dominance in the adult human heart. J Anat. 2006;209(1):43-50. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7580.2006.00590.x.
- Lee BK, Lim HS, Fearon WF, Yong AS, Yamada R, Tanaka S, et al. Invasive evaluation of patients with angina in the absence of obstructive coronary artery disease. Circulation. 2015;131(12):1054-60. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.012636.
- 4. Takamura K, Fujimoto S, Nanjo S, Nakanishi R, Hisatake S, Namiki A, et al. Anatomical characteristics of myocardial bridge in patients with myocardial infarction by multi-detector computed tomography. Circ J. 2011;75:642-648. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.CJ-10-0679.
- Qian JY, Zhang F, Dong M, Ma JY, Ge L, Liu XB, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of myocardial bridging in coronary angiogram – data from consecutive 5525 patients. Chin Med J (Engl). 2009;122(6):632-5.
- Bauters C, Chmait A, Tricot O, Lamblin N, Van Belle E, Lablanche JM. Coronary thrombosis and myocardial bridging. Circulation. 2002;105(1):130-130. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc0102.100421.
- Sciahbasi A, Summaria F, Patrizi R, Lioy E. Cardiac arrest and myocardial bridging. Ital Heart J. 2004;5(11):869-71.
- Ki YJ. Myocardial bridging presenting as myocardial ischaemia-induced cardiac arrest: a case report. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2021;21(1):1-6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-021-01975-x.
- Yu M, Zhou L, Chen T, Yi K, Zeng C, Tan X. Myocardia ischemia associated with a myocardial bridge with no significant atherosclerotic stenosis. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2015;15:165. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12872-015-0158-2.
- Abuarqoub A, Naranjo M, Shamoon F. Myocardial bridging with left ventricular hypertrophy presenting as Wellens pattern. Ann Transl Med. 2017;5(20):401. doi: 10.21037/atm.2017.07.25.
- 11. Li J, Shang Z, Yao M, Li J, Yang Y, Chen J, et al. Angiographic prevalence of myocardial bridging in a defined very large number of Chinese patients with chest pain. Chin Med J (Engl). 2008;121(5):405-8.
- de Winter RJ, Kok WE, Piek JJ. Coronary atherosclerosis within a myocardial bridge, not a benign condition. Heart. 1998;80(1):91-3. doi: 10.1136/hrt.80.1.91.
- 13. Montone RA, Gurgoglione F, Del Buono MG, et al. The interplay between myocardial bridging and coronary spasm in patients with myocardial infarction and non-obstructive coronary arteries: pathogenic and prognostic implications. Eur Heart J. 2021;10(Suppl 1). https://doi. org/10.1093/ehjacc/zuab020.139.

- Mays AE, McHale PA, Greenfield JC. Transmural myocardial blood flow in a canine model of coronary artery bridging. Circ Res. 1981;49(3):726-32. doi: 10.1161/01.res.49.3.726.
- Wu Q, Xu Z. Surgical treatment of myocardial bridging: report of 31 cases. Chin Med J (Engl). 2007;120(19):1689-93.
- 16. Akishima-Fukasawa Y, Ishikawa Y, Mikami T, Akasaka Y, Ishii T. Settlement of stenotic site and enhancement of risk factor load for atherosclerosis in left anterior descending coronary artery by myocardial bridge. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2018;38(6):1407-14. doi: 10.1161/ ATVBAHA.118.310933.
- 17. Ishikawa Y, Ishii T, Asuwa N, Masuda S. Absence of atherosclerosis evolution in the coronary arterial segment covered by myocardial tissue in cholesterol-fed rabbits. Virchows Arch. 1997;430(2):163-71. doi: 10.1007/BF01008038.
- Chen Y-D, Wu M-H, Sheu M-H, Chang C-Y. Myocardial bridging in Taiwan: depiction by multidetector computed tomography coronary angiography. J Formos Med Assoc. 2009;108(6):469-74. doi: 10.1016/ S0929-6646(09)60094-2.
- Edwards JC, Burnsides C, Swarm RL, Lansing AI. Arteriosclerosis in the intramural and extramural portions of coronary arteries in the human heart. Circulation. 1956;13(2):235-41. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.13.2.235.
- 20. Endo M, Lee YW, Hayashi H, Wada J. Angiographic evidence of myocardial squeezing accompaning tachyarrhythmia as a possible cause of myocardial infarction. Chest. 1978;73(3):431-3. doi: 10.1378/ chest.73.3.431.
- Belov IuV, Bogopolskaia OM. Miokardial'nyi mostik vrozhdennaia anomaliia koronarnogo rusla [Myocardial bridge - congenital anomaly of coronary vasculature]. [Kardiologiia]. 2004;44(12):89-94. Russian.
- 22. Lozano I, Baz JA, López Palop R, Pinar E, Picó F, Valdés M, et al. [Long-term prognosis of patients with myocardial bridge and angiographic milking of the left anterior descending coronary artery]. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2002;55(4):359-64. Spanish. doi: 10.1016/s0300-8932(02)76615-3.
- 23. Wasilewski J, Roleder M, Niedziela J, Nowakowski A, Osadnik T, Głowacki J, et al. The role of septal perforators and "myocardial bridging effect" in atherosclerotic plaque distribution in the coronary artery disease. Polish J Radiol. 2015;80:195-201. doi: 10.12659/PJR.893227.
- 24. Duygu H, Zoghi M, Nalbantgil S, Kirilmaz B, Türk U, Ozerkan F, et al. Myocardial bridge: a bridge to atherosclerosis. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg. 2007;7(1):12-6.
- 25. Derkacz A, Nowak T, Gorawski M, Bezubka J, Szełemej R. Zakrzep w obszarze mostka mięśniowego jako przyczyna zawału serca [Thrombosis within the area of muscle bridge as a cause of myocardial infarction]. Kardiol Pol. 2011;69(3):291-2. Polish.
- 26. Yamada R, Tremmel JA, Tanaka S, Lin S, Kobayashi Y, Hollak MB, et al. Functional versus anatomic assessment of myocardial bridging by intravascular ultrasound: Impact of arterial compression on proximal atherosclerotic plaque. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016;5(4):e001735. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.114.001735.
- Bourassa MG, Butnaru A, Lespérance J, Tardif JC. Symptomatic myocardial bridges: overview of ischemic mechanisms and current diagnostic and treatment strategies. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41(3):351-9. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(02)02768-7.
- Saidi H, Ongeti WK, Ogeng'o J. Morphology of human myocardial bridges and association with coronary artery disease. Afr Health Sci. 2010;10(3):242-7.
- 29. Berry JF, von Mering GO, Schmalfuss C, Hill JA, Kerensky RA. Systolic compression of the left anterior descending coronary artery: A case series, review of the literature, and therapeutic options including stenting. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2002;56(1):58-63. doi: 10.1002/ccd.10151.
- 30. Sharzehee M, Chang Y, Song JP, Han HC. Hemodynamic effects of myocardial bridging in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol. 2019;317(6):H1282-91. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.00466.2019.

- 31. Murtaza G, Mukherjee D, Gharacholou SM, Nanjundappa A, Lavie CJ, Khan AA, et al. An updated review on myocardial bridging. Cardiovasc Revasc Med. 2020;21(9):1169-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carrev.2020.02.014.
- 32. Basso C, Thiene G, Mackey-Bojack S, Frigo AC, Corrado D, Maron BJ. Myocardial bridging, a frequent component of the hypertrophic

cardiomyopathy phenotype, lacks systematic association with sudden cardiac death. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(13):1627-34. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp121.

33. Zhai SS, Fan CM, An SY, Hang F, Yang YJ, Yan LR, et al. Clinical outcomes of myocardial bridging versus no myocardial bridging in patients with apical hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Cardiology. 2018;139(3):161-8. doi: 10.1159/000486276.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Mihail Tasnic, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7004-4402 Valeriu Revenco, MD, PhD, Professor of Cardiology – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9419-025X Ilia Catereniuc, MD, PhD, Professor of Anatomy – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5479-4198

Authors' contributions

MT conceptualized the idea, conducted literature review, wrote the manuscript, revised, and approved the final text; VR added clinical relevance; IC designed the research and revised the manuscript critically. All the authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. It was the authors' initiative. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The project was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 55 of 03.06.2016).

Conflict of Interests

No competing interests were disclosed.



DOI: https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-4.21.05 UDC: 616.98:578.834.1



The peculiarities of patients with COVID-19 infection

Andrei Ungurean, Alina Malic, Tatiana Osipov, *Evelina Lesnic

Department of Pneumophthisiology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contribution are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Evelina Lesnic, e-mail: evelina.lesnic@usmf.md Manuscript received July 30, 2021; revised manuscript November 10, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: The surge demand and decreased availability of the health workers determined the designation of the Clinical Municipal Hospital of Phthisiopneumology (CMHP) into a hospital for the case-management of COVID-19 patients during the period of December 2020 – April 2021 for the treatment of the mild cases. The aim of the study was to assess the main peculiarities of the patients with COVID-19 through a cross-sectional study developed during the period February-April 2021 in the CMHP.

Material and methods: A cross-sectional, analytical and prospective study was realized, which included 145 patients with COVID-19 hospitalized in the CMHP during February-April 2021. The inclusion criteria were: patient older 18 years, COVID-19 infection diagnosed by the pulmonologist with the positive polymerase chain reaction result for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) and signed informed consent.

Results: The peculiarities of patients with COVID-19 were dominated by the female sex, age over 60 years, residence in the urban districts of Chisinau and the infection acquired in the Republic of Moldova. Common clinical manifestations were: high temperature, profuse sweats, asthenia and headaches, productive cough, dyspnea, loss of smell or taste, and sore throat. The typical radiological findings such ground-glass pattern or consolidation with bilateral multifocal involvement were most frequent. Were cured most of the patients and the death rate was low.

Conclusions: Peculiarities and clinical manifestations of the patients admitted in CMHP were typical for the COVID-19 infection. These findings did not show the real outcome of the standard case-management of the COVID-19 due to the restricted admission criteria.

Key words: COVID-19, risk factors, management.

Cite this article

Ungurean A, Malic A, Osipov T, Lesnic E. The peculiarities of patients with COVID-19 infection. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):27-32. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-4.21.05.

Introduction

The Republic of Moldova (RM) registered 258.624 coronavirus cases, of which 6.243 died and 251.489 recovered till 26th July 2021 [1]. According to the national regulation the first contact point with the patients with suspected COVID-19 infection are the ambulance service or the primary healthcare providers. The regulation recommends that at the country border (Chisinau Airport and Moldovan border entries) the police are responsible for identifying the suspected cases through the temperature screening and completion of the epidemiological cards. If suspected for COVID-19 infection case is found, the patient is transferred through the Emergency medical service (ambulance) to one of the designated for COVID-19 hospitals, depending on the severity of the clinical manifestations. The cases known for the community transmission of the infection, are quickly redirected for the screening to the Triage Center for testing through the polymerase chain reaction for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) and the positive for COVID-19 cases are referred to the designated hospitals. The National Clinical Protocol Infection with Coronavirus the new type (COVID-19) PCN-371 was adopted on 31st March 2021 and was based on the World Health Organization (WHO)

clinical guidelines [2, 3]. Several comprehensive clinical standards were developed by the Moldovan specialists in the case-management in the Intensive Care Units, in pediatric service and at the level of the Primary Healthcare.

The physical infrastructure of the medical institutions and the redirection of the workforce capacity was continuously adapted by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova according to the evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak [4, 5]. On 4th March 2020 four hospitals in Chisinau, which integrated 512 health workforce were designated for the treatment of COVID-19 patients, among them 34 Intensive Care Unit beds and 134 beds for mild and moderate cases. Due to a surge demand and a decreased availability of the health workers the Clinical Municipal Hospital of Phthisiopneumology, which specialised in the case-manegement of tuberculosis patients, was designated as a hospital for COVID-19 patients during the period of December 2020 till April 2021 [5]. Since December 2020 the mild and moderate COVID-19 cases of Chisinau residents were hospitalized in medical subdivisions of the Clinical Municipal Hospital of Phthisiopneumology. The hospital's requirements were adapted and were procured the medical devices (ventilators, pulse oxymeters, oxygen

concentrators), medicines, laboratory tests and consumables. The medical personnel was trained. At the beginning there was a shortage of the medical devices and antiviral drugs, but these problems were solved through the public procurement and donations. Since the state of emergency for COVID-19 was declared, 49 training sessions on infection prevention and control, psychological intervention, clinical management of moderate, severe and critical cases were held with the support of the WHO in the Republic of Moldova. The medical and non-medical staff of the Clinical Municipal Hospital of Phthisiopneumology was trained before the initiation of the treatment management as well.

A wide range of researches confirmed the infection caused by the new coronavirus SARS CoV-2 (COVID-19) varies from asymptomatic or mild form, which counts two thirds of the cases of severe pneumonia associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) / acute respiratory failure with hypoxia and/or hypercapnia. A range from 16 till 35% of COVID-19 infected patients develop severe pneumonia and 2-17% of them require invasive mechanical ventilation (VMI), of which up to 15% require oxygen therapy [6-9]. In severe forms of COVID-19 the excessive inflammation leads to the onset of the massive vascular inflammation, intravascular disseminated coagulation, shock and acute respiratory distress syndrome which contributes to the death [10]. However, in majority of cases, COVID-19 infection is self-limiting with gradual spontaneous resolution [8].

The aim of this study was to assess the peculiarities of the patients with COVID-19 through a cross-sectional study developed during the period February-April 2021 in the the Clinical Municipal Hospital of Phthisiopneumology.

Material and methods

The research was cross-sectional, analytical and prospective study, which included 145 COVID-19 patients hospitalized in the Municipal Clinical Hospital of Phthisiopneumology (SCMF), Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova during February-April 2021. The inclusion criteria of the patients in the research were: age older 18 years, COVID-19 infection diagnosed by the pulmonologist, positive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) result for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19), and signed informed consent. The protocol schedule included the following data about the patient:

1. Biological and social peculiarities: sex (male-female rate), age (distribution in age groups through decades), de-mographic characteristics (urban/rural residence).

2. Economical peculiarities: economical status (employed, unemployed, retired, disabled) and health-insurance coverage (presence/lack of health insurance).

3. Characteristics with high risk: comorbidities, migration or history of returning from abroad to the Republic of Moldova within the last 2 weeks.

4. Case-management peculiarities: health care seeking behavior and addressability, methods for the detection and

medical staff involved in the case-management, comorbidities and complications.

The statistical analysis was performed using EpiInfo software. Data were appreciated as nominal or quantitative. The frequency and percentage were reported for nominal data, and the mean and standard deviations were reported for continuous data. The statistical analysis of the differences between normally distributed continuous variables was tested with the Student T-test. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

While distributing patients according to the sex it was established a higher rate of women 90 (62%) compared with 55 (38%) men with women/men rate=1.7/1. Repartition of the patients, according to the age established that the elders aged 60 years and more constituted the largest part – 89 (61%) cases. A lower rate was constitued from the patients aged between 50 and 59 years –20 (14%) cases. A similar low number of 14 (10%) patients were between 40 and 49 years ol d, between 30 and 39 years old were 12 (8%) patients and between 18 and 29 years.

While assessing the risk factors for contracting COVID-19 infection it was established that those who returned from abroad within the last 2 weeks before the sickness constituted 12 (8%) cases. Demographic distribution identified that 132 (91%) patients came from urban sectors of Chisinau and 13 (9%) patients from rural localities. No homeless or without a stable living residence were established (fig. 1).



Fig 1. Distribution of the patients according to the sex, age and residence (%)

When distributing patients according to the economic status, it was established that employed persons, which were contributing in this way to the health budget by paying taxes, health insurance policy and social taxes were only 48 (33%) cases. Disabled patients were 7 (5%). Due to the predominance of the patients older 60 years the retired statistically prevailed compared with other economical groups – 78 (54%) cases. There were 12 (8%) unemployed. Health insurance represents the major condition for accessing health care and free of charge medical procedures (radiological investigations, laboratory tests). Due to a higher rate of retired and disabled patients the health insurance coverage supported by the public authority was

established in 90 (62%) cases and was supported by the beneficiary 48 (33%) cases. The distribution of patients in economical groups established that the largest group was represented by the patients in the economical vulnerable state (unemployed, retired, disabled), which were 97 (67%) cases. Lack of the health insurance, which represents the major barrier for accessing the specialized health treatment, was identified in 12 (8%) cases. Assessing the harmful habits, it was established 18 (12%) cases of active smokers and 3 (2%) alcohol abusers. Personal medical history suggestive of allergy had 15 (10%) patients (fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Distribution of the patients according to the social and economical peculiarities (%)

The poor evolution of COVID-19 infection in comorbid patients is well recognised. Most of admitted patients, 108 (74%) had associated diseases, of which 106 (73%) had arterial hypertension, diagnosed, when blood pressure was 140/90 mmHg or higher. Grade 2 arterial hypertension was diagnosed in 84 (57%) patients and grade 3 in 12 (8%) patients. Arterial hypertension was complicated with tubulointerstitial nephritis in 16 (11%) cases and with congestive heart failure in 4 (3%) cases. In 4 patients type 2 diabetes mellitus was diagnosed. Those patients were diagnosed with arterial hypertension, as well. In 8 (6%) patients chronic respiratory disease was diagnosed mainly linked with the active smoking. Hyperthyroidism was diagnosed in 4 (3%) patients. Gastrointestinal disorders were established in 5 (3%) patients.

At the hospital admission the common symptoms such as fever was detected in 127 (87%) cases and feverish in 18 (12%) cases. The general state was moderately disturbed in all admitted cases. No severe forms, requiring the intensive care were admitted. The high temperature was associated with profuse sweats in 90 (62%) cases and tremor in 24 (16%) cases. The productive cough in 113 (78%) cases was associated with dyspnea in 86 (59%) cases, among which the 1st degree dyspnea was diagnosed in 36 (25%) cases and the 2nd degree in 50 (34%) cases. Asthenia and fatigability were confirmed in 82 (56%) cases, associated with anorexia in 6 (4%) cases and headache in 126 (87%) cases. Peripheral edema was established in 4 (3%) cases. Nausea and vomiting were identified in 12 (8%) cases associated with diarrhea in 24 (16%) cases. Arthralgia was established in 18 (12%) cases (fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Distribution of the patients according to the clinical manifestations

According to the pulse oximetry, the peripheral saturation with O_2 was between 99% and 94% in 24 (16%) cases and between 94% and 89% in 130 (88%) cases. Patients with the peripheral saturation with O_2 lower than 89% in the CMHP were not admitted. At the hospital admission the arterial tension ranged within the normal limits in 78 (54%) cases and the arterial hypertension was confirmed in 67 (46%) cases, among which the 1st class arterial hypertension was diagnosed in 31 (21%) cases, the 2nd class in 16 (11%) cases and the 3rd class in 20 (14%) cases. The respiratory rate was between 16 and 19/minute in 126 (87%) cases and between 20 and 25/minute in 19 (13%) cases. Sore throat (acute nasopharyngitis) at the onset of the disease was diagnosed in 110 (76%) cases.

Inflammatory biomarkers, blood count, liver enzymes (AST, ALT) and products of protein metabolism (urea, creatinine) in the serum were evaluated, as a compulsory laboratory investigation of COVID-19 patients. Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) in 114 (79%) cases was increased. Fibrinogen exceeded the normal threshold (4 g/L) in 132 (91%) cases. The alpha-amylase in 12 (8%) cases was increased. AST was increased in 78 (54%) cases, including 18 (12%) patients were diagnosed with severe hepatotoxicity with the value of AST exceeding 100 U/L. ALT was increased in 31 (21%) patients and in 15 (10%) patients was diagnosed severe hepatotoxicity. Creatinine was higher than the normal level in 65 (45%) patients. Assessing the leucocyte count was established leukocytosis in 62 (43%) cases. The lymphocyte count revealed increased number (lymphocytosis) in 58 (40%) patients and diminished number (lymphopenia) in 28 (19%) cases. No pathological deviations in the number of the thrombocytes and eosinophils were established (fig. 4).

The conventional radiological investigation of the chest in an anteroposterior projection revealed the groundglass pattern or consolidation with unilateral involvement



Fig. 4. Pro-inflammatory biomarkers in patients with COVID-19 (%)

in 25 (17%) cases. Bilateral multifocal involvement, seen as symmetrical localized ground-glass opacities and consolidations in lower fields were observed in 120 (83%) cases. Reticular pattern due to interstitial involvement was confirmed through the computed tomography in 12 (8%) cases. During the hospitalization the radiological findings extended in several days after the onset of the symptoms and progressed into a diffuse disease in 3 (2%) patients in which the pneumonia progressed in acute distress syndrome. Was assessed the severity of pulmonary involvement by the chest X-ray. Using a vertical line (along the spine) and the horizontal line (along the lower edge of the left main bronchus) 4 quadrants were obtained. Each quadrant was assigned with a score of 0-4 depending on the extent of consolidation or ground-glass opacities: 0 = no findings; 1 < 25%; 2 = 25%-50%; 3 = 50%-75%; 4 > 75%. In 72 (50%) cases the score was equal 1 (<25% involvement of the lung parenchyma), in 61 (42%) cases the score was equal 2 (25-50% of the lung parenchyma involved) and 12 (8%) cases the score was equal 3 (>75% of the lung parenchyma involved). Data are shown in figure 5.



Fig. 5. Distribution of the patients according to the radiological findigs

The patients were treated according to the national regulation (National Clinical Protocol 371) and the average duration of the hospitalization was 8 days. Were discharged as cured 135 (93%) patients, 3 (2%) died due to ARDS and for the mechanical ventilation in the Intensive Care Unit 7 (5%) cases were transferred.

Discussion

Similar studies performed in different countries since the declaration of the emergency state of COVID-19 outbreak established that the main peculiarities of the patients diagnosed with mild COVID-19 infection are female sex, older age and people with underlying chronic conditions, which increase the risk for severe infection [6-9]. This research established that two thirds of the investigated group constituted women, with the age older 60 years and diagnosed with associated diseases. Among the comorbidities, arterial hypertension was diagnosed in most of the investigated cases. One half of the group was identified with arterial hypertension at the admission. Several studies linked the predisposition to acquire severe COVID-19 infection in patients with arterial hypertension and a high risk for death [10]. One tenth of COVID-19 patients had infection complicated with the tubulo-interstitial nephropathy, which was recognised as an acute kidney injury associated with COVID-19 by a wide range of papers [11-14]. The World Health Organization's technical guidance and Clinical Management Guideline made an overview on COVID-19 and influenza similarities and differences according to the clinical aspects. While both diseases have multiple similar clinical presentations: a sore throat, fatigues, chills, muscle or body aches, headache, there are important clinical differences between the two viral infections [3]. According to the WHO Guideline the clinical manifestations with high specificity for the pneumonia caused by COVID-19 infection are: high fever, dry cough, shortness of breath (dyspnea) and hypoxemia [3, 6-9]. The conducted study proved that the evaluated patients were more frequently complaining of the high fever, sweats, headaches, cough, sore throat and loss of smell or taste, which were reported by the clinical papers [6-8, 11, 13-15]. According to the WHO study about 15% of COVID-19 cases are severe and about 5% of people get acute respiratory distress syndromes (ARDS) requiring the ventilation [3]. A true rate of severe COVID-19 infection-related pneumonia couldn't be established through the discribed research because of the admission criteria in the hospital. Only 7% of the admitted patients with mild COVID-19 infection developed ARDS and severe hypoxemia requiring mechanical ventilation. The obtained results were not reflecting the overall state of the COVID-19 pneumonia.

Evaluating the economical consequences it was identified that two thirds of the cases, which included the retired, unemployed and disabled patients had a vulnerable social and economic state. The proportion of the patients without health insurance was low. The health insurance provided a fair healthcare in all cases. The obtained data could not be compared with other studies, as no relevant information was found. The patients with harmful habits, such as active tobacco smoking and alcohol drinking were in a lower proportion. These findings can be attributed to the high proportion of women and elders, in which the prevalence of harmful habits is low.

The conventional radiological investigation of the chest revealed the ground-glass pattern or consolidations with bilateral multifocal involvement in most of the cases. The consensus statement endorsed by the Society of Thoracic Radiology and the American College of Radiology classified the radiological patterns of COVID-19 in typical, indeterminate and atypical appearance [16]. The patterns of the typical appearance are: peripheral bilateral ground-glass opacities with or without consolidation, multifocal ground glass with rounded morphology and signs of the organizing pneumonia. Indeterminate appearance is established for multifocal, diffuse, peripheral or unilateral ground-glass opacities, without a specific distribution. The atypical appearance is the isolated lobar or segmental consolidation without ground-glass opacities and small nodules. The radiological appearance in selected patients was typical for COVID-19 infection. A retrospective study identified that the most common laboratory findings in patients are: lymphopenia, thrombocytosis, increased prothrombin time, increased lactate dehydrogenase, mild elevated inflammatory markers (protein C reactive and erythrocyte sedimentation rate), elevated D-dimers, mildly elevated serum-amylase and elevated liver function enzymes [17]. Inflammatory biomarkers (erythrocyte sedimentation rate and fibrinogen) were elevated and showed a moderate inflammation in most of the selected COVID-19 cases. Leucocytosis and lympchocytosis were more frequently established in this research, than lymphopenia. It can be explained by the secondary bacterial infection, which develops on the background of the decreased host immunity, confirmed by other studies [18].

Conclusions

The peculiarities of patients with COVID-19 hospitalized in the clinical subdivisions of the Clinical Municipal Hospital of Phthisiopneumology during 2 months were dominated by female sex, age over 60 years, residence in Chisinau city and the infection acquired in the Republic of Moldova. Clinical manifestations were specific for COVIDinfection: high temperature, profuse sweats, asthenia, headache, cough and dyspnea, loss of smell or taste and sore throat. The radiological findings demonstrated typical appearance with ground-glass pattern or consolidations with bilateral localization. The therapeutical approach contributed to the curing of most of the patients and the death rate was low. The treatment outcome should not be generalized as a characteristic outcome for the COVID-19 infection. It could be the consequence of the limitations due to admission criteria of the patients with mild forms of the COVID-19 infection. Large-scale studies should be developed including all forms of the COVID-19 infection.

References

 Worldometer. Coronavirus: Reported cases and deaths by country or territory: Moldova [Internet]. USA: Worldometers.info; 2021 [cited 2021 Jul 26]. Available from: https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/ country/moldova/.

- Ministerul Sănătății, Muncii și Protecției Sociale al Republicii Moldova [Ministry of Health, Labor and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova]. Infecția cu Coronavirus de tip nou (COVID-19). Protocol clinic național: 371 [New type coronavirus infection (COVID-19). National clinical protocol: 371] [Internet]. 5th ed. Chisinau: The Ministry; 2021 [cited 2021 Jul 26]. Available from: https://msmps.gov.md/wp-content/ uploads/2021/04/PCN-371-Infec%C8%9Bia-cu-coronavirus-de-tipnou-COVID-19-editia-V-aprobat-prin-ordinul-MSMPS-nr.268din-31.03.2021-1-1.pdf. Romanian.
- 3. World Health Organization. Covid-19. Clinical management: living guidance [Internet]. Geneva: WHO; 2021 [cited 2021 Jun 13]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-clinical-2021-1
- 4. Ministerul Sănătății, Muncii şi Protecției Sociale al Republicii Moldova [Ministry of Health, Labor and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova]. Ordinul nr. 222 din 04.03.2020, cu privire la acordarea asistenței medicale persoanelor care întrunesc criteriile definiției de caz COVID-l9 [Order No 222 of 04.03.2020, regarding the provision of medical assistance to persons who meet the criteria of the case definition COVID-l9] [Internet]. Chisinau : The Ministry; 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 13]. Available from: https://msmps.gov.md/sites/default/files/legislatie/ file_1.pdf. Romanian.
- 5. Ministerul Sănătății, Muncii și Protecției Sociale al Republicii Moldova [Ministry of Health, Labor and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova]. Ordinul nr. 263 din 13.03.2020, cu privire la completarea Ordinului nr. 222 din 04.03.2020, cu privire la acordarea asistenței medicale persoanelor care întrunesc criteriile definiției de caz COVID-19 [Order No 263 of 13.03.2020, regarding the completion of Order No 222 of 04.03.2020, regarding the provision of medical assistance to persons who meet the criteria of the case definition COVID-19] [Internet]. Chisinau : The Ministry; 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 13]. Available from: https://msmps. gov.md/sites/default/files/legislatie/ordinul_nr._263_din_13.03.2020_ cu_privire_la_modificarea_ordinului_nr._222_din_04.03.2020.pdf. Romanian.
- Khan M, Khan H, Khan S, Nawaz M. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) cases at a screening clinic during the early outbreak period: a single-centre study. J Med Microbiol. 2020 Aug;69(8):1114-1123. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.001231.
- Dhama K, Khan S, Tiwari R, et al. Coronavirus Disease 2019-COVID-19. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2020;33(4):e00028-20. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00028-20.
- Khan S, Ali A, Shi H, et al. COVID-19: Clinical aspects and therapeutics responses. Saudi Pharm J. 2020;28(8):1004-1008. doi: 10.1016/j. jsps.2020.06.022.
- Bchetnia M, Girard C, Duchaine C, Laprise C. The outbreak of the novel severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2): a review of the current global status. J Infect Public Health. 2020 Nov;13(11):1601-1610. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2020.07.011.
- Leiva Sisnieguez CE, Espeche WG, Salazar MR. Arterial hypertension and the risk of severity and mortality of COVID-19. Eur Respir J. 2020:55(6):2001148. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01148-2020.
- 11. Chippa V, Aleem A, Anjum F. Post Acute Coronavirus (COVID-19) Syndrome. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021- [cited 2021 Jun 13]. Available from: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK570608/
- Sharma P, Ng JH, Bijol V, Jhaveri KD, Wanchoo R. Pathology of COVID-19-associated acute kidney injury. Clin Kidney J. 2021;14(Suppl 1):i30– i39. https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfab003.
- Gusev E, Sarapultsev A, Hu D, Chereshnev V. Problems of pathogenesis and pathogenetic therapy of COVID-19 from the perspective of the general theory of pathological systems (General pathological processes). Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(14):7582. doi: 10.3390/ijms22147582.
- Ng JH, Zaidan M, Jhaveri KD, Izzedine H. Acute tubulointerstitial nephritis and coronavirus. Clin Kidney J. 2021:1-7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ckj/sfab107.
- 15. Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet. 2020;395(10223):507-513. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7.
- 16. Simpson S, Kay F, Abbara S, et al. Radiological Society of North American Expert Consensus Document on Reporting Chest CT findings

related to COVID-19: endorsed by the Society of Thoracic Radiology, the American College of Radiology, and RSNA. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging. 2021;2(2):e200152. doi: 10.1148/ryct.2020200152.

- 17. Mahat RK, Panda S, Rathore V, Swain S, Yadav L, Sah SP. The dynamics of inflammatory markers in coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) patients: a systemaatic review and meta-analysis. Clin Epidemiol Glob Health. 2021;11:100727. doi: 10.1016/j.cegh.2021.100727.
- Shafran N, Shafran I, Ben-Zvi H, et al. Secondary bacterial infection in COVID-19 patients is a stronger predictor for death compared to influenza patients. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):12703. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-021-92220-0.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Andrei Ungurean, MD Resident – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7690-647X Alina Malic, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5216-6470 Tatiana Osipov, MD – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4045-0623 Evelina Lesnic, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4259-0227

Authors' contribution

AU collected the data; AM collected and analised the data, TO conducted the clinical and laboratory work; EL conceptualised the project and designed the research, reviewed the statistics and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript, revised the manuscript critically, All the authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova (No 44 of 26.05.2025).

Conflict of interests

No competing interests were disclosed.



https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.06 UDC: 616.62-006.6-089.87



Endourological treatment of non-muscular-invasive bladder tumors

Ivan Vladanov

Department of Urology and Surgical Nephrology Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Author's ORCID iD, academic degrees and contribution are available at the end of the article

Corresponding author – Ivan Vladanov, e-mail: ivan.vladanov@gmail.com Manuscript received August 27, 2021; revised manuscript November 04, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Transurethral resection of the bladder is one of the essential methods in the diagnosis, treatment and management of non-muscularinvasive bladder cancer. The purpose of the procedure is to remove completely all visually detected tumors with a following establishment of a very precise histological diagnosis. The aim of the study is to compare the results of conventional transurethral endoscopic treatment and the En-bloc resection method using different types of energy sources in the treatment of bladder tumors.

Material and methods: A total number of 88 patients underwent endourological interventions. Regarding the distribution, 23 patients had conventional transurethral resection, 22 – En-bloc monopolar resection, 21 – En-bloc bipolar resection and 22 – En-bloc with Thu:YAG laser. Clinical data, intraoperative and postoperative data and also the histopathological examination results were compared.

Results: The compared groups were heterogeneous by age, sex, tumor characteristic (size, number, location). No significant differences were observed during the operations, comparing the intraoperative and postoperative complications of the studied groups. The detrusor musculature was detected in 74% of cases after conventional transurethral resection, in 91% of cases of En-bloc monopolar resection, in 95% of cases of En-bloc bipolar resection and in 96% of cases of En-bloc Thu:YAG laser.

Conclusions: The En-bloc resection technique of non-muscular-invasive bladder tumors is a safe and effective method comparing with the conventional transurethral resection; it allows more favorable postoperative results and obtaining better quality tumor samples which allow establishing correct diagnosis of the disease.

Key words: en-bloc resection, laser, non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer.

Cite this article

Vladanov I. Endourological treatment of non-muscular-invasive bladder tumors. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):33-37. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.06.

Introduction

Worldwide bladder cancer is considered to be one of the most common cancers of the urinary tract and is the 11th most common malignancy. It is divided in two types: non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC), accounts about 75% and muscle-invasive bladder cancer (MIBC) about – 25% [1].

Transurethral resection of bladder tumor (TURBT) using white light cystoscopy (WLC) has been the essential procedure in bladder cancer diagnosis, removal, and local staging, since the first endoscopic descriptions of fulguration of papillary bladder tumors in 1910 (Beer E. 1983). The aim of TURBT is the complete resection of the total amount of papillary tumors parallel conducting biopsy of the suspicious flat lesions. For non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC), a high quality TURBT is essential in reducing tumor recurrence and its progression [2].

It must be taken into account the fact that after TURBT recurrences are often developed. Tumor understaging is another danger which should be taken into consideration. In order to overcome these limitations, the surgical strategy was optimized leading to technological improvements, including new energy sources etc. [3]. There is no doubt that the En-bloc resection (fig. 1) represents a promising surgical technique. It involves a circular incision of the mucosa at a safe distance from the lesion, followed by preparation and removal of the whole tumor, including the underlying detrusor muscle. A common opinion in the recent literature sources is that this 'no-touch' principle leads to a better specimen quality, as also to an improved surgical radicality, and a reduced recurrence rate [3].

For choosing the treatment strategies an exact pathologic staging of NMIBC is important. For achieving a good prognosis, a complete and correct resection is required [2, 4, 5]. An indicator for a higher risk of residual disease and also for early recurrence is the absence of detrusor muscle in the specimen [6]. The absence of detrusor muscle also represents a poorer surgical experience [6, 7].

The aim of the study is to compare the results of conventional transurethral endoscopic treatment and the En-bloc resection method using different types of energy sources (fig. 2) in the treatment of bladder tumors.



A. Tumor visualization



B. Marking of the resection area



C. Tumor resection



D. Assessment of the post-resection area

Fig. 1. En-bloc resection technique

Material and methods

The study was performed between February 2017 and February 2020, within the Department of Urology and Surgical Nephrology of Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, in Timofei Mosneaga Republican Clinical Hospital. 88 patients were surgically treated with bladder tumor pathology. A transversal descriptive study was performed. The patients were selected from the total amount of bladder tumor patients treated in the department by En-bloc resection using different types of energy sources and transurethral resection of the bladder tumors, according to the following criteria. The inclusion criteria: non-muscular-invasive bladder cancer, patients aging over 18 years old and the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) score 0-2. The exclusion criteria: other non-urothelial tumors, severe comorbidities, ECOG score \geq 3 and pregnancy. 88 patients were divided in four groups: 23 patients had conventional transurethral resection (TURBT), 22 – En-bloc monopolar resection, 21 – En-bloc bipolar resection and 22 – En-bloc with Thu:YAG laser resection. The obtained data were comparatively analyzed. Descriptive statistics was applied. The results of this study are demonstrated as absolute and relative values.

Results

The study was done on 88 patients treated endourologically by En-bloc resection and TURB. Intraoperative hemorrhage during the procedure was carried out endoscopic and no blood transfusion was required. These four groups had comparable clinicopathological characteristics: age, gender, tumor size, tumor grade, tumor multiplicity, postoperative complications and histological outcomes (tab. 1, 2).

By gender patients were distributed as follows, from 88 patients included in the study, 73 (83%) were men and 15

Parameters	Categories	TURBT (n=23)	En-bloc M (n=22)	En-bloc B (n=21)	En-bloc L (n=22)	Total (n=88)
Gender:	Men, n (%)	19 (83%)	18 (82%)	18 (86%)	18 (82%)	73 (83%)
	Women, n (%)	4 (17%)	4 (18%)	3 (14%)	4 (18%)	15 (17%)
Age, years	Mean age (Cl 95%)	64,8 (29-82)	65,3 (34-87)	65,6 (27-85)	66,2 (31-83)	65,5 (27-87)
Tobacco/Smoking	Yes, n (%)	12 (52%)	9 (41%)	11 (50%)	11 (50%)	43 (49%)
Tumor size:	< 3 cm, n (%)	18 (78%)	17 (77%)	14 (67%)	16 (73%)	65 (74%)
	≥ 3 cm, n (%)	5 (22%)	5 (23%)	7 (33%)	6 (27%)	23 (26%)
Number of tumors:	Single tumors, n (%)	15 (65%)	14 (64%)	14 (67%)	14 (64%)	57 (65%)
	≥ 2 tumors, n (%)	8 (35%)	8 (36%)	7 (33%)	8 (36%)	31 (35%)

Table 1. Patient and tumor demographics

Note: CI – Confidence Interval, TURBT – Transurethral resection of bladder tumor, En-bloc M – En-bloc monopolar transurethral resection of bladder tumor, En-bloc L – En-bloc Thu:YAG laser transurethral resection of bladder tumor.

Table 2. Surgical and histological outcomes

Parameters	Categories	TURBT (n=23)	En-bloc M (n=22)	En-bloc B (n=21)	En-bloc L (n=22)	Total (n=88)
	Ta, (Tis), n (%)	14 (61%)	12 (55%)	12 (57%)	14 (63%)	52 (59%)
TNM	T1, n (%)	9 (39%)	10 (45%)	9 (43%)	8 (37%)	36 (41%)
Detrusor muscle	n (%)	17 (74%)	20 (91%)	20 (95%)	21 (96%)	78 (89%)
Histopathology grade	Low-grade, n (%)	11 (47%)	10 (45%)	10 (48%)	11 (50%)	42 (48%)
	High-grade, n (%)	12 (53%)	12 (55%)	11 (52%)	11 (50%)	46 (52%)
Clavien-Dindo	CD grade I	2 (9%)	3 (14%)	2 (10%)	2 (9%)	9 (10%)
	CD grade ll	4 (17%)	4 (18%)	3 (14%)	2 (9%)	13 (15%)
Complications	ONR, n (%)	4 (17%)	3 (14%)	3 (14%)	0 (0%)	10 (11.5%)
	BP, n (%)	3 (13%)	3 (14%)	2 (10%)	1 (5%)	9 (10%)

Note: TURBT – Transurethral resection of bladder tumor, En-bloc M – En-bloc monopolar transurethral resection of bladder tumor, En-bloc B – En-bloc bipolar transurethral resection of bladder tumor, En-bloc L – En-bloc Thu:YAG laser transurethral resection of bladder tumor, Low-grade – Low-grade papillary urothelial carcinoma, High-grade – High-grade papillary urothelial carcinoma, Tis (CIS) – Carcinoma in situ, "flat tumor", Ta – Noninvasive papillary tumor, T1 – Invades subepithelial connective tissue, CD – Clavien-Dindo, ONR – Obturator nerve reflex, BP – Bladder perforation.



TURBT





En-bloc Monopolar





En-bloc Bipolar





En-bloc Laser



Fig. 2. Resection techniques using different types of energy sources

(17%) – women. The age varies between 27 to 87 years, the mean age encounted 65.5 years, majority of the patients were over 60 – 73 years (69%).

Tumor analysis (tab. 1) showed that in majority of the cases tumors were localized on lateral urinary bladder walls, single bladder tumors were detected in 65% of patients, tumor sizes up to 3 cm were detected in 74% of patients included in the research. An important risk factor for the development of bladder cancer is tobacco abuse which is detected in 49% (from 88 patients) of cases.

According to the Clavien-Dindo classification for surgical complications, only grade I and grade II complications occurred in the study groups (tab. 2). Intraoperative obturator nerve reflex occurred in 17% in the TURB group, 14% in case of En-bloc monopolar resection, 14% – En-bloc bipolar resection and did not occur in En-bloc with Thu:YAG laser. Bladder perforation, hematuria was managed by catheterization for 3-4 days. Histopathological examination showed that fragments of detrusor muscle were detected in 74% of cases after conventional transurethral resection, in 91% of cases of En-bloc monopolar resection, in 95% of cases of En-bloc bipolar resection and in 96% of cases of En-bloc Thu:YAG laser.

Discussion

Since 1997 (Kawada T.) ERBT has been available as a concept for the current-based En-bloc resection. A lot of publications of the last years suggest that transurethral En-bloc resection can potentially change the approach to endoscopic manipulations in the removal, diagnosis, and assessment of NMIBC [8, 9].

Recently an alternative to the standard monopolar TURBT is the bipolar, or plasmakinetic TURBT. There is a couple of advantages comparing them both – the bipolar resection allows the use of isotonic irrigation fluids for decreasing the risk of TUR syndrome. This improves potentially the safety profile comparing with monopolar energy [10]. A lot of studies compared bipolar with monopolar TURBT. It was found that bladder injury decreases and is associated with obturator nerve reflex [11, 12] as also an improved detrusor sampling was observed [13]. The advantages of bipolar resection are limited to safety of the surgical procedure and not to clinical outcomes, the reason is that most of the studies did not find significant effects of bipolar resection on recurrence rates [11, 14].

Pathological interpretation of TURBT samples is a wellknown challenge, because the resected tumor fragments are the source for cautery damage, crush artifacts, tangential sections, and lack of spatial orientation which is caused by a random embedding of bladder tissue [15]. En-bloc resection technique improves the pathological assessment due to better preserving tumor architecture and orientation. En-bloc resection can be performed using standard electrocautery, lasers, or water jet combined with monopolar energy [16].

Laser-based En-bloc resection ensures not only a better

preservation of tissue orientation, but also reduces surgical morbidity. The reason therefore is the decreasing of bladder perforation through obturator nerve reflex and postoperative bladder irritation [17].

The En-bloc resection has not only the important advantage of conserving the presence of detrusor muscle within specimens, but it also improves the detection of muscularis mucosae or other muscular layers in ERBT specimens. As a consequence these facilitate an accurate T1 substaging. A retrospective comparison between Enbloc resection with the use of green KTP laser and standard monopolar TURB in T1 bladder tumors is reported by Liang et al. [18]. As the primary endpoint the detection of muscularis mucosae in the specimen was regarded. So better outcomes with the En-bloc laser technique (30.7% for En-bloc resection with monopolar electrode versus 11.4% for TURBT) were demonstrated. They also found due to their multivariate logistic regression analysis that the KTP laser resection method is characterized by the presence of muscularis mucosae in specimens. The fact that En-bloc resection leads to a better quality of specimens reveals a more convenient clinical application due to its prognostic possibilities of several pathologic parameters including T1 substaging.

Cheng et al. showed that in spite of the positive surgical margin rate which serves as another indicator of resection quality [19], no significant difference in the positive surgical margin rates between En-bloc resection (98.9%) and TURBT (94.8%) could be demonstrated.

Complications of grades I and II according to Clavien-Dindo complication classification were registered in both groups (tab. 2). The following complications were observed: hematuria of different intensity, obturator nerve reflex, urinary tract infection, bladder perforation and urinary retention which was managed successfully with a standard approach.

The aim of En-bloc resection is not only to improve the resection quality, but also to reach three other goals: to decrease the recurrence rate, to reduce the perioperative complication rates and to decrease the number of repeated resections [15].

Conclusions

The En-bloc resection technique of non-muscularinvasive bladder tumors is a safe and effective method comparing with the conventional transurethral resection. It allows the achievement of more favorable postoperative results and the obtaining of better quality tumor samples. All mentioned above leads finally to the establishment of correct diagnosis of the disease.

References

- 1. Woldu SL, Bagrodia A, Lotan Y. Guideline of guidelines: non-muscleinvasive bladder cancer. BJU Int 2017;119(3):371-80. doi: 10.1111/ bju.13760.
- 2. Babjuk M, Bohle A, Burger M, Capoun O, Cohen D, Comperat EM, et al. EAU Guidelines on non-muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma of
the bladder: Update 2016. Eur Urol. 2017;71(3):447-61. doi: 10.1016/j. eururo.2016.05.041.

- Schraml J, Silva JDC, Babjuk M. Current concept of transurethral resection of bladder cancer: from re-transurethral resection of bladder cancer to en-bloc resection. Curr Opin Urol. 2018;28(6):591-597. doi: 10.1097/ MOU.00000000000542.
- 4. Burger M, Catto JW, Dalbagni G, et al. Epidemiology and risk factors of urothelial bladder cancer. Eur Urol. 2013;63(2):234-241. doi: 10.1016/j. eururo.2012.07.033.
- 5. Alfred Witjes J, Lebret T, Comperat EM, et al. Updated 2016 EAU Guidelines on muscle-invasive and metastatic bladder cancer. Eur Urol. 2017;71(3):462-475. . doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2016.06.020.
- Mariappan P, Zachou A, Grigor KM. Detrusor muscle in the first, apparently complete transurethral resection of bladder tumour specimen is a surrogate marker of resection quality, predicts risk of early recurrence, and is dependent on operator experience. Eur Urol. 2010;57(5):843-849. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2009.05.047.
- O'Brien T, Ray E, Chatterton K, et al. Prospective randomized trial of hexylaminolevulinate photodynamic-assisted transurethral resection of bladder tumour (TURBT) plus single-shot intravesical mitomycin C vs conventional white-light TURBT plus mitomycin C in newly presenting non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. BJU Int. 2013;112(8):1096-1104. doi: 10.1111/bju.12355.
- Karl A, Herrmann TR. En-bloc resection of urothelial cancer within the urinary bladder: the upcoming gold standard? World J Urol. 2015;33(4):581-582. doi: 10.1007/s00345-015-1498-3.
- 9. Kramer MW, Wolters M, Herrmann TR. En-bloc resection of bladder tumors: ready for prime time? Eur Urol. 2016;69(5):967-8. doi: 10.1016/j. eururo.2016.01.004.
- Zainfeld D, Daneshmand S. Transurethral resection of bladder tumors: Improving quality through new techniques and technologies. Curr Urol Rep. 2017;18(5):34. doi: 10.1007/s11934-017-0680-0.
- 11. Xishuang S, Deyong Y, Xiangyu C, Tao J, Quanlin L, Hongwei G, et al. Comparing the safety and efficiency of conventional monopolar,

plasmakinetic, and holmium laser transurethral resection of primary non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. J Endourol. 2010;24(1):69-73. doi: 10.1089/end.2009.0171.

- 12. Bolat D, Gunlusoy B, Degirmenci T, Ceylan Y, Polat S, Aydin E, et al. Comparing the short-term outcomes and complications of monopolar and bipolar transurethral resection of non-muscle-invasive bladder cancers: a prospective, randomized, controlled study. Arch Esp Urol. 2016;69(5):225-33.
- 13. Teoh JY, Chan ES, Yip SY, Tam HM, Chiu PK, Yee CH, et al. Comparison of detrusor muscle sampling rate in monopolar and bipolar transurethral resection of bladder tumor: a randomized trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(5):1428-34. doi: 10.1245/s10434-016-5700-7.
- Cui Y, Chen H, Liu L, Chen J, Qi L, Zu X. Comparing the efficiency and safety of bipolar and monopolar transurethral resection for nonmuscle-invasive bladder tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2016;26(3):196-202. doi: 10.1089/ lap.2015.0507.
- Herrmann TR, Wolters M, Kramer MW. Transurethral en-bloc resection of non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: trend or hype. Curr Opin Urol. 2017;27(2):182-90. doi: 10.1097/MOU.00000000000377.
- 16. Nagele U, Kugler M, Nicklas A, Merseburger AS, Walcher U, Mikuz G, et al. Water jet hydrodissection: First experiences and short-term outcomes of a novel approach to bladder tumor resection. World J Urol. 2011;29(4):423-7. doi: 10.1007/s00345-011-0653-8.
- D'Souza N, Verma A. Holmium laser transurethral resection of bladder tumor: our experience. Urol Ann. 2016;8(4):439-43. doi: 10.4103/0974-7796.190815.
- Liang H, Yang T, Wu K, et al. En-bloc resection improves the identification of muscularis mucosae in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. World J Urol. 2019;37(12):2677-2682. doi: 10.1007/s00345-019-02672-3.
- Cheng YY, Sun Y, Li J, et al. Transurethral endoscopic submucosal en-bloc dissection for non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a comparison study of Hybrid Knife-assisted versus conventional dissection technique. J Cancer Res Ther. 2018;14(7):1606-1612. doi: 10.4103/jcrt.JCRT_786_17.

Author's ORCID iD and academic degrees

Ivan Vladanov, MD, PhD Applicant - https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9703-2775

Author's contribution

IV conceptualized the idea, conducted literature review, wrote the manuscript, revised and finalized the text.

Funding

The study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The author is independent and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The research was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 4 of December 16, 2019).

37

Conflict of Interest

The author has no conflict of interests to declare.

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.07 UDC: 616-001.21-08



Treatment approaches of electrical injuries

Anatolie Taran

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Author's ORCID iD, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

Corresponding author – Anatolie Taran, e-mail: anatol_taran@yahoo.com Manuscript received October 15, 2021; revised manuscript November 09, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: The purpose of this study was to explore the differences in prehospital care, admission characteristics, burn intensive care, surgery and outcomes in patients requiring admission to a burn intensive care unit.

Material and methods: The study was conducted on a group of 31 patients, who were hospitalized within the Clinical Hospital of Orthopedics and Traumatology in the period 2015-2019. The data analysis was carried out on the applied method of surgical treatment, the associated postoperative complications, antibiotic therapy applied, etc.

Results: 27 out of the total number of patients underwent necrectomy and extensive wound debridement surgery in the first hours upon admission. 14 patients required additional decompression incisions in the underlying skin and fascia. 4 patients out of the total number presented visible signs of carbonization on the affected areas upon admission, therefore they were subjected to an emergency amputation. Out of 27 patients classified as "delayed emergency" cases, 13 patients were subjected to amputation of the corresponding segments.

Conclusions: Electrical injuries are a severe cause of disability, as well as a challenging issue for reconstructive surgery, which is concerned with restoring the damaged structures with prosthetic amputation abutments, therefore improving the aesthetic and psychological appearance of the patients. Key words: electrical injury, electric shock, reconstructive surgery, high and low voltage burn injuries.

Cite this article

Taran A. Treatment approaches of electrical injuries. Mold Med J. 2021;64(5):38-41. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.07.

Introduction

Electrical injuries are classified as extremely serious injuries, commonly resulting in a poor life and poor functional prognosis, which can only be improved by complex general and local treatment, tailored to the individual characteristics of each case while considering the extreme urgency [1]. The prognosis of electrical burns depends on various factors:

– Burn surface area;

- Degree of the burn;

- Age;

- Possible complications of the burn;

- Patient's health before the accident;

Occurrence of concomitant injuries (particularly, lung injuries);

- Early treatment and quality of treatment [2].

The only factor that can be corrected from the aforementioned ones is the "early and quality treatment" for the patient with an electric burn being admitted to a medical facility, thus the present issue requires an in-depth research approach.

The electric burn treatment should start immediately after it occurred and continue during the recovery period [2]. Any electric burn is an immediate surgical emergency, hence the surgical treatment will be carried out together with other drug therapies, which will significantly increase the chances of a quality recovery [2].

Successful treatment is based on a detailed clinical examination, which is actually a real strategy in this case, requiring knowledge on the multiple peculiarities of this type of lesion [3]. During the clinical examination, special attention is focused on the following areas:

- Electric entry mark and electric exit mark;

- Injuries caused by the electric path;

– Thermal burns caused by electric flames or ignition of clothing [3].

Following a complete initial assessment of the affected lesions, emergency treatment will be initiated. Local treatment involves a surgical intervention which is a critical component in the acute phase of electrical shock [4]. Emergency surgery is aimed at removing dead tissues and cleaning the associated burn injuries, on the one hand, as well as clearing the blood flow by preventing or combating the development of acute peripheral ischemia syndrome, on the other hand [1].

Necrectomy and extensive wound debridement are the primary goal of local treatment. Basically, the extended pressure sore excision and deep cleansing of devitalized tissues might eliminate the main source of toxic substances (myoglobin, denatured proteins, cellular metabolites), as well as all the sepsis-causing bacteria [1]. Although a conservative treatment is commonly applied, in cases when sepsis can be life-threatening, the amputation will be performed as quickly as possible. Direct trauma in electrical injuries causes gradual ischemia, forming thrombi in the small artery or arteriole, constriction of blood vessels slowing blood flow and causing tissue necrosis, being a decision factor for amputation. To protect viable tissue in the initial stage of treatment is fasciotomy decompression of the involved compartment. The next step is to approach the methods of reconstruction from simple to compound by using skin grafts, already regional or free flaps need to be used in severe lesions (local flaps, removed flaps and free flaps). The local treatment should be combined with general resuscitation treatment aiming to implementing therapeutic shock recovery and rebalancing the hemo-hydro-electrolytic levels, on the one hand, as well as preventing or managing complications, on the other hand [5, 6].

In this context, the present research paper aims to highlight the peculiarities of the clinical evolution of the patients after electrical injuries depending on the surgical strategies used.

Material and methods

The study group involved 31 patients admitted to hospital in the period 2015-2019 at the Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopaedics.

The main study inclusion criterion was the electrical injury.

The characteristics determined for each patient comprised:

- Age;
- Gender distribution;
- The surgical approach applied;
- Antibiotic therapy;
- Length of hospital stay;
- Associated complications.

Results

By gender distribution, the groups were divided as follows: 21 cases (67.74%) – men and 10 cases (32.25%) – women (fig. 1). Of the total number of 31 cases: 4 cases (12.9%) – B third-burn degree, 7 cases (22.58%) – AB third-burn degree and 20 cases (64.51%) – fourth-burn degree (fig. 2).

The distribution of hospitalized patients by age groups was as follows: 21-45 years – 11 (35.48%) patients, 46-60 years – 17 (54.83%) patients, over 60 years – 3 (9.67%) patients (fig. 3).

Upon the first hours after hospitalization, 27 patients (87.09%) out of 31 underwent necrectomy and extensive wound debridement. In the other 4 cases (12.9%) radical intervention was performed by emergency amputation (fig.

4). Out of 4 patients who were amputated upon the first hours of hospitalization, the lower limb was amputated in 3 cases and the upper limb was amputated in only one case.

Of the 27 patients who underwent necrectomy and surgical wound debridement upon the first hours of hospitalization, 8 patients lost their sensory function and pulse in the distal part of the limb during the following hours, whereas the other 6 patients had an increased limb circumference due to massive edema. Thus, 14 out of 27 cases required additional decompression incisions in the underlying skin and fascia.

Finally, of the 27 patients categorized as delayed emergency cases, a decision on segment amputation was made in 13 cases.



Fig. 1. Gender distribution of patients



Fig. 2. Distribution of patients by burn degree



Fig. 3. Distribution of patients by age groups



performed upon the first hours of admission

Out of 13 patients who managed to save the limb affected by the electric shock, a deficiency of optimal wound coverage was reported in 9 cases, therefore epithelization was stimulated via skin and flap autografts.

The average length of hospital stay was 33.7 days.

As regarding the antibiotic therapy, two or more associated antibiotics were administered in all 31 cases. The primary purpose was the administration of cephalosporins combined with fluoroquinolones (levofloxacin) or betalactam penicillin group (amoxicillin). To cover the group of anaerobic bacteria, Metronidazole was administered in all cases.

Complications associated with electrical injuries were grouped into the following categories: acute renal failure – 5 cases; atrial fibrillation – 3 cases; atrioventricular block – 2 cases; pneumonia – 2 cases.

Discussion

Treatment of electrical injuries is difficult, complex and should be tailored according to the particularities of the patient. The effectiveness of early decompression incisions, necrectomies and surgical debridement has been proven, thus ensuring the removal of necrotic detritus, relieving skin tension, improving blood flow, including peripheral blood circulation and eliminating edema. However, the procedures were not adequate for all cases, thus requiring additional decompression incisions. For this reason, it was concluded that a longer time of vascular compromise might lead to greater incidence of deep subfascial edema, similar to crush syndrome. Along with decompression incisions, deep exploration incisions are also important for assessing the condition of neurovascular elements, bones and muscles.

Regardless of the voltage that caused the electric burn (low or high), patients should be treated in the same way as for high voltage injuries as they may manifest as loss of consciousness, compartment syndrome, myoglobinuria and hemoglobinuria [7].

In 4 cases, when emergency amputation was performed, the patients showed signs of limb carbonization even upon

admission to medical institution, therefore, appropriate interventions were performed to avoid life-threatening risks. The "delayed emergency" cases resulted in amputations due to the patient's unfavorable clinical development, as well as being associated with septic complications and progression to wet gangrene of the corresponding limb.

Electrical injuries are the result of preventable accidents. The transformation of electricity into thermal energy through the direct effect in association with blunt mechanical trauma can lead to tissue destruction and organ dysfunction, thus requiring trauma management and thorough clinical management, which will establish the stages of surgical treatment in several stages (fasciotomy, skin graft, long-term supportive care) [8].

The optimal wound coverage is another key point in the treatment of electrical injuries, since it should be performed as early as possible to prevent superinfection of the wound accompanied by secondary necrosis.

Conclusions

1. Electrical injuries are serious emergencies that can lead to patient's death unless proper medical or surgical management is provided.

2. The patient suffering from an electric shock should be treated comprehensively and by a multidisciplinary team, in order to prevent life-threatening conditions due to both direct consequences of electrical injury and commonly associated general complications.

3. The surgical intervention is the treatment of choice, however if patients present all the indications for segment amputation, it should be inevitably performed so as not to endanger the patient's life.

4. Treatment of a patient with electrical injury continues despite the correction of the underlying problem. It continues during the rehabilitation period and involves numerous reconstructive operations aimed at restoring the damaged structures and prosthesis of amputation abutments, as well as improving the aesthetic appearance.

References

- 1. Isac F, Brezeanu C. Leziunile prin curent electric [Injuries by electric current]. In: Angelescu N, editor. Tratat de patologie chirurgicala [Treatise on surgical pathology]. Bucharest: Editura Medicala; 2001. p. 704-710. Romanian.
- Brătucu E, editor. Manual de chirurgie pentru studenți [Surgery manual for students]. Bucharest: Editura Universitară "Carol Davila", 2009. Romanian.
- 3. Mugea TT. Agresiuni termoenergetice [Thermoenergetic lesions]. Oradea: Editura Universității din Oradea; 2002. p. 225-289; p. 336-352. Romanian.
- 4. Isac F, Isac A, Bratu T, Tache M, Draghici I. Arsurile [Burns]. Timișoara: Dinamis Print; 1994. p. 142-145. Romanian.
- Dechent D, Emonds T, Stunder D, Schmiedchen K, Kraus T, Driessen S. Direct current electrical injuries: a systematic review of case reports and case series. Burns. 2020;46(2):267-278. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2018.11.020.
- 6. Kym D, Seo DK, Hur GY, Lee JW. Epidemiology of electrical injury: differences between low- and high-voltage electrical injuries during a

7-year study period in South Korea. Scand J Surg. 2015;104(2):108-114. doi: 10.1177/1457496914534209.

- Yastı AÇ, Şenel E, Saydam M, Özok G, Çoruh A, Yorgancı K. Guideline and treatment algorithm for burn injuries. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg. 2015;21(2):79-89. doi: 10.5505/tjtes.2015.88261.
- 8. Pinto DS, Clardy PF, Moreira ME. Environmental and weapon-related electrical injuries. UpToDate [Internet]. 2016. [cited 2021 May 30]. Available from: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/environmental-and-weapon-related-electrical-injuries

Author's ORCID iD and academic degrees

Anatolie Taran, MD, PhD, Professor - https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8778-0200

Author's contributions

AT conceptualized the project, designed the research, interpreted the data and wrote the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The trial was the author's initiative. The author is independent and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The research project was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (Protocol No 2 of 23.10.2017).

Conflict of Interests

No competing interests were disclosed.



DOI: https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.08 UDC: 618.14-007.66:614.21(478)



The incidence of uterine abnormalities

*1Constantin Toncoglaz, 1Serghei Toncoglaz, 2Alina Toncoglaz

¹Departament of Anatomy and Clinical Anatomy, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Constantin Toncoglaz, e-mail: toncoglazconstantin@yahoo.com Manuscript received October 15, 2021; revised manuscript November 15, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Congenital uterine abnormalities result from abnormal formation, fusion or resorption of the Mullerian ducts during fetal life. These abnormalities have been associated with an increased rate of miscarriage, preterm birth, and other fetal adverse outcomes.

Material and methods: Was performed a clinical observational retrospective study of uterine malformations, diagnosed in the Republic of Moldova. Pelvic MRI (1.5-3 tesla) with contrast and without were examined, from 01.01.2016 to 20.11.2016. During this time, 190 MRIs were performed according to the program, 167 MRIs were included in the study, 23 MRIs were excluded, having total or partial hysterectomy performed. The age of the examined persons is between 81 years and 6 months.

Results: 15 uterine malformations were detected, which represent 11.13%. Among the uterine abnormalities were detected 6 cases of bicorn uterus, 3 cases of didelph uterus, 2 cases of uterine agenesis and septate uterus and one case of arcuate uterus, and unicorn.

Conclusions: In this study it was determined that the prevalence of uterine malformations in an unselected population in the Republic of Moldova is 11.13%, and that of the septate uterus is 1.2%, data that are similar and correspond to the international literature.

Key words: septate uterus, uterine malformation, Mullerian duct.

Cite this article

Toncoglaz C, Toncoglaz S, Toncoglaz A. The incidence of uterine abnormalities. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):42-46. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.08.

Introduction

The uterus is responsible for many of the most crucial steps in the process of reproduction. Sperm migration, embryo implantation, fetal nourishment, development and growth, and finally, the process of labor and birth are all reliant on the existence of a structurally normal and functionally competent uterus [1]. Malformations of female genital organs account for 4% of all congenital malformations. They are detected in 3.2% of women of reproductive age [2]. Malformations of the genitourinary system occupy the 4th place (9.7%) in the structure of all developmental anomalies of modern humans [3]. Congenital uterine abnormalities are a heterogeneous group of uterine configurations that may adversely affect reproductive potential. Although subtle variations can occur, the more common abnormalities fall into two broad categories of unilateral development or failure of midline fusion. These abnormalities have been well described for over a century although the mechanisms of their unfavorable impact on fertility and clinical management have not been systematically studied. Although exact aetiologies remain unclear, the association of congenital uterine abnormalities and anatomical abnormalities in other systems of mesodermal origin suggest a possible shared cause. The proposed explanations for these organizational defects have ranged from teratogenic injury to heredity. Neither has been conclusively proven [4]. Theoretically, teratogenic interference by any agent during the developmental period of 6-10 weeks of gestation could influence any of the mesodermal systems, although convincing evidence for a well-defined teratogen is lacking. Uterine abnormalities may be familiar and be associated with defects in other mesodermal-derived systems and may be part of a more complex genetic syndrome [5]. These systems include renal, alimentary, cardiac, skeletal and auditory abnormalities. Although none have been identified, this genetic hypothesis has appeal in providing an explanation to the multiple system abnormalities across several mesodermal derivatives. The appearance of these abnormalities within several families has given credibility to a genetic basis although no specific gene defect has been identified. The exact etiologies remain undefined despite attractive hypotheses. In 1962, Pendleton Tompkins suggested that these abnormalities be viewed on a spectrum from clearly normal to clearly abnormal [6]. He suggested that the case for or against intervention rested on subtle distinctions. No debate can be mustered, for example, when there is no question that a cavity is at either end of the normal-abnormal spectrum. However, debate exists over the management of the configurations in between. Subjective standards continue to be used to differentiate normal from abnormal: what may be septate to one examiner may be arcuate to another. To address the need for standardization and provide a basis for reliable, one-to-one comparison of outcomes, several classification schemes have been proposed since Jarcho J. suggested one of the more specific systems in 1946 [7, 8]. These classifications are intended to provide a means of assessing the likely impact of a specific abnormality on reproductive outcome and the basis for deciding when and which intervention would improve outcome. Variable definitions have evolved from broadly based and nearly useless terms such as 'double uterus' or 'duplicated uterus' to more precise definitions included in the various classification schemes. For purposes of this communication, the term 'unicornuate uterus' refers to unilateral uterine development with unilateral tube and ovary. There may be an associated uterine remnant (or rudimentary horn) with variable tubal and ovarian development and location. The term 'septate uterus' refers to a division of the uterine cavity by a midline septum that variably penetrates the cavity from one to two centimeters, resulting in partial division to the entire length of the cavity or resulting in complete division and two separate cavities. The external serosal surface of the septate uterus is normal in configuration [9]. The term 'bicornuate uterus' refers to division of the uterine cavity into two separate cavities and an associated cleft in the midline fundus, resulting in two anatomically distinct structures. There are two terms used in this setting: 'bicornuate bicollis', in which the two cavities are separate divided external uterine structures that persist throughout and are associated with two cervices with a possible longitudinal vaginal septum, and 'bicornuate unicollis', which refers to a divided uterus with one cervix and persistence of the internal division through the entire cavity up to the endocervical canal (complete) or through only part of the cavity (partial). A longitudinal vaginal septum may be associated with these abnormalities and depending on clinical scenario intervention may be required, but the first attempt to classify female congenital anomalies goes back to the beginning of the 20th century; Strassmann described septate and bicornuate uterus and some subgroups of the disorders in 1907 [10]. However, the first classification system for categorization of congenital uterine malformations was that of the American Fertility Society (AFS) published in 1988, mostly based on the previous work of Buttram V.C. and Gibbons W.F. [8, 11]. Almost 15 years later, Acien P. et al. [4] proposed another option for the classification of congenital female malformations using the embryological origin as the basis of the system. A newer version of this classification has been published recently [12]. Furthermore, Oppelt P. et al. [13] published a very detailed classification system based on the Tumor Nodes Metastases (TNM) principle in oncology and known as vagina, cervix, uterus, adnexae and associated malformations (VCUAM) classification system. It is also interesting that, apart from these alternatives for the classification of the female genital malformations in general, some other subdivisions for certain categories of anomalies have been published. AFS classification received wide acceptance and it is still the most broadly used system [14].



Fig. 1. Main groups of uterine anomalies.

A – Unicornuate uterus with rudimentary horn, B – Didelphic uterus, C – Complete bicornuate uterus, D – Partial bicornuate uterus, E – Arcuate uterus, F – Septate uterus, G – Subseptate uterus. Uterine agenesis and diethylstilbestrol – related T-shaped uterus are not presented [15].

Septate uterus is one of a variation of uterine abnormalities that have as their commonality a failure of midline fusion. The incidence is 5-35% in the infertile population (excluding the milder and normal variant of arcuate uterus). The identification of a septate uterus as contributing to poor reproductive outcome dates to the turn of the 20th century, with various practitioners identifying uterine duplication as contributing to first-trimester pregnancy loss. According to the recent ESHRE-ESGE classification, a septate uterus is defined as a congenital uterine anomaly with an abnormal resorption of the midline septum, a normal outline of the uterus and an internal indentation at the fundal midline exceeding 50% of the uterine wall thickness, regardless of the size of the septum [16]. Women with a septate uterus are at increased risk of miscarriage, preterm delivery, and fetal malpresentation and have lower clinical pregnancy rates [17]. In women with a septate uterus, resection of the septum is performed as standard worldwide. Observational studies suggest that surgery improves reproductive outcome in women with a septate uterus, but this has yet to be substantiated by randomised controlled trials that are currently underway [18, 19]. The rationale behind septum resection assumes that the septum is composed of an entirely different structure than the normal uterine wall [20, 21]. Therefore, implantation in the septum would hypothetically lead to poorer reproductive outcome in comparison to embryos that implanted in the lateral uterine wall. The foundation for this theory is meagre as knowledge about the pathophysiology of the intrauterine septum and its possible relation to impaired reproductive outcomes in women with a septate uterus is limited [22].

The unicornuate uterus is unique among Müllerian abnormalities in that the influence for abnormal development is unilateral (fig. 1) [12, 17]. The unicornuate uterus is the rarest of the uterine abnormalities accounting for 0.3–4% of the uterine abnormalities. This broad range is due to the varying clinical presentations and symptoms leading to evaluation. Asymptomatic patients are frequently undetected. One series of asymptomatic patients studied hysteroscopically for nonreproductive loss describes an incidence of 0.3%. The incidence increases to 3.5–4% with increasingly significant history. The unicornuate uterus and rudimentary uterine horn are frequently detected as part of an evaluation for infertility and repeated pregnancy loss or the assessment of chronic and recurrent pelvic pain when an obstructive uterine horn is present [23].

Rudimentary uterine horn. The presence of a rudimentary uterine horn does not influence pregnancy outcome when the pregnancy is in the unaffected hemiunicornuate uterus [24]. Management of the uterine horn depends on the presence or absence of functioning endometrium within the horn [25]. Conventional teaching held that a rudimentary horn regardless of functionality should be removed because of an adverse influence on pregnancy outcomes when the pregnancy occurred in the normal hemiuterus. Contemporary management is more selective and based on better, outcome-related data. Excision of the uterine horn without a functioning endometrium attached to the unicornuate uterus merely to enhance obstetric outcomes is not warranted. When no functioning endometrium is demonstrated, no intervention is warranted. When functioning endometrium is present, excision should be considered particularly if there is a haematometra. The uterine horn may end bluntly or taper and end in an atretic cervical stump without a functional endocervical canal. These obstructions may also be part of a more complex and broader spectrum of anatomical changes [26].

Bicornuate uterus. A word-regarding nomenclature describing this configuration is warranted. There are three variations in this configuration and include one or two cervices (bicornuate unicollis and bicornuate bicollis, respectively) and a variable degree of cavity division (partial or complete) associated with the external configuration of two distinct structures. The term 'didelphys' is sometimes used as a generic term and refers literally to two horns. Precise nomenclature regarding this classification of uterine malformations should include a designation regarding the status of the cervix [27]. The degree of failed unification can be quite variable when there is partial fusion of the uterine horns and persistence of a cleft or division along the external contour of the uterus (bicornuate, or literally two horns). This separation may be restricted to the uterus with a single cervix (bicornuate unicollis) or extend throughout the uterus, cervix and vagina (bicornuate bicollis). These distinctions are recognized in most classification schemes and are subtle but important. The incidence of bicornuate uterine abnormalities in all categories ranges from 5 to 30%, depending on history, intensity of evaluation and imaging technique used [28].

Material and methods

Was performed a clinical observational retrospective study of uterine malformations, diagnosed in the Republic of Moldova. The examination center was selected based on high access to medical data at a German Medical Center in Chisinau. Inclusion mandatory criterion was feminine gender; exclusion criterion was a person with surgical intervention on pelvic floor. Medical data of all patients with pelvic MRI (1.5-3 tesla) with contrast and without were retrospectively reviewed, from 01.01.2016 to 20.12.2016. The MRI is also associated with a high sensitivity and specificity. During this time, 190 MRIs were performed according to the program, 167 MRIs were included in the study, 23 MRIs were excluded, having total or partial hysterectomy performed. Data were collected from the Clinic of internal health informational system. The incidence of uterine malformations per 100000 of population was calculated, population data were extracted from the national bureau of statistics (the Republic of Moldova). In 2016 the national statistic bureau registered 1465175 females.

Results

The age of the examined persons in this study varies between 6 months and 81 years, with a median age of 32 years. From total of 167 investigated people 15 uterine malformations were detected, which represent 11.13%. Among the uterine abnormalities were detected 2 cases of septate uterus and uterine agenesis, 6 cases of bicorn uterus, 3 cases of didelph uterus and one case of arcuate uterus, and unicorn.

The incidence of uterine malformations is 1.02 cases per 100000 population. Among disaggregated data of uterine malformations, the highest incidence was bicorn uterus with an incidence of 0.41 cases per 100000 of population. The lowest incidence was calculated for arcuate and unicorn uterus with an incidence of 0.07 cases per 100000 of population (tab. 1, fig. 2-8).

Table 1. In	icidence of	uterine ma	lformatior
-------------	-------------	------------	------------

Uterine malformations	% from total studied popula- tion	Absolute	Incidence per 100000 population
Arcuate uterus	0.60	1	0.07
Unicorn uterus	0.60	1	0.07
Septate uterus	1.20	2	0.14
Uterine agenesis	1.20	2	0.14
Didelph uterus	1.80	3	0.20
Bicorn uterus	3.59	6	0.41



Fig. 2. Septate uterus (patient 29 years)



Fig. 4. Didelph uterus (patient 38 years)



Fig. 6. Bicorn uterus (patient 25 years)



Fig. 8. Proportion of uterine malformations distributed by type

(45



Fig. 3. Arcuate uterus (patient 32 years)



Fig. 5. Uterine agenesis (patient 1 year)



Fig. 7. Unicorn uterus (patient 42 years)

Conclusions

The incidence of septate uterus is 0.14 cases per 100 thousand of population comparing with the cumulative incidence of 1.02 cases per 100 thousand of population of uterine malformations in the Republic of Moldova. It was determined that the proportion of uterine malformations in an unselected population in the Republic of Moldova is 11.13%, and that of the septate uterus is 1.2% from total investigated persons, data that are similar and correspond to the international literature. MRI seems to be a very useful diagnostic tool because it can provide detailed information about the anatomical condition of the female genital tract.

References

- Hassan MA, Lavery SA, Trew GH. Congenital uterine anomalies and their impact on fertility. Women's Health. 2010;6(3):443-461. doi: 10.2217/whe.10.19. PMID: 20426609.
- Mazouni C, Girard G, Deter R, Haumonte JB, Blanc B, Bretelle F. Diagnosis of Mullerian anomalies in adults: evaluation of practice. Fertil Steril. 2008;89(1):219-222. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.02.044.
- Fenton AN, Singh BP: Pregnancy associated with congenital abnormalities of the female reproductive tract. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1952;63(4):744-755. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9378(16)38854-8.
- 4. Acien P, Acien M, Sanchez-Ferrer M. Complex malformations of the female genital tract, new types and revision of classifications. Hum Reprod. 2004;19(1):2377-2384. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh423.
- Reddy J, Laufer MR. Congenital anomalies of the female reproductive tract in a patient with Goltz syndrome. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2009;22(4):e71-e72. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2008.05.009.
- Hay D. Diagnosis and significance of minor defects of uterine abnormality in relation to pregnancy. J Obstet Gynecol Brit Emp. 1958;65(4):557-582. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1958.tb08560.x.
- 7. Jarcho J. Malformations of the uterus. Am J Surg. 1946;71:106-166. doi: 10.1016/0002-9610(46)90190-0.
- Buttram VC Jr, Gibbons WE. Mullerian anomalies: a proposed classification. (An analysis of 144 cases). Fertil Steril. 1979;32(1):40-46. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(16)44114-2.
- Gubbini G, Di Spiezio Sardo A, Nascetti D, Marra E, Spinelli M, Greco E, et al. New outpatient subclassification system for American Fertility Society Classes V and VI uterine anomalies. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2009;16(5):554-561. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2009.06.002.
- Agostini A, De Guibert F, Salari K, Crochet P, Bretelle F, Gamepe M. Adverse obstetric outcomes at term after hysteroscopic metroplasty. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2009;16(4):454-457. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2009.03.021.
- 11. The American Fertility Society classifications of adnexal adhesions, distal tubal occlusion, tubal occlusion secondary to tubal ligation, tubal pregnancies, Müllerian anomalies and intrauterine adhesions. Fertil Steril. 1988 Jun;49(6):944-55. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(16)59942-7.
- Acién P, Acién MI. The history of female genital tract malformation classifications and proposal of an updated system. Hum Reprod Update. 2011 Sep-Oct;17(5):693-705. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmr021.
- 13. Oppelt P, Renner SP, Brucker S, Strissel PL, Stric Oppelt PG, Doerr HG, Schott GE, Hucke J, Wallwiener D, Beckmann MW. The VCUAM (Vagina Cervix Uterus Adnex-associated Malformation) classification: a new classification for genital malformations. Fertil Steril. 2005 Nov;84(5):1493-7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2005.05.036.
- 14. Grimbizis GF, Campo R, et al. Clinical approach for the classification of congenital uterine malformations. Gynecol Surg. 2012;9(2):119-129. doi:10.1007/s10397-011-0724-2.

- Heinonen PK. Renal tract malformations associated with Müllerian duct anomalies. Clin Obstet Gynecol Reprod Med. 2018;4(1):1-5. doi: 10.15761/COGRM.1000207.
- Grimbizis GF, Gordts S, Di Spiezio SA, Brucker S, De Angelis C, Gergolet M, et al. The ESHRE/ESGE consensus on the classification of female genital tract congenital anomalies. Hum Reprod. 2013;28(8):2032-44. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det098.
- Gruber AT, Schlaff WD. Pregnancy outcomes in women with bicornuate and septate uteri. Topics Obstet Gynecol. 2021;41(15):1-5. doi: 10.1097/01.PGO.0000794180.80688.17.
- Chan YY, Jayaprakasan K, Tan A, Thornton JG, Coomarasamy A, Raine-Fenning NJ. Reproductive outcomes in women with congenital uterine anomalies: a systematic review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2011;38(4):371-82. doi: 10.1002/uog.10056.
- Rikken JF, Kowalik CR, Emanuel MH, Mol BW, Van der Veen F, van Wely M, et al. Septum resection for women of reproductive age with a septate uterus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;1:Cd008576. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008576.pub4.
- 20. March CM. Hysteroscopy as an aid to diagnosis in female infertility. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 1983;26(2):302-12. doi: 10.1097/00003081-198306000-00010.
- 21. Fayez JA. Comparison between abdominal and hysteroscopic metroplasty. Obstet Gynecol. 1986;68(3):399-403. doi: 10.1097/00006250-198609000-00023.
- 22. Rikken JFW, Leeuwis-Fedorovich NE, Letteboer S, Emanuel MH, Limpens J, van der Veen F, Goddijn M, van Wely M. The pathophysiology of the septate uterus: a systematic review. BJOG. 2019;126(10):1192-1199. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.15798.
- 23. Heinonen PK. Unicornuate uterus and rudimentary horn. Fertil Steril. 1997;68(2):224-230. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(97)81506-3.
- 24. Spitzer RF, Kives S, Allen LM. Case series of laparoscopically resected noncommunicating functional uterine horns. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2009;22(1):e23-e28 doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2007.12.001.
- 25. Sadik S, Taskin O, Sehirali S, Mendilcioglu I, et al. Complex Müllerian malformation: report of a case with a hypoplastic non-cavitated uterus and two rudimentary horns. Hum Reprod. 2002;17(5):1343-1344. doi: 10.1093/humrep/17.5.1343.
- 26. Shavell VI, Montgomery SE, Johnson SC, et al. Complete septate uterus, obstructed hemivagina, and ipsilateral renal anomaly: pregnancy course complicated by a rare urogenital anomaly. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2009;280(3):449-452. doi: 10.1007/s00404-008-0919-6.
- Alborzi S, Asadi N, Zolghadri J, Zolghadri J, Alborzi SM. Laparoscopic metroplasty in bicornuate and didelphic uteri. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(1):352-355. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.04.025.
- Sinha R, Mahajan C, Hegde A, Shukla A. Laparoscopic metroplasty for bicornuate uterus. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2006;13(1):70-73. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2005.11.00.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Constantin Toncoglaz, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7595-068X Serghei Toncoglaz, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7103-3289 Alina Toncoglaz, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6852-0374

Authors' contributions

CT designed the study, conducted the laboratory work; ST drafted the first manuscript; AT interpreted the data and critically revised the manuscript. All the authors reviewed the material and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The review study was the authors' initiative.

46

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Agreement was obtained from the German Diagnostic Center and from patients for the use of the data.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.09 UDC: 616.233-003.6-07-053.2



Clinical and imaging interrelationships in the diagnosis of foreign body aspiration in children

*Diana Rotaru-Cojocari, Victor Rascov, Rodica Selevestru, Svetlana Sciuca

Department of Pediatrics, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Diana Rotaru-Cojocari, e-mail: dianarotaru2@gmail.com Manuscript received October 18, 2021; revised manuscript November 16, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Foreign body aspiration (FBA) is a typical occurrence in children. The clinical signs are influenced by various causes, and the differential diagnosis is important, especially when the suffocation crisis is not recognized. The aim of this study was to evaluate the clinical and imaging symptoms in children with FBA.

Material and methods: A retrospective study is provided of 156 children who were hospitalized and examined (clinical and paraclinical tests) in the Pneumology Clinic between 2011 and 2020 after having a foreign body removed from their airways, using rigid tube bronchoscopy or fibrobronchoscopy. **Results:** The most affected age group was 1-3 years, which constituted 77.6% (95% CI 70.2% -83.8%). The most common symptoms were: cough – 98.7% (95% CI 95.4%-99.8%), dyspnoea – 94.2% (95% CI 89.3%-97.3%), wheezing – 61.5% (95% CI 53.4%-69.2%). Chest radiography was relevant for foreign body aspirations in 55.8% of cases (95% CI 47.6%-63.7%). The foreign body was extracted from the right bronchus in 32.1%, from the left bronchus in 21.8% of cases, from the lobar / segmental bronchi – 22.5%, and in 21.2% – multiple locations. The etiological structure of the endobronchial foreign body was dominated by the organic ones – 96.8%.

Conclusions: Cough, dyspnoea, and wheezing are suggestive of this pediatric emergency. Chest radiography provides diagnostic information only for every second child.

Key words: foreign body, children, bronchoscopy.

Cite this article

Rotaru-Cojocari D, Rascov V, Selevestru R, Sciuca S. Clinical and imaging interrelationships in the diagnosis of foreign body aspiration in children. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):47-50. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.09.

Introduction

Foreign body aspiration is a common pathology in the pediatric population, with various forms of presentation ranging from acute symptoms accompanied by life-threatening respiratory failure due to total airway obstruction to mild recurrent respiratory manifestations, with exacerbations that alternate with periods of apparent health [1]. It is critical in both situations to make a differential diagnosis of airway blockage, which might be caused by a foreign body aspiration, infections, or an allergic bronchopulmonary disease [2, 3].

The clinical picture of foreign body aspiration events in the airways is determined by several parameters, including the degree of installation in the respiratory system, the type and pathogenic mechanism of the blockage, the nature of the foreign body, and the time between diagnosis and treatment [4-7]. Fixation of the foreign body to the tracheal bifurcation results in abrupt death in the middle of severe suffocation or cardiorespiratory arrest. Furthermore, the progression of this pediatric emergency differs depending on whether the bronchi are partially or completely blocked, or if the valve mechanism is used. Organic foreign bodies create greater problems since they are non-contrasting to chest radiography most of the time, undergo putrefaction processes over time, and are difficult to remove using bronchoscopic methods. Sharp foreign bodies, particularly metal foreign bodies formed of hard plastic, can cause mechanical damage to the bronchial shaft, increasing the likelihood of developing catarrhal-purulent endobronchitis and granulations, and in some circumstances can breach the bronchial wall.

With a sensitivity of 96% and a specificity of 76%, a suffocation episode is one of the most reliable clinical indicators of foreign body aspiration [8, 9]. However, only a tiny number of patients exhibit the typical triad, which includes suffocation, coughing, and wheezing, and the penetration event frequently goes undetected or ignored, complicating the diagnosis of foreign body aspiration [6, 10, 11]. In the absence of particular therapy, such as bronchoscopy and foreign body extraction, it encourages the development of complications, some of which are followed by persistent broncho-pulmonary sequelae, bronchopulmonary processes with chronic characteristics [12-16].

Age group	No of cases	%	95% CI	Gender	No of cases	%	95% CI		
<1 year	20	12.8	8.0-19.1	Male	89	57.1	48.9-64.9		
1-3 years	121	77.6	70.2-83.8	Female	67	42.9	35.1-55.1		
>3 years	15	9.6	5.5-15.4	-15.4					
The main symptoms									
Symptom No of cases % 95% Cl Symptom No of cases % 95% Cl									
Stridor	9	5.8	2.7-10.7	Cough	154	98.7	95.4-99.8		
Fever	64	41.0	33.2-49.2	Wheezing	96	61.5	53.4-69.2		
Perioral cyanosis	59	37.8	30.2-45.9	Dyspnoea	147	94.2	89.3-97.3		

Material and methods

The study group included 156 children hospitalized in the Pneumology Clinic of Institute of Mother and Child, in a period of 10 years (2011-2020). The investigation was conducted retrospectively and was based on the review of patient observation records. A total of 66 patients were targeted with suspicion for FBA, and the diagnosis was suspected and confirmed in 90 patients while they were in the hospital. Age, gender, the reason for hospitalization, time from aspiration to diagnosis, clinical symptoms, and radioimaging characteristics were all tracked for all patients. Endobronchial foreign body was diagnosed using rigid tube bronchoscopy (Karl Sorz 3.5–6.0mm) or fibrobronchoscopy (BF3C160, BF1TQ170 Olympus 3.8-6.0mm), depending on the case.

Results

The examination by age groups in the study group revealed a net prevalence of children aged 1-3 years – 121 cases (77.6%), and babies in 20 cases (12.8%). Aspiration of foreign bodies in the respiratory system had only a modest, statistically insignificant male predominance: 89 cases in boys (57.1%) and 67 instances in girls (42.9%) (tab. 1). In terms of location, 68.58% of patients (107 children) are from country areas, whereas 31.41% (49 patients) are from city areas.

There was a varying time delay for each case, varying from one hour to 6 months, between the time the foreign body was aspirated and the request for a medical consultation. Only 66.0% of cases (103 children) had the penetration syndrome recognized anamnestically, but only one-third of these patients presented to the hospital during the first three days of the aspiration incident. In these cases, the diagnosis was simple and quick to confirm, and the treatment entailed the removal of foreign bodies from the bronchial tree as soon as possible.

The most common symptoms seen in the clinical presentation of foreign body aspiration cases were: cough, which was present in 154 instances (98.7%), dyspnoea of different severity verified in 147 children (94.2%), and wheezing in 96 cases (61.5%) (tab. 1). Bronchopulmonary physical examination revealed: decreased vesicular resonance in 75 cases (48.07%), wet rales in 88 cases (56.41%), wheezing rales in 111 cases (71.15%), and no stetoacoustic changes in 4 cases (2.56%).

The radiological examination was performed in all patients, but no radiopaque foreign materials were detected, and the radiography in 13 cases did not demonstrate pathological changes, with a normal image. In the majority of instances (55.8 % (95% CI 47.6%-63.7%)), indirect radiological signals were indicating the presence of a foreign body in the bronchial tree, such as atelectasis in 25% of cases, localized emphysema in 48% of cases, mediastinal deviation in 19.2% (tab. 2). One of the most dangerous situations is an obstruction through the valve mechanism, which causes localized hyperinflation with diaphragmatic flattening and mediastinum displacement to a healthy hemithorax with significant risks of pneumothorax (fig. 1, 2).

 Table 2. Pulmonary radiological changes in children with foreign body aspiration

Chest radiography	No of cases	%	95% Cl
Atelectasis	39	25.0	18.4-32.6
Mediastinal deviation	30	19.2	13.4-26.3
Localized emphysema	75	48.1	40.0-56.2
Pneumonic opacities	120	76.9	69.5-83.3
Normal aspect	13	8.3	4.5-13.8



Fig. 1. Valve mechanism with left lung hyperinflation, significant deviation of the mediastinum to the right, and flattening of the left hemidiaphragm in olive kernel aspiration, located in the left main bronchus



Fig. 2. Valve mechanism with right lung hyperinflation and mediastinum deviation to the left after sunflower seed aspiration, positioned in the right main bronchus

In the study the following foreign bodies were localized in the respiratory tree: trachea – 2 cases (1.3%), main right bronchus – 50 cases (32.1%), left main bronchus – 34 cases (21.8%), lobar/segmental bronchi – 35 cases (22.5%), and multiple locations – 33 cases (21.2%), as confirmed by bron-choscopic examination.

The nature of foreign bodies was very diverse, the organic ones predominating – 96.8% (fig. 3). Foreign body was removed during the first bronchoscopy in 94.87% of patients. The remaining foreign body fragments were removed from the bronchial tree in 14.74% of cases at the endoscopic reassessment after 3-5 days. The most common complications were infectious, these patients subsequently requiring antibiotic therapy.



Fig. 3. The etiological structure of foreign bodies extracted from the bronchial tree in children

Discussion

The 156 cases reported over ten years indicate that this occurrence is relatively common among children. The maximum incidence aligned to information in the literature, which stated that approximately 80% of pediatric episodes of FBA occur in children under the age of three, with a maximum incidence between the ages of one and two years [17-21]. There is a variety of reasons that support aspiration, most of which are tied to this age, as youngsters are especially vulnerable at this period due to increased activity and interest, as well as reduced parental monitoring as they grow up. Additionally, young children have a high level of activity and distraction while eating and tend to explore the world with their mouths while playing. Anatomical and morphological characteristics are also important. The lack of molars increases the danger of foreign body aspiration. Because airway resistance is inversely related to the crosssectional radius, children's airways have a stronger proclivity to impede airflow, even though small foreign bodies [6].

The gender difference was statistically insignificant, with boys having a little predominance. However, studies from the literature reveal a net frequency in males of almost 2:1 [18, 20, 21]. Tomaske M. et al. on a group of 370 children with an aspiration of foreign bodies found 242 cases (65.4%) in males [22]. Another recent study showed that 67.9% of the 316 children with foreign bodies in their airways were boys [19]. In a larger group analysis (1027 patients with foreign body aspiration), 626 boys and 401 girls were found to have them [23, 24].

When patients present to the emergency department with a clear history of foreign body aspiration, the diagnosis is usually clear. Difficult situations are represented by those cases in which the moment of aspiration goes unnoticed by parents or supervisors, and the child begins to develop complications (usually trenant pneumonia). When present in the anamnesis, penetration syndrome is highly suggestive of a diagnosis. In the studied group it was found in 103 cases (66.0%). Other authors report this syndrome in 77% of cases [25]. However, it is not always visible, which causes a delay in diagnosis. Cough, dyspnea, and wheezing were the most prevalent symptoms among the patients in the study. According to the study more than 1000 patients had cough (84.3%), dyspnea (13.1%), and cyanosis in 7.7% of cases [24].

When there is even the slightest suspicion of foreign bodies in the airways, a radiological scan is required. Children in the study group had indirect indicators: atelectasis, mediastinal shift, and localized emphysema. The authors of the previously referenced study discovered emphysema in 707 patients (68.8%) and atelectasis in 137 patients (13.3%) [24]. Normal radiological result was found in 13 patients (8.3%). A normal chest X-ray cannot rule out the existence of a foreign body [26]. In the event of a strong, clinical, or anamnestic suspicion, it is required to repeat the radiograph and maybe do tomography, which can provide more information.

Both the study and the information in the literature show that foreign bodies are mostly found in the right bronchus. The higher frequency has anatomical explanations: the right bronchus is closer to the tracheal axis than the left bronchus, it has a larger caliber, the suction force of the right lung is greater, and the carina is to the left [12, 24].

The nature of the aspirated foreign body differs based on geographical area, environment, culture, and eating habits, with numerous researches indicating that biological foreign bodies are more common [27]. In the Republic of Moldova, it is also observed that the aspirations of vegetable foreign bodies predominate, namely sunflower seeds and nuts.

The main cause of late arrival in specialized services is misdiagnosis due to the multiple pathological entities with which foreign body aspiration can be confused, and extraction usually takes place after prior hospitalization in pediatric wards or after inefficient and inadequate outpatient treatments with diagnosis. The progression and prognosis of foreign body aspiration are dependent on the timing of diagnosis and therapeutic intervention, and so any suspicion based on anamnesis, clinical data, and imaging data should be followed by tracheobronchoscopic investigation.

Conclusions

- 1. Foreign body aspiration into the airways is rather prevalent in children, particularly those aged 1-3 years.
- 2. The presence of penetration syndrome, followed by cough, dyspnoea, and wheezing, is very suggestive for establishing the diagnosis.
- 3. At the smallest suspicion of foreign body aspiration a radiological study is required, which may be indicative of unilateral pulmonary hyperinflation or lobar/segmental atelectasis.

References

- Naragund AI, Mudhol RS, Harugop AS, et al. Tracheo-bronchial foreign body aspiration in children: a one-year descriptive study. Indian J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2014:66(Suppl 1):180-185. doi: 10.1007/ s12070-011-0416-2.
- 2. Mantor PC, Tuggle DW, Tunell WP. An appropriate negative bronchoscopy rate in suspected foreign body aspiration. Am J Surg. 1989;158(6):622-624. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9610(89)90208-0.

- Steen KH, Zimmermann TH. Tracheobronchial aspiration of foreign bodies in children: a study of 94 cases. Laryngoscope. 1990;100(5):525-530. doi: 10.1288/00005537-199005000-00016.
- Brkić F, Umihanić Š, Altumbabić H. Delay in diagnosis of foreign body aspiration in children. Acta Medica Saliniana. 2019;49(1):7-10. https:// doi:10.5457/ams.v49i1.482.
- Johnson K, Linnaus M, Notrica D. Airway foreign bodies in pediatric patients: anatomic location of foreign body affects complications and outcomes. Pediatr Surg Int. 2017;33(1):59-64. doi: 10.1007/s00383-016-3988-9.
- Morris IR. Anesthesia and airway management of laryngoscopy and bronchoscopy. In: Hagberg CA, editor. Benumof's airway management. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Mosby; 2007. p. 859-888.
- Osman NM, Korraa EE, Abd Elfattah NM. Complications and follow-up of foreign body inhalation. Egyptian J Bronchol. 2016;10(3):232-237. https://doi.org/10.4103/1687-8426.193631.
- Barrios JE, Gutierrez C, Lluna J, et al. Bronchial foreign body: should bronchoscopy be performed in all patients with a choking crisis? Pediatr Surg Int. 1997;12(2-3):118-120. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01349976.
- Holliday S, Gurkowski MA. Foreign body aspiration. In: Atlee JL, editor. Complications in anesthesia. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2007. p. 753-755. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-2215-2.50193-9.
- Ada's Medical Knowledge Team. Foreign Body Aspiration [Internet]. Berlin: Ada Health GmbH; ©2021 [cited 2021 Jul 12]. Available from: https://ada.com/conditions/foreign-body-aspiration/
- Berry F, Stemland C. Foreign body aspiration. In: Fleisher LA, Roizen MF, editors. Essence of anesthesia practice. Philadelphia: Elsevier/Saunders; 2011. p. 156.
- 12. Dehghani N, Ludemann P. Aspirated foreign bodies in children: BC Children's Hospital emergency room protocol. BC Med J. 2008;50(5):252-256.
- Douira-Khomsi W, Merghni A, Louati H, et al. Epis de graminée intrabronchiques migrateurs, un corps étranger hors du commun [Intrabronchial migratory cereal-ear, an unusual foreign body inhalation]. Arch Pédiatr. 2009;16(9):1280-1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. arcped.2009.06.006. French.
- 14. Eber E, Antón-Pacheco JL, de Blic J, et al. ERS statement: interventional bronchoscopy in children. Eur Respir J. 2017;50(6):1700901. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00901-2017.
- Karakoç F, Karadağ B, Akbenlioğlu C, et al. Foreign body aspiration: what is the outcome? Pediatric Pulmonol. 2002;34(1):30-36. https://doi. org/10.1002/ppul.10094.

- Shlizerman L, Mazzawi S, Rakover Y, et al. Foreign body aspiration in children: the effects of delayed diagnosis. Am J Otolaryngol. 2010;31(5):320-324. doi: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2009.03.007.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Nonfatal chokingrelated episodes among children – United States, 2001. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2002 Oct 25;51(42):945-8.
- Cramer N, Jabbour N, Tavarez MM, Taylor RS. Foreign body aspiration. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 [cited 2021 Aug 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK531480/
- Kalyanappagol VT, Kulkarni NH, Bidri LH. Management of tracheobronchial foreign body aspirations in paediatric age group – a 10-year retrospective analysis. Indian J Anaesthesia 2007;51(1):20-23.
- Warshawsky ME, Talavera F, Mosenifar Z. Foreign body aspiration. In: Medscape [Internet]. New York: WebMD; ©1994-2021 [cited 2021 Jul 13]. Available from: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/298940overview
- 21. Ruiz FE. Airway foreign bodies in children. In: UpToDate [Internet]. Waltham, MA: UpToDate; 2020 [cited 2021 May 23]. Available from: http://www.uptodate.com/contents/airway-foreign-bodies-in-children
- Tomaske M, Gerber AC, Stocker S, et al. Tracheobronchial foreign body aspiration in children – diagnostic value of symptoms and signs. Swiss Med Wkly. 2006;136(33-34):533-538.
- Eren S, Balci AE, Dikici B, et al. Foreign body aspiration in children: experience of 1160 cases. Ann Trop Paediatr. 2003;23(1):31-37. https:// doi.org/10.1179/000349803125002959.
- 24. Tang LF, Xu YC, Wang YS, et al. Airway foreign body removal by flexible bronchoscopy: experience with 1027 children during 2000-2008. World J Pediatr. 2009;5(3):191-195. doi: 10.1007/s12519-009-0036-z.
- 25. Ouoaba K, Diara C, Dao MO, Ouedraogo I, et al. Les corps étrangers laryngo-trachéo-bronchiques chez l'enfant au CHU Onagadogon (une analyse de 96 observations) [Laryngo-tracheo-bronchial foreign bodies in children at the University Hospital Center of Ouagadougou (analysis of 96 cases)]. Med Trop. 2002;62:611-614. French.
- 26. Zerella JT, Dimler M, McGill LC, Pippus KJ. Foreign body aspiration in children: value of radiography and complications of bronchoscopy. J Pediatr Surg. 1998;33(11):1651-1654. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3468(98)90601-7.
- Ciftci AO, Bingöl-Koloğlu M, Senocak ME, et al. Bronchoscopy for evaluation of foreign body aspiration in children. J Pediatr Surg. 2003;38(8):1170-1176. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3468(03)00263-X.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Diana Rotaru-Cojocari, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7867-3756 Victor Rascov, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7826-866X Rodica Selevestru, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8923-3075 Svetlana Sciuca, MD, PhD, Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1091-9419

Authors' contributions

DRC designed the research, reviewed statistics and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript; VR collected the data, did statistical analysis; RS interpreted the data, revised the manuscript critically; SS conceptualized the project and designed the research, revised the manuscript critically.

Funding

This study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The trial was the authors' initiative. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The research project was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (Protocol No 41 of 25.05.2021).

50

Conflict of Interests

No competing interests were disclosed.

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.10 UDC: 613.6:371.12



Assessment of teachers' health in relation to working conditions

Dumitru Cheptea

Discipline of Hygiene, Department of Preventive Medicine Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Author's ORCID iD, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

Corresponding author – Dumitru Cheptea, e-mail: dumitru.cheptea@usmf.md Manuscript received October 25, 2021; revised manuscript November 16, 2021; published online November 25, 2021

Abstract

Background: Teaching in schools has been defined as the profession with the most diverse risk factors that affect health. With almost 48000 people currently working in educational institutions, teachers make up the largest occupational group in the Republic of Moldova.

Material and methods: The study involved 519 teachers from pre-university educational institutions. For the self-assessment of the health status, a questionnaire was created which was applied online. The subjective assessment was performed by researching the entries in the medical cards.

Results: The majority of respondents were women (91.4%), with a mean age of 45.6±7.5 years and a working experience of 22.9±3.2 years. In 75.7% of them health is satisfactory, only 3% have serious health problems and would require hospitalization. In 35.8% of cases, the presence of chronic diseases is registered, their top being led by diseases of the gastrointestinal tract (33.8%), the cardiovascular system (29.2%) and endocrine (27.2%). The most common risk factors mentioned were: high levels of stress (53.5%); increased number of tasks (23.4%); lack of support from family and colleagues (22.9%). **Conclusions:** The health of teachers is influenced by a variety of risk factors. There were no correlations between the type of institution and the subject taught, which highlights the importance of studying the influence of factors in the occupational environment and the development of prevention measures. **Key words:** teachers, health status, risk factors, preventive measures.

Cite this article

Cheptea D. Assessment of teachers' health in relation to working conditions. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):51-55. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.10.

Introduction

Human health is considered one of the most important tasks of the society of any state in the world. In this context, at the current stage of development, the problem of teacher's health is mentioned as a global problem [1, 2]. The health of a modern individual is influenced by a multitude of physical, chemical, biological, social factors, and reflects the integral system of material and spiritual relationships existing in society [3]. It largely depends on the quality of the environment, the level of development of society, working conditions, professional level, material condition, the organization of health care.

The teacher, in his professional and social role is a key figure in the educational process, a bearer of special knowledge, as well as a model of behavior and attitude towards health. Currently, the activities of teachers in the Republic of Moldova are not limited to teaching lessons in classrooms. In addition, they must prepare for lessons, evaluate students' exercises, carry out guidance activities, prepare for external school reviews, participate in continuous professional development, and meet the demands of management [4]. Addressing the issue of the influence on health of different categories of factors, it is necessary to address the aspects of the professional activity of teachers. As a result, teachers may suffer from mental and physical health problems due to the diversity of functions and extended overtime. Even among young teachers there is a large percentage of patients with chronic diseases, and the leading one is cardiovascular pathology [1, 2, 5]. And only 9% of teachers are healthy, they maintain a relatively high level of efficiency and don't present a chronic disease. Most of them have "iron nerves" by nature, or they have learned to quickly recover mentally after a shift of home rest [5].

Consequently, the profession of a teacher comes first in terms of work intensity and the presence of harmful factors in the workplace [5]. The main harmful factors of pedagogical activity are: physical, emotional overstrain, a high degree of tension of the sensory load on the organs of sight and hearing, a heavy load on the laryngeal vocal apparatus, a high density of epidemic contacts, and the effect of electromagnetic waves [6].

Another risk factor that has a major action on health is the rapid change of modern lifestyle which in recent times is associated with increasing requirements to have new skills, the need to adapt to new types of work as examples of online teaching, the pressure of higher productivity and quality of work, the pressure of time indicating the need for priority action in improving the psychosocial environment of jobs [7].

Epidemiological, clinical and experimental studies show that high levels of acute or chronic stress adversely affect the functions of the human body. Stressors have a significant impact on the physical and emotional well-being of teachers. There is a strong relationship between stress and several inflammatory, metabolic, reproductive, autoimmune disorders. It is well known that all the biological systems of the human body are affected by stress [8]. The main chronic diseases of our time appear against the background of emotional experiences, acute or chronic stress. According to the literature, up to 70% of diseases are associated with emotional stress. More than a million people die in Europe each year due to influence of stress on cardiovascular system [8, 9].

The aim: to assess the teachers' status of health working in general primary and secondary educational institutions.

Material and methods

In order to achieve the proposed goal, a descriptive cross-sectional study was carried out, with some prospective elements. The initial stage consisted of the elaboration of a structured questionnaire that was applied to teachers working both physically and online during the COVID-19 pandemic. The questionnaire included 14 chapters, such as: general data, working and living conditions, eating behavior, subjective assessment of health and objective assessment of changes caused by online teaching. This questionnaire contains a total of 159 questions, of which 96 are required to determine the demographic grade and general clinical condition of each person (general health, living and working environment, family environment). The remaining questions are grouped as follows: 37 refer to teachers' nutrition and 24 were organized in the form of a psychological questionnaire in which respondents rated statements with grades from 0 to 5. The questionnaire includes closed questions (yes/no type), as well as questions with a variant or variants with multiple answers.

The questionnaire was applied to teachers who meet the following participation criteria: teachers from general primary and secondary education institutions who signed the informed consent and agreed to complete the questionnaire; people of any gender (men, women); people from urban and rural areas without ethnic restrictions; people up to 63 years old.

Study variables

The influence of occupational environmental factors on health such as occupational stress and burnout was analyzed as follows.

Assessment of psychological burnout

The Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) was used to assess the level of burnout. The instrument measures three constructs: Emotional Exhaustion (EE) (9 items), Depersonalization (DP) (5 items) and Lack of Personal Accomplishments (8 items). Thus, a high level of burnout involves subjects getting high scores on exhaustion subscales (e.g., I feel exhausted from work, I feel like I am run out of power), and depersonalization (e.g., I do not really care about what happens to some of my students).

Assessment of occupational stress

To assess the level of occupational stress, the "Impact of Event Scale – Revised (IES-R)" tool was applied, which is a short self-report questionnaire that is easy to administer, it has 22 questions. The tool, an appropriate instrument to measure the subjective response to a specific traumatic event in the older adult population, especially in the response sets of intrusion (intrusive thoughts, nightmares, intrusive feelings and imagery, dissociative-like re-experiencing), avoidance (numbing of responsiveness, avoidance of feelings, situations, and ideas), and hyperarousal (anger, irritability, hypervigilance, difficulty in concentrating, heightened startle), as well as a total subjective stress IES-R score.

The collected data was entered in Microsoft Excel 2007 and statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23. Qualitative variables, such as gender, socioeconomic status and morbidity profile were summarized as frequencies and percentages. Quantitative variables, such as age and hours of work were expressed as mean and standard deviation.

Results

Of the 750 teachers included in the study, 519 people completed the questionnaire, which represents a response rate of 69.2%. The sample consisted of teachers, department heads and principals from a single school board, with a mean age of 45.6 ± 7.5 years and a working experience of 22.9 ± 3.2 years. The selection of teachers was carried out randomly so as to cover the entire territory of the Republic of Moldova. Table 1 depicts the distribution of baseline so-ciodemographic characteristics and occupational characteristics among the sample.

Table 1.	General characteristics of study subjects
	(N=519)

Variables	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)
Sociodemographic characteristics		
Age:		
>25 years	9	1.7
25-30 years	34	6.6
30-35 years	71	13.7
35-40 years	91	17.6
40-45 years	81	15.6
45-50 years	112	21.4
50-55 years	58	11.2
55-60 years	36	6.9
<60 years	27	5.2
Gender		
Male	475	91.5
Female	44	8.5
Marital status		
Currently married	442	85.2
Single	29	5.6
Widowed	20	3.9
Divorced	28	5.4
Educational status of participants		5.0
Undergraduate	26	82.1
Postgraduate	426	12.9
Others	67	

D.	Cheptea.	Moldovan	Medical	Journal.	November	2021	;64	(5):	51	-55	5
----	----------	----------	---------	----------	----------	------	-----	------	----	-----	---

Socioeconomic status (Modified BG Prasad classification) [10]							
Upper class	56	10.8					
Upper middle class	421	81.1					
Middle class	35	6.7					
Lower middle class	7	1.4					
Occupational characteristics							
Teaching experience (years)							
>5	48	9.3					
5-10	66	12.7					
10-15	79	15.3					
15-20	80	15.4					
20-25	73	14.1					
25-30	75	14.5					
30-35	60	11.6					
>35	38	7.1					
Classes taught							
Primary grade	24	4.6					
Middle grade (gymnasium)	271	52.2					
Higher secondary class	224	43.2					
Number of workdays/weeks							
4	133	25.6					
5	386	74.4					
Academic hours of work/day (1 acad	lemic hour = 4	5 astronomical					
minutes)							
≤ 6	279	53.8					
7 to 8	211	40.7					
≥ 8	29	5.6					
Commuting time to work							
10 min	245	47.2					
30 min	222	42.8					
60 min	40	7.7					
>60 min	12	2.3					
Type of transport to work							
Walking	346	66.6					
Personal car	48	9.2					
School bus	125	24.1					
Hours spent in job-related work at h	ome/ day						
≤ 2 hours	45	8.7					
3 to 6 hours	387	74.6					
> 6 hours	87	16.8					

In order to identify the main risk factors in the occupational environment, the answers of the respective category were analyzed. With the help of the questionnaire we proceeded to the subjective evaluation of the conditions of the occupational environment. Of all the participants in the study, 197 people (38%) reported an orthostatic position (standing) throughout the work period, 20.6% - sitting, 41.4% - with class trips. Brightness level assessment more than 82.3% rated a sufficient level of light, and only 13.5% accused insufficient lighting levels. Unstable summerwinter temperature levels accounted for 10.8% of teachers. In order to have a more general overview, the answers to the statements about the physical environment were scored, the positive perception being assigned a score of «1» and the negative perception assigned a score «0», so that the higher the score, the perception of the physical environment at work is more positive. The average score was 6.25 ± 1.82 .

Study participants in 75.7% of cases report a satisfactory

health status and only 3% have serious health problems and would need hospitalization. Unfortunately, a large number of teachers (7.5%) do not know their health status because they are not provided with quality primary health care. Analyzing the share of chronic diseases, it can be concluded that most teachers do not suffer from chronic diseases (52.2%). Chronically ill people (35.8%) usually get sick more in the winter-spring period (46.7%) and the autumn (38.8%). Again, it becomes a problem that 11.9% of teachers do not know whether or not they suffer from any chronic diseases, the reason being the lack of specialists in the region, the impossibility to go to a private clinic and the insurance of the rural medical system. Among the participants suffering from chronic diseases, 29.2% of them suffer from diseases of the gastrointestinal tract, 16.8% - the articular system, 29.4% - cardiovascular system, 33.6% - the endocrine system, 21.0% - respiratory system and 12.6% - nervous system. Table 2 shows the distribution of workplace-related morbidity experienced by the participants in the last year.

Table 2: Workplace-related morbidity profile of stud	ły
subjects in the last year year (N=519)	

Variables	Frequency	Percentage
	(n)	(%)
Injury	29	5.58
Respiratory symptoms	477	91.9
Sleep disturbances	378	72.8
Eye strain	463	89.2
Voice strain	176	33.9
Headache	507	97.7
Ear pain or hearing disturbances	466	89.8
Musculoskeletal disorders:		
Ankle/ feet	117	22.5
Knees	59	11.4
Lower back	93	17.9
Neck	72	13.9

Analyzing the structure of morbidity among teachers it can be concluded that diseases of the gastric tract are predominant (33.8%) followed by diseases of the cardiovascular system (29.2%). This can be explained by analyzing the nutritional style as well as the nature of the work performed. Increased levels of stress due to poor nutrition are the main predictors of this structure. Allergic diseases also play a key role. Their appearance is usually due to the presence in the air of the occupational environment of a stable concentration of dust produced by wiping the classrooms.

For the subsequent characteristic of the influence of risk factors in the occupational environment and their action on teachers' health, a correlation analysis was used. To estimate the simultaneous comorbidity of different diseases at the individual level, the dichotomized responses were further combined into three ordered categories: 0 = subjects who report a low level of frequency of acute diseases or low level of chronic diseases (referents); 1 = subjects who report either a high frequency of acute diseases or a high frequency of chronic diseases (one of the 2 dimensions); 2 =

Variable	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Gender	1.42	0.49	-								
2. Years of professional experience	22.9	3.20	0.23*	-							
3. Number of working hours	6.9	1.34	0.09*	-0.71**	-						
4. Number of working days	4.8	0.37	0.05*	-0.39*	-0.12	-					
5. Increased number of tasks	4.3	2.2	0.05**	0.37*	0.34	0.05	-				
6. Sudden change of teaching type (switching to online teaching only)	1.7	0.52	0.60	-0.74**	0.64*	0.39**	0.05*	-			
7. Occupational stress	11.9	4.99	0.015**	-0.05*	0.31*	0.03*	0.12*	0.77*	-		
8. Burnout (MBI score)	58.3	17.78	-0.18*	-0.11*	0.45*	0.29*	0.51*	0.61*	0.11**	-	
9. Health status	2.3	1.08	-0.22*	0.65**	0.12	0.31*	0.22	-0.07*	0.56*	0.71*	-

Table 3. Mean, standard deviations (SD), and latent correlation between all factors

Note: *p<0.05, **p<0.001

subjects who report a high frequency of acute diseases and / or a high frequency of chronic diseases (all 2 dimensions). Table 3 demonstrates the average, standard deviation and correlation relationships between the main risk factors in the occupational environment and the incidence of various diseases in teachers.

Discussion

This study expands previous research literature on teachers' health status and the influence of occupational factors, such as emotional exhaustion by examining the direct and indirect relationships between health status and perceived stress and burnout in a sample of teachers. The basic reasoning was that health status can be improved by reducing perceived stress, which in turn would promote lower levels of teachers' exhaustion, regardless of gender, age, and level of teaching.

A series of empirical evidence has been accumulated proving that deficits in emotional abilities are directly related to increased incidences of both chronic and acute illnesses, due in large part to the influence of psychosocial factors and especially burnout [2, 9]. Consistent with these findings, this research provided evidence that health was directly correlated with both perceived sense of stress and burnout symptoms. Specifically, teachers who report being emotionally poor in their perception and management of emotions also tend to report that they feel more exhausted and more cynical about their work and the students they work with, less sense of personal fulfillment. This in turn tends to be a strong predictor of the installation of various disorders of the central nervous system, demonstrated in previous studies.

One explanation for these findings is that the skills of teaching professionals to effectively manage emotional challenges are characterized by more constructive thought patterns, and it is easier for teachers to catch and identify misjudgments and correct misinterpretations in the workplace. In addition, it is possible that teachers who are more emotionally competent would also feel that they have more control over their stressful environment because they can confer sense and manage their negative moods associated with stress more adaptively.

According to previous studies, it was established that about 70% of respondents reported deviations in their health. The most common pathological forms were: visual disorders – 68%; cardiovascular diseases – 48%; musculoskeletal disorders – 44% [11]. There is also a high incidence of polyorganic deficiency syndrome [12]. These pathologies are largely caused by prolonged exposure to stress, sedentary lifestyle and other social factors.

Proceeding from this, the professional activity of a teacher in modern conditions does not contribute to the preservation and strengthening of his health, as evidenced by the following data: 60% of teachers constantly experience psychological discomfort during work; 85% are in a constant state of stress: for 85% of women teachers, their activities are a factor that negatively affects family relations, as a result of which 1/3 of teachers have nervous system disorders [5]. Only 10.4% did not demonstrate health problems.

The workload of teachers at this stage includes many tasks, such as teaching students, preparing lessons, evaluating students' homework and extracurricular activities. As a result of these extended duties, school teachers may have physical and mental health problems. Musculoskeletal pain is the main reason for absenteeism and early retirement for teachers in Saudi Arabia [13].

The present study shows that most teachers have faced at least one physical health problem at work in the last year and most teachers have experienced moderate and high levels of stress due to the environment at work. Such results have been demonstrated by other authors, such as Geetha Mani in her study "Occupational health assessment of teachers in selected schools in Vellore district", Tamil Nadu: "Role of workplace environment in health" [7]. Also, in the same study it was highlighted that occupational stress is identified among the main factors predisposing to the occurrence of musculoskeletal disorders.

Arvidsson I. and the authors also came to the conclusion about the negative action on the effectiveness of teachers in the study "Burnout among Swedish school teachers – a cross-sectional analysis" [14] where it was identified that high levels of emotional exhaustion had a direct correlation with the occurrence of health problems characteristic also for teachers from the Republic of Moldova.

Given the limitations of the present study, future research should include longitudinal models to test the stability over time of received findings. Although the obtained results do not lend themselves to deducing causality, they suggest that training the above risk factors and their influence on teachers' health could help alleviate the psychological symptoms associated with work-related stressors. In addition, it is recommended to include additional variables (e.g. resilient adaptation or positive affect) to gain a better understanding of the mechanism by which they, especially psychosocial factors, can function in improving the health and well-being of teachers. It was also argued that selfreporting of health is not always in correspondence with the entries in medical cards, which proves that the latter are not completed qualitatively. This sample was similar to previous heterogeneous and large samples; however, studies with larger samples are needed that can compare the results according to the level of teaching, because the predictive value of this factor allows the design of more effective intervention programs on emotional preparation.

Conclusions

This research showed a high prevalence of chronic as well as acute diseases in teachers, largely due to the pandemic situation. Another problem was the high levels of stress that most often or due to too many activities in which teachers are involved and insufficient rest. Another factor with a strong influence was the high levels of burnout which was directly correlated with the occurrence of health disorders in both young specialists and those with more work experience. Work experience has been shown to be a protective factor in the occurrence of stress at early levels, but which has no statistical connection with teachers' health disorders.

Some useful preventive measures can be implemented at school level to reduce the high prevalence of chronic diseas-

es, such as a proportional reduction in workload for older teachers, optimizing working hours per day and the availability of comfortable furniture.

References

- 1. Ruijuan Y, Xuqun Y, Yu Z. Teachers' mental health becoming worse: the case of China. Int J Educ Dev. 2019;70:102077. doi: 10.1016/j. ijedudev.2019.102077.
- Cheptea D, Deleu R, Mesina V, Friptuleac G, Cebanu S. Assessment of burnout among teachers during the COVID-19 pandemic. Arch Balk Med Union. 2021;56(2):179-184. doi: 10.31688/ABMU.2021.56.2.06.
- Capone V, Petrillo G. Mental health in teachers: relationships with job satisfaction, efficacy beliefs, burnout and depression. Curr Psychol. 2020;39(1):1757-1766. doi: 10.1007/s12144-018-9878-7.
- Seibt R, Matz A, Hegewald J, Spitzer S. Working conditions of female part-time and full-time teachers in relation to health status. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2012;85(6):675-687. doi: 10.1007/s00420-011-0715-7.
- Hamilton L, Goodman L, Roberts L, et al. Teacher's experience, personal health, and dieting status is associated with classroom health-related practices and modeling. J Sch Health. 2021;91(2):155-163. doi: 10.1111/ josh.12985.
- 6. Wirth T, Kozak A, Schedlbauer G, et al. Health behaviour, health status and occupational prospects of apprentice nurses and kindergarten teachers in Germany: a cross-sectional study. J Occup Med Toxicol. 2016;11:26. doi: 10.1186/s12995-016-0116-7.
- Nadeina L. Analiz profesional'noi zabolevaemosti pedagogov [Analysis of the professional morbidity of teachers]. Vesstnik Donetskogo pedagogicheskogo instituta. 2018;(2):134-140. Russian.
- Bernotaite L, Malinauskiene V. Workplace bullying and mental health among teachers in relation to psychosocial job characteristics and burnout. Int J Occup Med Environ Health. 2017;30(4):629-640. doi: 10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00943.
- 9. Mani G, Balaji MS, Thirunaaukarasu D, William RF. Occupational health assessment of teachers in selected schools in Vellore district, Tamil Nadu: role of workplace environment in health. Al Ameen J Med Sci. 2019;12(3):139-144.
- Mérida-López S, Extremera N, Rey L. Emotion-regulation ability, role stress and teachers' mental health. Occup Med. 2017;67(7):540-545. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqx125.
- Rey L, Extremera N, Pena M. Emotional competence relating to perceived stress and burnout in Spanish teachers: a mediator model. PeerJ. 2016;4:e2087. doi: 10.7717/peerj.2087.
- 12. Tabassum N, Rao RLL. An updated Kuppuswamy's socio-economic classification for 2017. Int J Health Sci Res. 2017;7(5):365-367.
- Abdel-Salam DM, Almuhaisen AS, Alsubiti RA, Aldhuwayhi NF, Almotairi FS. Musculoskeletal pain and its correlates among secondary school female teachers in Aljouf region, Saudi Arabia. J Public Health. 2019. Epub 2019 Jul 29. doi: 10.1007/s10389-019-01127-8.
- Arvidsson I, Håkansson C, Karlson B, Björk J, Persson R. Burnout among Swedish school teachers – a cross-sectional analysis. BMC Public Health. 2016;16(1):823. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3498-7.

Author's ORCID iD and academic degrees

Dumitru Cheptea, MD, PhD Applicant, Assistant Professor - https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2229-0286

Author's contribution

DC conceptualized the idea, conducted literature review, collected the data, interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript.

Funding. This study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The trial was the author's initiative. The author is independent and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (Protocol No 17 of 14.04.2019). An informed consent from all participants in the study was obtained.

55

Conflict of Interests . There is no known conflict of interests to declare.

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.11 UDC: 616.428-006.441-08



Impact of targeted treatment in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma with primary lymph node involvement

^{1,2}Victor Tomacinschii, ¹Maria Robu, ¹Sanda Buruiana, ^{1,2}Veronica Finciuc, ^{1,2}Ana Grecu, ^{1,2}Cristina Dudnic, ^{1,2}Dumitrita Urescu, ^{1,2}Marina Suschevici

> ¹Discipline of Hematology, *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy ²Department of Hematology, Institute of Oncology, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Victor Tomacinschii, e-mail: victor.tomacinschii@usmf.md Manuscript received August 14, 2021; revised manuscript November 10, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (NHL) are malignant tumors that develop from lymphoid tissue. Primary lymph node (LN) involvement is the most common localization (52-70%). The integration of Rituximab (R) in the NHL treatment represented a turning point. The aim of this study was to evaluate the therapeutic impact of the use of R in combination with conventional polychemotherapeutic (PChT) in the treatment of nodal onset NHL. **Material and methods:** A descriptive cohort study was performed on 80 patients diagnosed with NHL.

Results: In the study participated: men – 39(48.8%), women – 41(51.2%). The mean age of the patients was 56.09 ± 13.6 years. The onset of NHL occurred in peripheral l/n in 85.0% of cases, in mediastinal LN – 7.5%, and abdominals in 7.5%. Stages I-II were identified in 21(26.2%) patients, stages III-IV in 59(73.8%) cases. Aggressive NHLs were diagnosed in 54(67.5%) patients, indolent NHLs in 26(32.5%) cases. In 61(76.3%) patients, first-line R+PChT treatment was applied – group 1(G1), and in 19(23.8%) cases conventional PChT was applied – group 2(G2). The overall response rate (ORR) in G1 was 86.8%, in G2 – 63.1%. Complete remissions (CR) were obtained in G1 in 63.9% of patients, in G2 – 47.3% of cases. Progression-free survival (PFS) in G1 had a median of 20 months, and in G2 the median was 12 months (p <0.05).

Conclusions: The use of Rituximab increased the ORR rate (86.8% vs $\hat{63.1\%}$), the frequency of CR (63.9% vs 47.3%) and PFS (20 months vs 12 months (p <0.05).

Key words: Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, lymph nodes, treatment.

Cite this article

Tomacinschii V, Robu M, Buruiana S, Finciuc V, Grecu A, Dudnic C, Urescu D, Suschevici M. Impact of targeted treatment in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma with primary lymph node involvement. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):56-61. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.11.

Introduction

Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (NHL) are malignant tumors of lymphatic tissue [1, 2]. They are some of the most common malignant hematological disorders having a proportion of 3.1-4.3% of the structure of malignant tumors, being ranked as the 5th to 9th most common cancer in most countries worldwide [3-5]. NHL morbidity in the Republic of Moldova is estimated to be 4.1 cases per 100000 inhabitants[1,6]. NHL can develop at any age group, however NHL morbidity increases with age, with a maximum incidence between 45 and 65 years, thus affecting the working age population [3, 7].

These malignancies arise from the malignant transformation of mature and immature cells of immune system, affecting either B lymphocytes – representing around 86% of all NHL, and a smaller proportion of T- and natural killer (NK) cells – 14% in developing regions [5]. A series of prognostic factors are recognized for the influence of NHL evolution, among them: age, sex, clinical stage, LDH level, etc. NHL prognosis is also influenced by the location of the primary affected area [1, 8]. The onset of NHL can occur in any organ and tissue. More often primary NHL develops in lymph nodes (52-70%). Among other risk factors the progression of NHL is also influenced by the location of the primary affected area.

Rituximab represents a humanized chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, that is a powerful tool for treating B-cell malignancies being licensed for the treatment of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia, etc. [9]. Direct signaling, complement-mediated cytotoxicity (CMC), and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) all appear to play a major role in rituximab efficacy in association with chemotherapy in treatment of NHL [9, 10].

Since the approval of rituximab, anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies have revolutionized the treatment of B cell NHL and have become a cornerstone of modern gold standard practice [11, 12].

The aim of the paper is to identify and evaluate the clinical and evolutionary features of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas with primary involvement of peripheral lymph nodes under the influence of chemoimmunotherapeutic treatment with rituximab in combination with conventional chemotherapy.

Material and methods

The clinical aspects and the evolution of the disease were studied in 80 patients with NHL with primary lymph node (LN) involvement, aged between 22 and 83 years. The diagnosis was morphologically confirmed by lymph node biopsy. The spreading degree of the tumor process was determined according to the International Clinical Classification adopted in the city of Ann Arbor (USA), in 1971 [13].

For the staging of the tumoral process and determination of the degree of initial expansion of NHL, were used data received from: clinical examinations, imaging and ultrasound investigations, bone marrow aspiration, bone marrow biopsy, endoscopic or radiological research of the gastrointestinal tract (if necessary), fibroepipharyngoscopy (if necessary).

For the statistical analysis of the data, the standard descriptive statistics kit was used through the data analysis of Microsoft EXCEL and on IBM SPSS Statistics 26.0. The use of the standard descriptive statistics kit facilitated the calculation of mean, median and p value. To assess patient survival, the Kaplan-Meier's life-table method of forming survival curves, was used.

Results

Out of the 80 patients participating in the study, 39 (48.8%) were men and 41 (51.2%) women. The mean age of the patients was 56.09 ± 13.6 years. The age categories most often affected by NHL in the study group were: age group 61-70 years – 25 patients (31.25%), age group 51-60 years – 22 patients (27.5%) followed by age group 41-50 years – 14 cases (17.5%), (fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Distribution of patients in the study group according to age categories

The analysis of the statistical distribution of the study group in correspondence with the area of the LN primary involved showed that more often the NHL onset occurred in: peripheral l/n in 85.0% of cases, in mediastinal LN – 7.5%, and in abdominals LN in 7.5%, (tab.1).

Table 1. Distribution of patients in the study group according to area of lymph nodes primary involved in the tumoral proliferation

Area of lymph nodes primarily involved	Patients	Frequency (%)
Peripheral LN	68	85.0
Mediastinal LN	6	7.5
Intrabdominal LN	6	7.5
Total	80	100.0

Table 2. Distribution of NHL patients with primary lymph node involvement according to the localization of theprimary involved area and age category

	~	Onset in the area of the lymph nodes						
Age, years	Count / %within age catego	Cervical	Axillary	Inguinal	Mediastinal	Intra-ab- dominal	Supracla- vicular	Total
10.20	Count	1	0	0	3	1	1	6
18-30	%	16.7%	0.0%	0.0%	50.0%	16.7%	16/7%	100.0%
21.40	Count	2	1	0	0	0	1	4
51-40	%	50.0%	25.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	25.0%	100.0%
41.50	Count	8	2	2	0	1	1	14
41-50	%	57.1%	14.3%	14.3%	0.0%	7.1%	7.1%	100.0%
51.60	Count	7	4	3	0	2	6	22
51-60	%	31.8%	18.2%	13.6%	0.0%	9.1%	27.3%	100.0%
61 70	Count	11	5	2	2	2	3	25
61-70	%	44.0%	20.0%	8.0%	8.0%	8.0%	12.0%	100.0%
71.00	Count	3	2	0	1	0	2	8
/1-80	%	37.5%	25.0%	0.0%	12.5%	0.0%	25.0%	100.0%
	Count	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
>80	%	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%
	Count	33	14	7	6	6	14	80
Total	%	41.3%	17.5%	8.8%	7.5%	7.5%	17.5%	100.0%

57

Among the peripheral lymph nodes, the cervical lymph nodes served, most frequently, as the area of onset of the tumor process – 33 (41.3%) cases, followed by the supraclavicular and axillary area with 14 cases each (17.5% each), whereas the onset of lymphoma occurred in the inguinal lymph nodes in 7 (8.8%) patients. The analysis of the distribution by age categories shows that the area of onset of lymphoma proliferation starting from the cervical lymph nodes was predominant in all age groups, except for the age category 18-30 years where in 50% of cases the onset of tumor proliferation began in mediastinal lymph nodes (tab. 2).

According to the International Clinical Classification, approved in Ann Arbor (USA), most patients were diagnosed in generalized stages: stage III – 17 (21.3%) cases, stage IV in 42 (52.5%) patients. Localized stages were diagnosed in 26.3% of cases, from which: stage I – 7 (8.8%) patients, stage II – 14 (17.5%) cases.

The histological examination of the tissue samples has determined aggressive types of NHL in 54 (67.5%) cases. However, it should be mentioned that indolent NHLs were also found quite frequently, in 26 (32.5%) patients. Aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphomas were the only types of NHL (100%) that were detected in cases of primary mediastinal localization of the tumor process. Aggressive NHLs also predominated in patients with primary involvement of the inguinal, cervical, abdominal, and axillary lymph nodes (85.7%, 72.7%, 66.7%, and 57.1%, respectively). Indolent NHLs were recorded more frequently in patients with primary supraclavicular lymph node involvement (57.1%) cases (tab. 3).

Table 3. Distribution of NHL patients with primary
lymph node involvement according to evolutionary type
of NHL and primary involved area

Area of I/n	Count / within	Evaluative NHL		
primarily involved	area of I/n pri- marily involved	Aggressive	Indo- lent	Total
Comical	Count	24	9	33
Cervical	%	72.7%	27.3%	100.0%
Avilland	Count	8	6	14
Axillary	%	57.1%	42.9%	100.0%
Inguinal	Count	6	1	7
	%	85.7%	14.3%	100.0%
Madhadhad	Count	6	0	6
Mediastinai	%	100.0%	0.0%	100.0%
Intra-ab-	Count	4	2	6
dominal	%	66.7%	33.3%	100.0%
Supracla-	Count	6	8	14
vicular	%	42.9%	57.1%	100.0%
Tatal	Count	54	26	80
Iotai	%	67.5%	32.5%	100.0%

Aggressive NHLs constituted the majority of NHL types in patients diagnosed in localized stages: stage I – 7 (100%) cases; stage II – 10 (71.4%) of patients. In the case

of generalized stages, the ratio between aggressive NHL vs indolent NHL looks like this: stage III -47.1% vs 52.9%; stage IV -69% vs 31% (tab. 4).

Symptoms of general intoxication were present in 42 patients (52.5%), mostly (73.8%) in the generalized stages of the disease. Symptoms of intoxication were present in 100% of cases in the primary involvement of the mediastinal lymph nodes, 64.3% in the primary involvement of the axillary lymph nodes, and 51.5% in the primary involvement of the cervical lymph nodes. The primary involvement of intrabdominal and supraclavicular lymph nodes in half of the cases (50%) was associated with B symptoms, in contrast, the onset of lymphoma in the inguinal lymph nodes was associated with B cell symptoms in only 14.3% of patients.

Table 4. Distribution of NHL patients with primary lymph node involvement according to clinical stage and evaluative type of NHL

Disease	Count / %	Evolutive type of NHL		Total	
stage	within disease stage	Aggressive	Indolent		
I	Count	7	0	7	
	%	100.0%	0.0%	100.0%	
II	Count	10	4	14	
	%	71.4%	28.6%	100.0%	
III	Count	8	9	17	
	%	47.1%	52.9%	100.0%	
IV	Count	29	13	42	
	%	69.0%	31.0%	100.0%	
Total	Count	54	26	80	
	%	67.5%	32.5%	100.0%	

Depending on the type of treatment given to patients, the group of patients was subdivided into 2 subgroups: subgroup 1 – subgroup of patients, whose conventional polychemotherapeutic (PChT) treatment (CHOP, COP; FC, etc., in accordance with the provisions of the national clinical protocol) was associated with the administration of rituximab, and subgroup 2 – the subdivision of patients who, for various reasons (medical contraindications, personal allergic history, personal choices of the patient, etc.), followed the treatment only with the use of conventional polychemotherapy. In subgroup 1 (R + PChT) were included 61 (76.3%) patients, and the subgroup 2 (PChT alone) included 19 (23.8%) cases.

Analyzing the treatment efficacy it has been observed that the overall response rate (ORR) in subgroup 1 constituted 86.8%, compared with subgroup 2 where the ORR was equal to 63.1%. Complete remissions (CR) were obtained in subgroup 1 in 63.9% of patients, and in subgroup 2 in 47.3% of cases (fig. 2).

Progression-free survival (PFS) in subgroup 1 had a median of 20 months, and in subgroup 2 the median was 12 months (p=0.001) (fig. 3).



Fig. 2. Effectiveness of treatment within study subgroups. CR – complete remission, PR – partial remission, SD – stable disease, PD – progressive disease



Fig. 3. Kaplan Meier estimates of progression free survival (PFS), within the study subgroups

Discussion

As a result of this study, it was found that NHL with primary lymph node involvement more frequently developed in people aged between 61-70 years (31.25%), and 51-60 years (27.5%), which corresponds to the literature data [3, 14-16]. At the same time, this study confirmed the primary predilection for involvement of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas in the peripheral lymph nodes, with 85% of cases beginning here.

Cervical and supraclavicular lymph node area served as area of origin of tumoral expansion in 41.3% and

17.5%, respectively. Large descriptive studies that have been realized, previously have also shown that the most common sites of involvement are localized in cervical and supraclavicular area. The percentage reported by the literature data varied in the case of primary cervical lymph node involvement ranged from 31 to 37% [17, 18], and the supraclavicular area served as the area of primary involvement in the lymphoma process in 11%, more or less similar to our data [18]. Similarities between data from other scientific articles and our data were also found in case of primary involvement of the axillary lymph nodes (17.5% - our data vs 11.9% in the literature data [18]. Meanwhile, must be paid attention to a slight dissonance in the case of primary involvement of the inguinal lymph nodes. Our data determined a primary involvement of the lymph nodes in 8.8%, while studies show that the groin area is involved in approximately 16.4-18% [17-19]. The correlation of the primary location of the tumor localisation according to the age category did not show discrepancies compared to the general frequency of the primary implications of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, the cervical area remaining predominant. The exception was the age category 18-30 years, in which 50% of the tumor's process onset served the mediastinum area. Similar data regarding the onset of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in correlation to age can be found in several studies of the literature [20-22]. The group of patients was homogeneous, as a confirmation comes the mutual ratio between the percentages of aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphomas vs indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (67.5% vs 32.5%). Epidemiological studies showed similar values in terms of the frequency of detection of aggressive lymphomas (59-65%) vs indolent (35-41%) [16, 23-25]. The correlation between the clinical stage of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and their evolutionary type determines another peculiarity, namely, the only or most aggressive NHLs are determined localized in stages I and II (100% and 71.4% respectively) while in generalized stages the ratio between aggressive NHL vs indolent NHL is more or less equal and constitutes: 47.1% vs 52.9% in clinical stage III and 69.0% vs 31.0% in clinical stage IV. These data can be explained by the earlier addressing of patients with aggressive NHL who have a more overt clinical picture [23].

Treatment with the monocolonal anti-CD-20 antibody, rituximab, increased the overall response rate. Thus, within subgroup 1 there was an ORR of 86.8% compared to subgroup 2 where ORR constituted 63.1%. Specialized analyses performed on various treatment groups in terms of structure and demography provided results comparable to those obtained by us, ORR ranged from 79-92% in treatment groups using rituximab, compared to 57-75% in groups where best available treatment was used [26-30].

PFS in the study subgroup using rituximab in combination with conventional chemotherapy had a median of 20 months (p=0.001) at a 36-month follow-up period. PFS in the subgroup treated with rituximab in our case is slightly shorter compared to previously published data [12, 26, 28]. A possible explanation would be the comorbid status, which required a decrease in the total therapeutic doses of the drugs used.

Conclusions

1. NHL with primary involvement of peripheral lymph nodes developed more often in the age category 61-70 years (31.25%).

2. The onset of NHL occurred more frequently in the peripheral lymph nodes (85.0%), in which the involvement of the cervical lymph nodes predominated (41.3%).

3. The frequency of aggressive NHL was 67.5%. Indolent NHL was diagnosed in 32.5% of cases.

4. The use of rituximab in combination with PChT increased the ORR rate (86.8% compared to 63.1%), the frequency of CR (63.9% as opposed to 47.3%) and PFS (20 months compared to 12 months).

References

- Corcimaru I. Hematologie [Hematology]. Chisinau: Medicina; 2007. 388 p. Romanian.
- Tomacinschii V, Robu M, Buruiana S, Tomacinschii C. IBCL-380: clinical features of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas with primary involvement of peripheral lymph nodes in an elderly population. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2020;20(Suppl 1):S285. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2152-2650(20)30913-7.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017;67(1):7-30. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21387.
- Chiu BC, Hou N. Epidemiology and etiology of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. In: Evens A., Blum K, editors. non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Cham: Springer; 2015. p. 1-25. (Cancer Treatment and Research; vol 165). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-13150-4_1.
- Miranda-Filho A, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Marcos-Gragera R, Steliarova-Foucher E, Bray F. Global patterns and trends in the incidence of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Cancer Causes Control. 2019;30(5):489-499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-019-01155-5.
- 6. Tomacinschii V, Robu M, Corcimaru, I, Musteața L, Buruiana S, Popescu M, Catan C, Chiu M. Aspectele clinice ale limfoamelor non-Hodgkin cu afectare primară a ganglionilor limfatici periferici la persoanele în etate [Clinical aspects of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas with primary involvement of peripheral lymph nodes in the elderly]. [Public Health Econ Manag Med] (Chisinau). 2020;(4/86):40-44. Romanian.
- Zelenetz AD, Gordon LI, Wierda WG, Abramson JS, Advani RH, Andreadis CB, et al. Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, version 4.2014. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2014;12:1282-303. https://doi.org/10.6004/ jnccn.2014.0125.
- Payandeh M, Sadeghi M, Shahriari-ahmadi A, Sadeghi E. The survival of nodal non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients in the West of Iran. Am J Cancer Prev. 2015;3(5):103-105. https://doi.org/10.12691/ajcp-3-5-8.
- Cerny T, Borisch B, Introna M, Johnson P, Rose AL. Mechanism of action of rituximab. Anticancer Drugs. 2002;13 Suppl 2:S3-10. https://doi. org/10.1097/00001813-200211002-00002.
- Weiner GJ. Rituximab: mechanism of action. Semin Hematol. 2010;47(2):115-23. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminhematol.2010.01.011.
- Pavanello F, Zucca E, Ghielmini M. Rituximab: 13 open questions after 20 years of clinical use. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;53:38-46. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.11.015.
- Mohammed R, Milne A, Kayani K, Ojha U. How the discovery of rituximab impacted the treatment of B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. J Blood Med. 2019;10:71-84. https://doi.org/10.2147/JBM.S190784.
- Carbone PP, Kaplan HS, Musshoff K, Smithers DW, Tubiana M. Report of the committee on Hodgkin's disease staging classification. Cancer Res. 1971;31(11):1860-1.

- Tadmor T, Liphshitz I, Silverman B, Polliack A. Incidence and epidemiology of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and risk of second malignancy among 22 466 survivors in Israel with 30 years of follow-up. Hematol Oncol. 2017;35(4):599-607. https://doi.org/10.1002/hon.2302.
- Boffetta PI. Epidemiology of adult non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(Suppl 4):iv27-31. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdr167.
- Skrabek P, Turner D, Seftel M. Epidemiology of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Transfus Apher Sci. 2013;49(2):133-8. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2013.07.014.
- Banfi A, Bonadonna G, Carnevali G, Oldini C, Salvini E. Preferential sites of involvement and spread in malignant lymphomas. Eur J Cancer. 1968;4(3):319-24. doi: 10.1016/0014-2964(68)90058-3.
- Laurent C, Do C, Gourraud PA, De Paiva GR, Valmary S, Brousset P. Prevalence of common non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and subtypes of Hodgkin's lymphoma by nodal site of involvement. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(25):e987. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000000987.
- Pérez GB, Calaf GM, Villalba MTM, Prieto KS, Burgos FC. Frequency of hematologic malignancies in the population of Arica, Chile. Oncol Lett. 2019;18(5):5637-43. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2019.10858.
- 20. Aggarwal R, Rao S, Dhawan S, Bhalla S, Kumar A, Chopra P. Primary mediastinal lymphomas, their morphological features and comparative evaluation. Lung India. 2017;34(1):19-24. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-2113.197115.
- Martelli M, Ferreri A, Di Rocco A, Ansuinelli M, Johnson PWM. Primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2017;113:318-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRITREVONC.2017.01.009.
- 22. Xu L, Zhang S. Mediastinal lymphoma. In: Zhang S, editor. Diagnostic imaging mediastinal diseases. Singapore: Springer; 2021. p. 81-104. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-9930-9_5.
- 23. Smith A, Crouch S, Lax S, Li J, Painter D, Howell D, et al. Lymphoma incidence, survival and prevalence 2004-2014: Sub-type analyses from the UK's Haematological Malignancy Research Network. Br J Cancer. 2015;112(9):1575-84. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2015.94.
- 24. Anderson JR, Armitage JO, Weisenburger DD. Epidemiology of the non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: distributions of the major subtypes differ by geographic locations. Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Classification Project. Ann Oncol. 1998;9(7):717-20. doi: 10.1023/a:1008265532487.
- Lunning MA, Vose JM. Management of indolent lymphoma: where are we now and where are we going. Blood Rev. 2012;26(6):279-88. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.blre.2012.09.004.
- 26. Dotan E, Aggarwal C, Smith MR. Impact of rituximab (Rituxan) on the treatment of B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Pharm Ther. 2010;35(3):148-57.
- 27. Marcus R, Imrie K, Solal-Celigny P, Catalano JV, Dmoszynska A, Raposo JC, et al. Phase III study of R-CVP compared with cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and prednisone alone in patients with previously untreated advanced follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(28):4579-86. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.13.5376.
- 28. Pfreundschuh M, Trümper L, Österborg A, Pettengell R, Trneny M, Imrie K, et al. CHOP-like chemotherapy plus rituximab versus CHOPlike chemotherapy alone in young patients with good-prognosis diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma: a randomised controlled trial by the MabThera International Trial (MInT) Group. Lancet Oncol. 2006;7(5):379-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70664-7.
- 29. Herold M, Haas A, Srock S, Neser S, Al-Ali KH, Neubauer A, et al. Rituximab added to first-line mitoxantrone, chlorambucil, and prednisolone chemotherapy followed by interferon maintenance prolongs survival in patients with advanced follicular lymphoma: an East German Study Group Hematology and Oncology Study. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(15):1986-92. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.4618.
- 30. Van Oers MHJ, Klasa R, Marcus RE, Wolf M, Kimby E, Gascoyne RD, et al. Rituximab maintenance improves clinical outcome of relapsed/ resistant follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in patients both with and without rituximab during induction: results of a prospective randomized phase 3 intergroup trial. Blood. 2006;108(10):3295-301. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2006-05-021113.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Victor Tomacinschii, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5907-1714 Maria Robu, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3228-7566 Sanda Buruiana, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2341-0099 Veronica Finciuc, MD Resident – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2662-7210 Ana Grecu, MD Resident – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4467-8633 Cristina Dudnic, MD Resident – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1904-1596 Dumitrița Urescu, MD Resident – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6711-0402 Marina Suschevici, MD Resident – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8275-9990

Authors' contribution

VT designed the research, reviewed statistics and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript; MR conceptualized the project and designed the research, revised the manuscript critically; SB interpreted the data, revised the manuscript critically; VF, AG, CD, DU and MS collected the data, made statistical analysis. All the authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The trial was the authors' initiative. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The research was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 1 of July 03, 2020).

Conflict of Interests

There is no known conflict of interests and financial or non-financial support associated with this publication.



https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.12 UDC: 616.124.2-008.6:616.74-007.17-053.2



First manifestation and evolution of early left ventricular dysfunction in children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy

*1,2Iulia Rodoman, 3Alexandr Dorif, 1,2Ina Palii, 3Victoria Sacara

¹Department of Pediatrics, Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy ²Cardiology Unit, ³Human Molecular Genetics Laboratory, Institute of Mother and Child Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

The authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees, and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author - Iulia Rodoman, e-mail: iulia.rodoman@gmail.com Manuscript received October 03, 2021; revised manuscript November 10, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Standard pediatric cardiology examinations and echocardiography fail to discover when the cardiomyopathy will occur in patient with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). Noninvasive markers are needed to fill this gap.

Material and methods: This cohort study included a total number of 30 children (21 children (70%) with DMD and 9 (30%) healthy children. Blood samples were used for biochemical (level of creatine kinase, creatine kinase-MB, lactate dehydrogenase) and miRNA (presence of miR133a 3p, miR133b 3p, miR206 3p, miR208a 3p, miR208b 3p) analysis. All patients underwent partial conventional echocardiography ECOCG and Speckle Tracking.

Results: The children in the working group presented compared to healthy children: FCC values increased by 15 (71%) vs 2 (22%), high levels of CK, CK-MB, LDH, which is characteristic for the disease and reflects its stage. Also, there is a decrease in systolic function indicators in the working group: mean FE 59 ± 3.8 %, and GLS: -16.2 ± 3.1%. MiRNA analyses confirmed the presence of miR133a 3p, miR133b 3p, miR208 3p, miR208a 3p, miR208b 3p in both working and control group.

Conclusions: For the first time in the Republic of Moldova, we developed and adapted protocols for RNA extraction from human blood, performing screening of specific miRNA in the serum of patients with DMD and healthy children. Also, altered LV strain notwithstanding a normal or mildly modified LVEF represents an essential viewpoint for prospective pediatric drug trials in DMD-related cardiomyopathy prevention. Key words: Duchenne muscular dystrophy, miRNA, cardiomyopathy, heart failure, qRT-PCR.

Cite this article

Rodoman I, Dorif A, Palii I, Sacara V. First manifestation and evolution of early left ventricular dysfunction in children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Mold Med J. 2021;64(5):62-69. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.12.

Introduction

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is the most frequent and severe form of progressive muscular dystrophy, with an incidence rate of 6.11 per 100000 population according to the data of the National Center for Reproductive Health and Medical Genetics of the Republic of Moldova [1, 2]. DMD is a myogenic disorder due to mutations in the dystrophin gene on the Xp21.1 chromosome [3]. Mutations in this gene cause the absence of dystrophin - a component of the cell membrane complex of skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells and is one of the links between the cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix [4].

According to literature data, Duchenne myodystrophy has a rapid evolution, with severe disability, approximately at 10-15 years of age [5, 6]. In addition, DMD is the second most common lethal human genetic disease globally [7].

Cardiac complications occur in more than 90% of patients with DMD, with 20% of them dying. The fibrotic region of cardiomyocytes will gradually stretch, become thinner, and lose contractility, resulting in dilated cardiomyopathy [8].

Studies show that dilated cardiomyopathy is the leading

cause of death, so it remains a severe problem that affects survival and requires timely behavior management [5, 9, 10]. According to the 2017 TREAT-NMD report, 12% of registered patients (study cohort - 5345 subjects) developed cardiomyopathy [11].

In the case of DMD, cardiomyopathy is usually asymptomatic due to the compensatory mechanisms, which leads to a later manifestation of the symptoms characteristic of heart failure (HF). Therefore, in general, any representation of HF in this group of patients is masked by the severity of myopathic syndrome [12].

So, involvement of the heart in the pathological process in Duchenne myodystrophy has been actively studied since the eighties of the twentieth century [13], the level of early detection of cardiovascular disorders and the prevention of severe complications in patients with hereditary progressive muscular dystrophies remains very low, and the cause of death in most forms of the disease is the involvement of the heart muscle in the pathological process [14, 15].

Studies in recent years, aimed at the treatment and support of people with DMD, seek a high-performance treatment [16]. Current clinical and preclinical therapies are currently based on exon skipping therapies for patients with deletions or duplications of DMD gene exons. Also, there is now a long-term study with Ataluren [17].

So, the prevention of cardiomyopathy holds as one of the most challenging clinical research issues in children with DMD. At the moment, pediatric cardiology examinations, first and foremost echocardiography, fail to discover when and to what level the cardiomyopathy will occur. In addition, most studies have struggled to prove drugs' efficacy on DMD cardiomyopathy incipience and progression rate using conventional echocardiographic measures. The drugs include ACE inhibitors, b-blockers, and corticosteroids. In the modern era, pediatric DMD drug trials require reliable and noninvasive cardiac biomarkers. Unfortunately, currently available tools to evaluate cardiac function may not be precise (blood tests), challenging to perform in pediatric patients (cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging), or too invasive (myocardial biopsy).

The above exacerbates the need to promote researches related to the early diagnosis of heart problems in DMD to determine the treatment tactics, prevent the development of severe cardiovascular disorders, improve quality, and prolong patients' lives [17].

MicroRNAs implicated in the development of the myopathic process and cardiomyopathy

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), such as miRNAs and long non-coding RNAs, are key regulators of post-transcriptional gene expression and represent promising therapeutic targets and biomarkers for several human diseases, including DMD. In some studies, a role for ncRNA has been suggested in the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophies, although it is still incompletely understood. Long and short non-coding RNAs are differentially expressed in DMD and have a mechanism of action through targeted mRNAs. A subgroup of miRNAs, the so-called myomiRs (miR-133, miR-206, miR-208), have increased values in the serum of patients with DMD and animal models with dystrophin deficiency. Interestingly, myomiRs could be used as biomarkers, as their levels can be corrected after dystrophin restoration in dystrophic mice. Additional scientific evidence demonstrates that nRNAs also play a role in dystrophin expression. Thus, their modulation could represent a potential therapeutic strategy to increase dystrophin levels in combination with other gene therapies [18].

Abnormal serum expression of different miRNAs has been associated with oncological, neurodegenerative, cardiovascular, metabolic, and hereditary diseases, suggesting a potential role as a minimally invasive biomarker [19]. MiRNAs selectively involved in muscle pathways and related to muscle dystrophies have been termed dystromies or myomiRs. These include miR-1, miR-133a, miR-133b, miR-31 and miR-206 [20].

MiR-1 and miR-133a are expressed from the exact transcription in skeletal muscle but have different functions [21]. For example, miR-1 promotes myogenesis and terminal differentiation, acting on HDAC4 and connexin-43, while miR-133 enhances myoblast proliferation [22].

The same ncRNA also encodes miR-206 and miR-133b. MiR-206 is specific for skeletal muscle, especially oxidative fibers, and is expressed in the proliferation of myoblasts under negative regulation of TGF- β and myostatin and positive for myogenin [23-25].

The dystrophin gene is the largest in the human genome, containing 79 exons, and comprises 2.6 million base pairs of the genomic sequence, accounting for about 1.5% of the entire X chromosome. Its mutations lead to errors in protein-coding dystrophin.

Defects or absence of dystrophin protein in cardiomyocytes results in DCM by a similar pathway described. Specifically, recent studies have suggested that the absence or mutation of dystrophin disrupts the function of membrane ion channels, especially sarcolemmal stretch-activated channels, which respond to mechanical stress [26-29]. When cardiomyocytes with deficient or mutant dystrophin stretch during ventricular filling, the activated stretching channels do not open properly, increasing calcium influx. High intracellular calcium activates calcium-induced calpain, a group of proteases that will degrade troponin I and compromise cardiomyocyte contraction. The destruction of the Calpain-mediated membrane protein allows more calcium to enter. Finally, chronic calcium overload leads to cardiomyocyte death [28, 29]. Cardiomyocyte death initiates an inflammatory cascade during which macrophages migrate to remove damaged cells and debris [26-29]. After recruiting macrophages, fibroblasts invade the damaged area and form scar tissue or fibrosis in the heart. Fibrotic tissue is very inflexible compared to normal heart tissue and thus restricts the efficiency of myocardial contraction. Fibrosis begins in the LV wall in DMD and the right ventricular wall in BMD, moving epicardium to endocardium. It spreads progressively over most of the outer half of the ventricular wall. This pattern of fibrosis is unique to dystrophinopathy. The fibrotic region will gradually stretch, become thinner, lose contractility and result in DCM. Dilation of the heart increases left ventricular volume, decreases systolic function, and often leads to mitral valve insufficiency, resulting in decreased cardiac output and hemodynamic decompensation. The cardiac phenotype in each DMD or BMD patient results from the particular type of patient with dystrophin gene mutation; however, the relationship between genotype and phenotype remains elusive [26, 27, 29].

According to recent studies, miRNAs can alter cardiac differentiation: proliferation, maturation, and pathological remodeling responses to stress, injury, and abnormal regulatory expression [26, 28, 29]. Several miRNA matrices have been reported in human cardiac tissue, and several have addressed plasma miRNA profiles in HF [30-32].

Tijsen et al. suggested that miR-423-5p was a diagnostic marker for HF [28]. Others have disclosed classes of miR-NAs in the detection of HF. In addition, many studies have identified miRNAs (miR-1, -133, -499, and -208) as signifi-

cantly elevated in acute myocardial infarction (AMI), and a series of meta-analyses were performed to verify the role of miRNAs in the AMI [33]. However, although numerous reports have been published, the impact of miRNA in CI management is still being discussed.

In the study Noviskas R. [33] miR-1, miR-133, miR-145, miR-208, and miR-499 were identified as significant diagnostic and/or prognostic markers in different stages of cardiovascular disease progression. Next miRNAs regulate endothelial function and angiogenesis (miR-1, miR-133), vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation (miR-133, miR-145), communication between vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cell for plaque stabilization (miR-145), and regulates endothelial apoptosis and CMNV (miR-1, miR-133, miR-145, miR-208, miR-499) and represses cardiac hypertrophy (miR-133).

Speckle Tracking Echocardiography

Among the new echocardiography techniques, speckletracking echocardiographic (STE) imaging, or two-dimensional (2D) strain, has emerged as an interesting noninvasive functional biomarker in pediatric cardiology and has also recently been considered in the early detection of DMD cardiomyopathy [34]. STE imaging evaluates myocardial function with a dynamic regionalized analysis of the overall ventricular contraction. This technique measures localized myocardial movements of natural acoustic markers, also called speckles. STE imaging supposedly allows a rapid, precise, and objective segmental and global myocardial function assessment in three longitudinal, radial, and circumferential strain [35]. In addition, several pediatric studies have pointed out the ability of STE analysis to detect preclinical myocardial dysfunction, such as after anthracycline chemotherapy, dilated cardiomyopathy [36], septic shock, ischemic heart disease, and heart transplantation.

Similarly, recent studies with small cohorts or retrospective data suggested that STE strain was altered before the onset of DMD-related cardiomyopathy in animal models and children with DMD [34, 37].

Material and methods

The research results were obtained in 2019-2021 in a prospective cohort study which took place in the Institute of Mother and Child Care, after enrolling 30 subjects: 21 boys diagnosed with DMD recruited from the Register of Neuromuscular Diseases of the Human Molecular Genetics Laboratory and evaluated in the Cardiology Department of the Pediatrics Department of the Institute of Mother and Child and 9 healthy patients recruited from the Republic of Moldova performed routine analyses within the Specialized Integrated Consultative Department of the Mother and Child Institute.

The study was conducted according to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration (Code of Ethics of the Global Medical Association, amended at the 64th General Assembly of the Global Medical Association, Fortaleza, Brazil, in October 2013) for experiments involving humans. All participants in this study expressed informed consent, respecting confidentiality. The Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* University of Medicine and Pharmacy issued a favorable opinion within the doctoral scientific project.

The children in the study were assessed according to an individualized examination protocol. Clinical examination was performed with evaluating the following anthropometric parameters: mass, waist, body mass index, hemodynamics (pulse, blood pressure), and paraclinical investigations.

Blood samples and serums taken in the morning by puncture from the ulnar vein after 12 hours of fasting, without exercise before collecting from each subject, were isolated for biochemical and miRNA analysis. Serum samples were used to determine the level of creatine kinase, creatine kinase-MB, lactate dehydrogenase. Increased values of creatine kinase level will be considered > 308 U / l, creatine kinase-MB> 24 U / l, lactate dehydrogenase for age category 0-1 year > 600 U / l, 2-14 years > 300 U / l, > 15 years> 225 U / l.

The blood samples for miRNA investigation were stored at -80°C until analysis. Then, the presence of miR133a 3p, miR133b 3p, miR206 3p, miR208a 3p, miR208b 3p was appreciated.

Molecular methods of nucleic acid analysis took place in 3 steps: total RNA purification using two different kits, control 18S rRNA presence by RT-qPCR method, and the last one with an appreciation of specific miRNA presence or absence.

All patients underwent partial echocardiography, echocardiographic measurements with the assessment of systolic function (ejection fraction and global longitudinal strain VS) and LV dimensions after the modified Simpson method [38].

The IBM SPSS Statistics program using parametric and nonparametric criteria was used for statistical processing and descriptive analysis.

Results and discussion

The DMD group included nine children aged 4-8 years, nine children aged 9-12 years, 3 children older than 12 years with a mean age of 9 \pm 3.7 years, and the control group included 4, 4, and 1 child respectively but the average age 8 \pm 2.5 years.

The children in the workgroup had an average BMI of $17.5 \pm 3.6 \text{ kg/m}^2$, of which one child was impossible to measure due to immobility. On the other hand, the children in the control group showed an average BMI of $17.9 \pm 2.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$.

In the working group, 6 children did not have the data for increased pulse rate. In 15 children, tachycardia was an indirect indicator of stage I impairment in cardiomyopathies with dystrophin deficiency [39]. Of the patients with DMD – 18 children have already started treatment with GCS, three children have refused treatment with Defal.



Fig. 1. MiRNA profile in children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy

65

	Total ammount	%			
Age					
4-8 years	9	42.9			
9-12 years	9	42.9			
> 12 years	3	14.3			
Median age	9 ± 3.7				
BMI (kg / m2)	17.5	± 3.6			
Cardiovascul	ar symptoms				
No cardiovascular symptoms	11	52.4			
Exercise dyspnea	3	14.3			
Rest dyspnea	1	4.8			
Palpitations	4	19.1			
Weakness	3	14.3			
Tachycardia	15	71.4			
Muscula	ar stage				
0 stage	2	9.5			
1 stage	16	76.1			
2 stages	1	4.8			
3 stages	2	9.5			
Glucocorticosteroids	18	85.7			
Anal	yses				
CK, U/I	10606 ± 7489				
CK-MB, U/I	257 ±	: 173			
LDH, U/I	257 ±	- 509			
Echocardiography					
FE, %	59 ± 3.8				
GLS, %	-16.2 ± 3.1				
Mutation					
Deletion	11	52.4			
Duplication	8	38.1			
Point	2	9.5			

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of DMD children included in the study

The children in the working group presented different stages of the disease: stage 0 (no signs of myopathy) – 2 children, stage 1 (able to walk, impossible to run) – 16 children, stage 2 (impossible to walk) – 1 child, stage 3 (impossible to use hands) – 2 children.

In total, the children in the workgroup presented the increased values of creatine kinase levels – 10606 ± 7489 U / L, CK-MB – 257 ± 173 U / L, LDH – 257 ± 509 U / L, which is characteristic of children with DMD and reflects the stage of the disease.

Different types of mutation were reported in children diagnosed with DMD – 11 children with deletions, 8 children with duplication, and 2 children with point mutation.

The children in the working group presented data on impaired systolic heart function: mean FE 59 \pm 3.8%, and SGL – 16.2 \pm 3.1%.

The presence or absence of miRNA in serum was confirmed by RT and qPCR using specially developed primers for the project.

MiR133a, miR133b, miR206, miR208a, miR208b were detected in healthy children and children with DMD (fig. 1, 2).



Fig. 2. MiRNA profile in healthy children

Discussion

This study was performed among children with DMD presenting no evidence of significant DMD-related cardiomyopathy and without any relevant symptoms of heart failure and with normal or subnormal systolic function on conventional echocardiography.

Global left ventricular 2D strain in boys with DMD was significantly altered with STE analysis before the onset of relevant patterns of cardiomyopathy. This study confirms recently reported preliminary results using evaluation of LV STE strain in patients with DMD. Spurney CF et al. used STE imaging to identify subclinical myocardial dysfunction, showing a decrease in circumferential and longitudinal strain, in a cohort of 33 children with DMD [34]. The retrospective study by Taqatqa A et al. analyzed circumferential and longitudinal STE strain in 19 children with DMD versus 16 control subjects and found similar results, with an even larger magnitude of difference (global longitudinal STE strain, 18.8 \pm 3.0% vs 13.6 \pm 5.0%; p = .001) [37].

So, our results suggest that speckle-tracking analysis in children with DMD is more accurate than conventional echocardiography to identify areas of myocardial dysfunction and, therefore, early cardiomyopathy onset. This tool could help clinicians identify early cardiac dysfunction in this specific population and begin medical therapy at an early stage of the disease.

Thus, the main result of this study, that is, altered LV strain despite a normal or mildly altered ejection fraction, represents an important perspective for future pediatric drug trials in DMD-related cardiomyopathy prevention. Indeed, reliable and noninvasive biomarkers are necessary for pediatric cardiology trials.

After analyzing several specific data, this paper reported the functions of the most important miRNAs in skeletal muscle tissue and their modification in patients with DMD. Attempts to correlate myomiR levels with clinical parameters in patients with DMD have so far produced controversial results. Several studies have reported a negative correlation between myomiRs levels and the patient's age with DMD, similar to the negative correlation observed with serum creatine kinase.

For example, data on elevated levels of ex-myomiR have been reported in younger patients with DMD (age 2-6 years); this could be explained by the fact that, over this age range, patients with DMD experience a period of average childhood growth (and a walking distance of 6 minutes) that can compensate for the degeneration of myofibers. Consequently, serum myomiR levels were significantly higher in outpatients (mean age 8.2 years) than in non-ambulatory patients with DMD (mean age 14 years), probably due to pathological progression and/or higher physical activity. Indeed, exercise in healthy individuals can also increase circulating myomiRs, and serum levels of myomiRs in *mdx* mice are increased after running exercise. In particular, the magnitude of ex-myomiR growth after acute exercise was found to be smaller than that observed for se-

rum creatine kinase, suggesting that measuring ex-myomiR levels is less sensitive to exercise-associated variability than serum creatine kinase [40].

In our study we confirmed the presence of miR133a 3p, miR133b 3p, miR206 3p, miR208a 3p, miR208b 3p in both working and control group, and further studies are needed to check their concentration.

Overall, these studies suggest that myomiR levels are influenced by several factors that contribute to the complex pathology of dystrophin-deficient muscle, such as changes in muscle mass, physical activity, and muscle growth and/ or regeneration. As a result, in elderly patients with advanced pathology, serum levels of myomiR may not be able to monitor disease progression (or response to therapy), as a decrease in their levels may indicate either improved muscle function or a reduction in muscle mass. In contrast, higher serum myomiR may suggest an increase in muscle pathology and degeneration, but may also be a consequence of muscle growth and regeneration and/or more severe physical activity, as has been observed in young patients [41, 42].

Based on the above, miRNAs promise both as a biomarker to improve the diagnosis and monitoring of DMD progression and treatment and as therapeutic targets that can be adjusted to relieve early and advanced DMD symptoms. There is a particular need for a susceptible and minimally invasive method to monitor the progression of symptoms and whether a specific treatment successfully ameliorates the outcomes.

Finally, the circumstances in which miRNAs can and should be administered therapeutically require careful analysis. The progression of DMD symptoms is not the same from one patient to another. This, combined with the fact that miRNA expression and function are tissue-specific, means that miRNAs may perform different tasks in each tissue and may not be an appropriate treatment option in all circumstances. Therefore, miRNAs with potentially opposite roles in different tissues should be further examined before considering them as therapeutic targets in treating tissue-specific symptoms observed in specific cases. Ideally, future studies will strive to combine the detection, administration, or inhibition of miRNA with methods such as exon skipping to improve the diagnosis and management of the pathology [43].

Certainly, randomized and standardized studies are needed to establish the predictive value of miRNA. Summarizing the most promising miRNAs and linking them to target genes involved in the development of cardiovascular pathology could also help in future studies [44].

Conclusions

For the first time, protocols for RNA extraction from human blood have been successfully developed and optimized methods of reverse-transcription and qualitative analysis of miRNAs using a mixture of specific primers in the Human Molecular Genetics Laboratory of the Genetic Center of Excellence. Our screening of miR133a 3p, mir133b 3p, miR206

3p, miR208a 3p, miR208b 3p in the serum of patients with DMD and healthy children will open a new perspective for the analysis variation of microRNA in the blood collected from patients with DMD and the correlation with their circulating levels and the severity of the disease. In children with DMD, global LV 2D strain was significantly decreased for longitudinal displacements before the onset of DMD-related cardiomyopathy. Moreover, children with DMD presented a significant decrease in global LV longitudinal 2D strain with age and disease stage. Altered LV strain notwithstanding a normal or mildly modified LVEF represents an essential viewpoint for prospective pediatric drug trials in DMD-related cardiomyopathy prevention. Further cohort studies need to be performed to confirm that global longitudinal LV 2D strain represents a reliable surrogate endpoint for heart failure in patients with DMD.

References

- D'Amario D, Amodeo A, Adorisio R, Tiziano FD, Leone AM, Perri G, et al. A current approach to heart failure in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Heart. 2017;103(22):1770-9. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311269.
- Sacară V, Leviţchii A, Groppa S, Duca M, Moşin V. Spectrul nozologic al bolilor ereditare ale sistemului nervos şi particularităţile răspîndirii patologiilor neuro-musculare în the Republica Moldova [Nosologic spectrum of hereditary diseases of the nervous system and particulars of neuromuscular pathologies prevalence in Republic of Moldova]. Bul Perinatol. 2012;(3/55):42-9. Romanian.
- Straub V, Mercuri E. Report on the workshop: meaningful outcome measures for Duchenne muscular dystrophy, London, UK, 30–31 January 2017. Neuromuscul Disord. 2018;28(8):690-701. doi: 10.1016/j. nmd.2018.05.013.
- Wang M, Birnkrant DJ, Super DM, Jacobs IB, Bahler RC. Progressive left ventricular dysfunction and long-term outcomes in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy receiving cardiopulmonary therapies. Open Heart. 2018;5(1):e000783. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2018-000783.
- Eagle M, Baudouin SV, Chandler C, Giddings DR, Bullock R, Bushby K. Survival in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: improvements in life expectancy since 1967 and the impact of home nocturnal ventilation. Neuromuscul Disord. 2002;12(10):926-9. doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8966(02)00140-2.
- Gorbunova VN, Savelieva-Vasilieva EA, Krasilnikov VV. [Myotonic dystrophy]. In: Gorbunova VN, et al. [Molecular Neuroscience. Part 1. Diseases of the neuromuscular system]. St. Petersburg: Intermedika; 2000. p. 169-181. Russian.
- Lee TH, Eun LY, Choi JY, Kwon HE, Lee YM, Kim HD, Kang SW. Myocardial atrophy in children with mitochondrial disease and Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Korean J Pediatr. 2014 May;57(5):232-9. doi: 10.3345/kjp.2014.57.5.232.
- Kaspar RW, Allen HD, Montanaro F. Current understanding and management of dilated cardiomyopathy in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2009;21(5):241-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7599.2009.00404.x.
- Spurney C, Shimizu R, Morgenroth LP, Kolski H, Gordish-Dressman H, Clemens PR, et al. Cooperative international neuromuscular research group Duchenne natural history study demonstrates insufficient diagnosis and treatment of cardiomyopathy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Muscle Nerve. 2014;50(2):250-6. doi: 10.1002/mus.24163.
- Barber BJ, Andrews JG, Lu Z, West NA, Meaney FJ, Price ET, et al. Oral corticosteroids and onset of cardiomyopathy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pediatr. 2013;163(4):1080-1084.e1. doi: 10.1016/j. jpeds.2013.05.060.
- 11. Guergueltcheva V, Chan S, Korngut L, Campbell C, Dai Y, Wang J, et al. Clinical outcomes in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a study of 5345 patients from the TREAT-NMD DMD Global Database. J Neuromuscul Dis. 2017;4(4):293-306. doi: 10.3233/JND-170280.

- 12. Groznova OS, Chechuro VV. Lechenie kardiomiopatiei u bol'nykh progressiruiuschimi myshechnymi distrofiiami [Treatment for cardiomyopathies in patients with progressive muscular dystrophies]. Ros Vestn Perinatol Pediatr. 2011;(2):58-62. Russian.
- Nigro G, Politano L, Nigro V, Petretta VR, Comi LI. Mutation of dystrophin gene and cardiomyopathy. Neuromuscul Disord. 1994;4(4):371-9. doi: 10.1016/0960-8966(94)90073-6.
- Finsterer J, Stöllberger C, Keller H. Arrhythmia-related workup in hereditary myopathies. J Electrocardiol. 2012;45(4):376-384. doi: 10.1016/j. jelectrocard.2012.02.003.
- 15. Van Spaendonck-Zwarts KY, Van Rijsingen IAW, Van Den Berg MP, Lekanne Deprez RH, Post JG, Van Mil AM, et al. Genetic analysis in 418 index patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: overview of 10 years' experience. Eur J Heart Fail. 2013;15(6):628-36. doi: 10.1093/ eurjhf/hft013.
- Mendell JR, Rodino-Klapac LR, Sahenk Z, Roush K, Bird L, Lowes LP, et al. Eteplirsen for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Ann Neurol. 2013;74(5):637-47. doi: 10.1002/ana.23982.
- Bourke JP, Bueser T, Quinlivan R. Interventions for preventing and treating cardiac complications in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy and X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;10(10):CD009068. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009068.pub3.
- Brusa R, Magri F, Bresolin N, Comi G Pietro, Corti S. Noncoding RNAs in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies : role in pathogenesis and future prognostic and therapeutic perspectives. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2020;77(21):4299-4313. doi: 10.1007/s00018-020-03537-4.
- Backes C, Meese E, Keller A. Specific miRNA disease biomarkers in blood, serum and plasma: challenges and prospects. Mol Diagn Ther. 2016;20(6):509-18. doi: 10.1007/s40291-016-0221-4.
- 20. McCarthy J. MicroRNA-206: the skeletal muscle-specific myomiR. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1779(11):682-91. doi: 10.1016/j. bbagrm.2008.03.001.
- 21. Eisenberg I, Eran A, Nishino I, Moggio M, Lamperti C, Amato AA, et al. Distinctive patterns of microRNA expression in primary muscular disorders. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2007;104(43):17016-21. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0708115104.
- 22. Chen JF, Mandel EM, Thomson JM, Wu Q, Callis TE, Hammond SM, et al. The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet. 2006;38(2):228-33. doi: 10.1038/ng1725.
- Amirouche A, Jahnke VE, Lunde JA, Koulmann N, Freyssenet DG, Jasmin BJ. Muscle-specific microRNA-206 targets multiple components in dystrophic skeletal muscle representing beneficial adaptations. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2017;312(3):C209-21. doi: 10.1152/ ajpcell.00185.2016.
- 24. Liu N, Williams AH, Maxeiner JM, Bezprozvannaya S, Shelton JM, Richardson JA, et al. microRNA-206 promotes skeletal muscle regeneration and delays progression of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in mice. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(6):2054-65. doi: 10.1172/JCI62656.
- 25. Yuasa K, Hagiwara Y, Ando M, Nakamura A, Takeda S, Hijikata T. MicroRNA-206 is highly expressed in newly formed muscle fibers: implications regarding potential for muscle regeneration and maturation in muscular dystrophy. Cell Struct Funct. 2008;33(22):163-9. doi: 10.1247/csf.08022.
- Bronze-da-Rocha E. MicroRNAs expression profiles in cardiovascular diseases. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:985408. doi: 10.1155/2014/985408.
- Creemers EE, Tijsen AJ, Pinto YM. Circulating microRNAs: novel biomarkers and extracellular communicators in cardiovascular disease? Circ Res. 2012;110(3):483-95. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.247452.
- 28. De Rosa S, Curcio A, Indolfi C. Emerging role of microRNAs in cardiovascular diseases. Circ J. 2014;78(3):567-75. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-14-0086.
- 29. De Rosa R, De Rosa S, Leistner D, Boeckel J-N, Keller T, Fichtlscherer S, et al. Transcoronary concentration gradient of microRNA-133a and outcome in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 2017;120(1):15-24. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.03.264.
- 30. Li S, Zhu J, Zhang W, Chen Y, Zhang K, Popescu LM, et al. Signature microRNA expression profile of essential hypertension and its novel link to human cytomegalovirus infection. Circulation. 2011;124(2):175-84. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.012237

- Thum T, Galuppo P, Wolf C, Fiedler J, Kneitz S, van Laake LW, et al. MicroRNAs in the human heart. Circulation. 2007;116(3):258-67. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.687947.
- 32. Adachi T, Nakanishi M, Otsuka Y, Nishimura K, Hirokawa G, Goto Y, et al. Plasma MicroRNA 499 as a biomarker of acute myocardial infarction. Clin Chem. 2010;56(7):1183-5. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2010.144121.
- 33. Navickas R, Gal D, Laucevičius A, Taparauskaitė A, Zdanytė M, Holvoet P. Identifying circulating microRNAs as biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. Cardiovasc Res. 2016;111(4):322-37. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvw174.
- 34. Spurney CF, McCaffrey FM, Cnaan A, Morgenroth LP, Ghelani SJ, Gordish-Dressman H, et al. Feasibility and reproducibility of echocardiographic measures in children with muscular dystrophies. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2015;28(8):999-1008. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2015.03.003.
- 35. Cameli M, Mandoli GE, Lisi E, Ibrahim A, Incampo E, Buccoliero G, et al. Left atrial, ventricular and atrio-ventricular strain in patients with subclinical heart dysfunction. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;35(2):249-58. doi: 10.1007/s10554-018-1461-7.
- 36. Friedberg MK, Slorach C. Relation between left ventricular regional radial function and radial wall motion abnormalities using two-dimensional speckle tracking in children with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol. 2008;102(3):335-9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2008.03.064.
- 37. Taqatqa A, Bokowski J, Al-Kubaisi M, Khalil A, Miranda C, Alaksham H, et al. The use of speckle tracking echocardiography for early detection of

myocardial dysfunction in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Pediatr Cardiol. 2016;37(8):1422-8. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1451-2.

- 38. Vdovenko DV, Libis RA. [The myocardial deformation and diastolic function of the left ventricle in patients with heart failure with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction]. Arter Hypertens (Russian Fed). 2018;24(1):74-80. Russian. https://doi.org/10.18705/1607-419X-2018-24-1-74-80.
- 39. Fayssoil A, Abasse S, Silverston K. Cardiac involvement classification and therapeutic management in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Neuromuscul Dis. 2017;4(1):17-23. doi: 10.3233/JND-160194.
- 40. Nguyen-Tran D-H, Hait NC, Sperber H, Qi J, Fischer K, Ieronimakis N, et al. Molecular mechanism of sphingosine-1-phosphate action in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dis Model Mech. 2014;7(1):41-54. doi: 10.1242/dmm.013631.
- Kim HK, Lee YS, Sivaprasad U, Malhotra A, Dutta A. Muscle-specific microRNA miR-206 promotes muscle differentiation. J Cell Biol. 2006;174(5):677-87. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200603008.
- 42. Llano-Diez M, Ortez CI, Gay JA, Álvarez-Cabado L, Jou C, Medina J, et al. Digital PCR quantification of miR-30c and miR-181a as serum biomarkers for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord. 2017;27(1):15-23. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2016.11.003.
- Hrach HC, Mangone M. miRNA profiling for early detection and treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(18):4638. doi: 10.3390/ijms20184638.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Iulia Rodoman, MD, Master in Molecular Biology, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0982-2281 Alexandr Dorif, Master in Chemistry and Molecular Biology – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4269-4066 Ina Palii, MD, PhD, Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4320-2951 Victoria Sacara, MD, PhD, Associate Professor – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9200-0494

Authors' contribution

IR conducted a literature review, collected the data, wrote the first manuscript, and interpreted the statistical data. IP conceptualized the idea and critically revised the manuscript. AD and VS conducted/performed the laboratory work, revised and approved the final text.

Funding

The study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 6 of October 30, 2019). Informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

Conflict of Interests

The authors have no conflict of interests to declare.



69

doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.13 UDC: 612.015+616-092.9



Erythrocytic antioxidant system in the administration of new coordination compounds thiosemicarbazide derivatives

*1Valeriana Pantea, 1Marina Gamaniuc, 2Veaceslav Popa

¹Laboratory of Biochemistry, ²Department of Biochemistry and Clinical Biochemistry Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees and contribution are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Valeriana Pantea, e-mail: valeriana.pantea@usmf.md Manuscript received October 15, 2021; revised manuscript November 18, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Currently, there is a growing interest in new local coordination compounds (CC), which demonstrated antitumor properties, but their influence on the erythrocyte antioxidant system has not been studied. The aim of the study: to study the effects of CC, thiosemicarbazide derivatives –TIA-160, CMT-67 and CMJ-33 on indices of the antioxidant system indicators in erythrocytes peripheral blood *in vivo* experiments.

Material and methods: The action of CC on superoxide dismutase, catalase, total antioxidant capacity was evaluated on a group of 34 white rats, randomly divided into 4 groups: the first control group was injected subcutaneously with saline. The other groups (2 - TIA-160, 3 - CMT-67 and 4 - CMJ-33) were given subcutaneously 3 times a week for 30 days, 0.1μ M / kg CC.

Results: It was established that the TIA-160 compound demonstrated the highest capacity to induce the expression of erythrocyte catalase that exceeded the control level of 1.8, which did not correlate with the enzymatic superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity. Thus, this study showed that there are differences in the mechanisms of action of thiosemicarbazone derivatives.

Conclusions: The influence of tested CC on the indices of the antioxidant system is selective. This selectivity may be the base to their strong selective antiproliferative and cytotoxic action on tumor cells, but not on healthy ones. **Key words:** coordination compounds, erythrocytes, antioxidant enzymes.

Cite this article

Pantea V, Gamaniuc M, Popa V. Eritrocytic antioxidant system in the administration of new coordination compounds thiosemicarbazide derivatives. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):70-75. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.13.

Introduction

Extensive research over the past two decades has revealed the mechanism by which continuous oxidative stress can lead to chronic inflammation, which can lead to a lot of chronic diseases, including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular, neurological and lung diseases. Oxidative stress can activate a variety of transcription factors. Activation of these transcription factors can lead to the expression of over 500 different genes, including those for growth factors, inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, cell cycle regulatory molecules and anti-inflammatory molecules. The way that oxidative stress activates the inflammatory pathways leads to the transformation of a normal cell into tumor cells, tumor cell survival, and proliferation, chemoresistance, radioresistance, invasion, angiogenesis, and stem cell survival is the focus of this review. In general, observations to date suggest that oxidative stress, chronic inflammation and cancer are closely linked. The generation of reactive oxygen radicals in mammalian cells profoundly affects many critical cellular functions, and the absence of effective cellular detoxification mechanisms that eliminate these radicals can lead to more human diseases.

Growing evidence suggests that reactive oxygen species

(ROS) in cells act as the second messenger in intracellular signaling cascades that induce and maintain the oncogenic phenotype of cancer cells. ROS are tumorigenic due to their ability to increase cell proliferation, survival, cell migration and also by inducing deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage, leading to genetic lesions that initiate tumorigenicity and support subsequent tumor progression. However, it is also known that ROS can induce cell senescence and cell death and therefore function as antitumorigenic agents. Therefore, the mechanisms by which cells respond to reactive oxygen species depend on the molecular background of cells and tissues, the location of ROS production, and the concentration of individual ROS species. Carcinoma cells produce ROS at high rates in vitro and in vivo, many tumors appear persistent to oxidative stress. Thus, the finding that a diet rich in antioxidants or the elimination of ROS by antioxidant compounds prevents the development of certain types of cancer, provided the framework for further investigation of the tumorigenic actions of reactive oxygen species. This review presents current knowledge on the different roles of ROS in tumor development and progression.

Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between the production of free radicals and reactive metabolites, so-cal-

led oxidants or ROS and their elimination through protective mechanisms, called antioxidants. This imbalance leads to the deterioration of biomolecules and important cells, with a potential impact on the whole organism [1]. ROS are products of a normal cellular metabolism and play vital roles in stimulating signaling pathways in plant and animal cells in response to changes in intra and extracellular environmental conditions [2]. Most ROS are generated in mitochondrial respiratory chain cells [3]. During endogenous metabolic reactions, aerobic cells produce ROS, such as superoxide anion (O2-), hydrogen peroxide (H,O,), hydroxyl radical (OH•) and organic peroxides as normal products of the biological reduction of molecular oxygen [4]. The transfer of electrons to molecular oxygen takes place in the respiratory chain, and the electron transport chains located in the membranes of mitochondria [5, 6]. Under hypoxic conditions, the mitochondrial respiratory chain also produces nitric oxide (NO), which can generate other reactive nitrogen species (RNS). RNS can further generate other reactive species, for example, reactive aldehydes-malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE), by inducing excessive lipid peroxidation [7]. Proteins and lipids are also significant targets for oxidative attack, and modifying these molecules may increase the risk of mutagenesis [8].

The adverse biological activities of thiosemicarbazone (TSC) and Schiff base derivatives (SBD) have been widely studied in rats and other animal species, using different doses and routes of administration. However, there are few studies describing changes *in vivo* biochemical parameters that indicate the antioxidant system and oxidative stress in biological systems and morphological changes in tissues. In this study, rats were injected subcutaneously with thiosemicarbazone coordination compounds containing Schiff bases.

The aim of this study is to determine the effect of TSC coordination compounds on changes in the erythrocyte antioxidant system in rats that can be used to determine the efficacy of new indigenous preparations.

Material and methods

The research was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 73 of 26.04.2017).

The study included new local copper coordination CC, thiosemicarbazide derivatives – TIA-160, CMT-67 and CMJ-33, synthesized at the State University of Moldova in the Laboratory of Advanced Materials in the Biopharmaceutical and Technical Field, under the supervision of Aurelian Gulea [9].

The action of local CC on the antioxidant system was evaluated in experiments on a group of 34 white male rats of the Wistar line weighing 180 - 230 g, divided into 4 groups of 8-9 animals each. The first group – the control, consisted of 8 animals, maintained on a regular diet of vivarium and which were injected subcutaneously 3 times a week saline for 30 days.

Animals in experimental groups 2-4 were given subcutaneous CC 3 times a week for 30 days, over 30 days in the following sequence: group 2 – TIA-160 (0.1 μ M / kg), lot 3 – CMT-67 (0.1 μ M / kg) and lot 4 – CMJ-33 (0.1 μ M / kg).

After 24 hours from the expiration of the experiments, blood was collected to evaluate the parameters of the antioxidant system. The erythrocyte mass, obtained after decanting the blood serum, was washed twice with saline.

Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in erythrocytes was assessed using the methodology described by Pellegrini N., Ying M., Rice-Evans C., adapted to the multimodal rider with Synergy H1 Hydrid Reader plates (BioTek Instruments, USA) [10].

This method has been reported as a discoloration assay, applicable to both lipophilic and hydrophilic antioxidants. The preformed radical cation of 2,2'-azinobis- (3-ethylben-zothiazolin-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS*+) is generated by the oxidation of ABTS with potassium persulfate and is reduced in the presence of such hydrogen-donating antioxidants. The influences of both, the antioxidant concentration and the duration of the reaction on the inhibition of radical cationic absorption have been taken into account in determining the total antioxidant capacity.

Catalase Assay Kit and superoxide dismutase activity were performed using reagent kits obtained from local firms and performed according to the attached protocol.

The statistical evaluation of the obtained data was performed with the use of the computer program StatsDirect. The arithmetic mean \pm error of the mean (M \pm m) was calculated. The nonparametric statistical test "U Mann-Whitney" and the significance threshold "p" (p <0.05) were used to test the significant difference between the studied indices of the compared groups.

Results

The evaluation results of the antioxidant system indices: TAC with ABTS, CAT and SOD in erythrocytes when administering autochthonous CCs are presented in the statistics in table 1.

Groups of	TAC with ABTS	Catalase,	SOD, unit
study	mM/g.Hb	µM/s.g.Hb	conv /g.Hb
Contol group	38.53±1.35	18.80±0.86	6.72±0.42
	(100%)	(100%)	(100%)
TIA-160	36.08±0.84	33.23±1.77***	7.12±0.47
0.1 μM / kg	(94%)	(177%)	(106%)
CMT-67	29.09±0.68***	23.69±3.23**	5.21±0.48**
0.1 μM / kg	(75%)	(126%)	(78%)
CMG-33	36.58±1.02	27.66±1.81***	6.39±0.52
0.1 μM / kg	(95%)	(147%)	(95%)

Table 1. Influence of autochthonous CCs, thiosemicarbazide derivatives, on the indices of the antioxidant system in erythrocytes TAC with ABTS

Note: * – statistically significant difference with the control group (* – p<0.05; ** – p<0.01; *** – p<0.001).

The animals exposed to the action of CC, thiosemicarbazone derivatives demonstrated a significant increase in erythrocyte catalase activity exceeding 1.3 - 1.8 times the control values.

It was established that the compound TIA-160 (0.1 μ M/kg) showed a tendency to increase the activity of TAC and catalase by 39-51% compared to the control group, and SOD was found to be maintained within the control group.

The study reveals that SOD decreases statistically conclusively by 15% (p<0.05) at the administration of the compound CMT-67 (0.1 μ M/kg), and the total antioxidant activity decreases by 25%, at the same time, the function of erythrocyte catalase in this case increases truthfully by 26%. After the administration of the compound CMG-33 the CAT level increases by 47%, the changes of the TAC content and of the SOD activity in this case proved to be inconclusive, these remaining within the limits of the values registered in the control group.

Discussion

In this study, was analyzed the activity of the antioxidant system in erythrocytes in laboratory animals subjected to the action of native CCs, thiosemicarbazide derivatives. TSC derivatives were in the focus of chemists and biologists due to their wide range of pharmacological effects. TSC derivatives showed highly effective antitumor properties in various types of tumors (leukemia, pancreatic cancer, breast, lung, cervical cancer, and prostate and bladder cancer). To obtain a better activity, different series of TSCs were developed by modifying the heteroaromatic system in their molecules. Thus, the antineoplastic activity became significant at the attachment of the side chain carbonyl at the α position to the ring nitrogen atom, while the attachment of the β or γ side chain to the N heterocyclic atom led to inactive antitumor agents [11].

Studies in recent years have provided increasing evidence of the fundamental importance of copper for the formation and functioning of several enzymes and proteins, such as Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase, or cytochrome C oxidase, which are involved in superoxide oxygen neutralization processes, in tissue respiration, energy metabolism and DNA synthesis. The coordinating compounds of copper have been shown to be promising antitumor therapeutic agents that act through various mechanisms [12].

Acting to protect the body against certain harmful prooxidants, in this study was evaluated a complex system of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants, which included the determination of superoxide dismutase, catalase and total antioxidant capacity.

In this study were obtained significantly low levels of TAC and SOD activity, compared to the control group, at the administration of compound CMT-67, while the values of these indices under the influence of the other compounds studied did not have any changes with statistical significance.

The animals exposed to the action of CC, thiosemicar-

72

bazone derivatives were found to have a significant increase in erythrocyte calalase activity that exceeded 1.3-1.8 times the control values, and the compound TIA-160 (0.1 μ M/kg) shows the highest capacity to induce erythrocyte catalase expression. This indicates existence of an excessive synthesis of CAT after exposure to these compounds, a very important fact, established by us for the first time. On the other hand, this study showed that there are differences in the mechanisms of action of thiosemicarbazide derivatives. The significance and importance of the phenomenon of catalase induction by CC, thiosemicarbazide derivatives emerge from the wide possibilities of application of these inducers in practice. Thus, these inducers could be used as promising remedies for the treatment and prevention of renal fibrosis induced by catalase deficiency [13], or the treatment of some forms of infertility, because catalase has been detected in the oocytes of mice, where it probably plays the role of protecting the genome from oxidative damage during meiotic maturation [14].

Taking into consideration the capacity of the thiosemicarbazide derivatives so easily penetrate the blood-brain barrier, along with their stability in the bloodstream, they may be used for the development of new effective methods for early diagnosis of severe infections of the brain, such as brain tumors and their metastasis, as well as visualization of A β plaques of Alzheimer's disease.

Similarly, catalase could be extremely useful for the development of effective therapy of brain and neurological disorders, proceeding from the fact that the catalase activity in the brain is extremely low compared to other tissues and organs, such as the liver and kidneys. The results of some studies reveal the importance of transient receptor potential (TRP) channels as a key component of the neurological pathway of Ca²⁺ ion entry in response to the harmful action of ROS. Explorers' data suggest that catalase may act effectively by suppressing the TRP channel activated by oxidative stress, showing protective effects on neuronal mitochondrial function and neuronal survival [15]. Catalase could also be extremely useful in the future for the development of effective therapies for neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease, as well as sensory pain, as the decrease in catalase activity by oxidative stress plays an important role in the etiopathogenesis of diseases mentioned above.

It has been established that catalase expression is also altered in cancer cells, which promotes cell proliferation by inducing genetic instability and activating oncogenes. Regulation of catalase expression is to be controlled primarily at transcriptional levels, although other mechanisms may be involved. In addition to transcription factors, such as Sp1 and NF-Y, transcription factors JunB and RAR α are crucial regulators in breast cancer cells by recruiting proteins involved in transcriptional complexes and chromatin remodeling. Therefore, catalase may be an attractive therapeutic target in the context of cancer [16].

Under normal conditions the harmful effect of SOD is in balance with the antioxidant system. Antioxidant systems
work together, not in isolation, because there are interactions between hydrophilic and lipophilic antioxidants.

SODs were the first antioxidant enzymes characterized [17]. Three different types of SOD are expressed in cells: cytosolic copper-zinc SOD (Cu-ZnSOD), mitochondrial Mn-SOD and extracellular SOD – SOD (EC-SOD), all of which are able to disperse two O_2 – anions to H_2O_2 and molecular oxygen. Catalase is then responsible for detoxifying H_2O_2 into oxygen and water. These enzymes have specific distributions and functions. Their importance lies in protecting the tissues from the harmful action of various oxidants – oxygen free radicals [18].

The function attributed to catalase is dismutation of H_2O_2 into oxygen and water, which is very important in the defense of cells against oxidative damage by H_2O_2 . Hydrogen peroxide is not only toxic by its ability to form other ROS, such as the hydroxyl radical by the Fenton reaction, but H_2O_2 can act as a second messenger, being involved in multiple physiological and pathophysiological processes [19]. In addition, catalase can also act as a peroxidase, thus contributing to the metabolism of small substrates, such as methanol, ethanol, azide, hydroperoxides and, in the case of ethanol, is able to oxidize it to acetaldehyde, contributing to its metabolism in the liver. Thus, catalase may have additional roles, such as detoxification or activation of toxic and antitumor compounds.

In general, endogenous and physiological reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated mainly in the process of oxidative reaction of the mitochondrial respiratory chain as by-products of normal cellular metabolism [20]. ROS have a comprehensive influence on cell physiology. Moderate amounts of ROS have positive effects, which include the destruction of invasive pathogens, wound healing and repair processes [21].

It is generally accepted that the cellular maintenance of redox homeostasis is controlled by a complex network of antioxidant enzymes (superoxide dismutases and glutathione peroxidases) whose expression is under the control of finetuning the Keap1-Nrf2 signaling pathway [22]. However, the molecular mechanisms that regulate the expression of catalase – the oldest known and discovered antioxidant enzyme – are independent of this pathway and are not fully elucidated, which would allow a new approach to modulate the antioxidant status in cancer cells in particular, in cases where its expression decreases [23]. Although the mechanisms that control catalase expression have been partially elucidated, low catalase expression in cancer cells remains an unanswered question. Under stress, the antioxidant enzyme catalase plays a major role in detoxifying H₂O₂.

As it is known, oxidative stress is an imbalance between the production of ROS and their elimination through multiple protection mechanisms, the activation of which can lead to chronic inflammation. Oxidative stress can activate a variety of transcription factors, which lead to the differential expression of genes involved in inflammatory pathways. Moreover, the levels of secondary messengers, such as cGMP, cAMP, protein kinases and calcium ions, transcription factors such as NF- κ B, AP-1, protooncogenes and some enzymes (iNOS, COX-2, proteases), cytokines and growth factors (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , PDGF, VEGF, FGF-b, TGF-b, etc.) are known to be central in inflammatory processes. Thus, chronic inflammation is induced by biological, chemical and physical factors and is in turn associated with an increased risk of several types of human cancer and chronic diseases. The link between inflammation and cancer has been suggested by epidemiological and experimental data [24, 25] and confirmed by anti-inflammatory therapies that show efficacy in cancer prevention and treatment [26].

The fact that continuous irritation for long periods of time can lead to cancer has already described in the traditional Ayurvedic medical system (i.e. the science of long life), written 5000 years ago [27]. Whether this irritation is the same as what Rudolf Virchow called inflammation in the nineteenth century is uncertain. Rudolf Virchow first noted that inflammatory cells are present in tumors and that tumors occur in places of chronic inflammation [28]. This inflammation is considered a "secret killer" for diseases such as cancer. For example, inflammatory bowel disease, such as Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, is associated with an increased risk of colonic adenocarcinoma [29, 30], and chronic pancreatitis is associated with an increased rate of pancreatic cancer.

The exact mechanisms by which a wound healing process turns into cancer are the subject of intensive research [31], and possible mechanisms include induction of genomic instability, changes in epigenetic events and subsequent inappropriate gene expression, increased cell proliferation, resistance in apoptosis, aggressive tumor neo-vascularization, tumor-associated basement membrane invasion, and metastasis [32]. The way of oxidative stress modulates these different stages of inflammation-induced carcinogenesis is currently the subject of in-depth research. Sources of inflammation are widespread and include microbial and viral infections, exposure to allergens, radiation and toxic chemicals, autoimmune and chronic diseases, obesity, alcohol consumption, tobacco use, and a high-calorie diet [33].

In general, the longer the inflammation persists, the higher risk of cancer. There are two stages of inflammation, acute and chronic inflammation. Acute inflammation is an initial stage of inflammation (innate immunity), which is mediated by activating the immune system. This type of inflammation persists only for a short time and is usually beneficial to the host. If the inflammation lasts for a longer period of time, the second stage of inflammation or chronic inflammation sets in and may predispose the host to various chronic diseases, including cancer. During inflammation, mast cells and leukocytes are recruited at the site of injury, leading to a "respiratory explosion" due to increased oxygen uptake and thus increased release and accumulation of ROS at the site of injury [34].

Indigenous CCs are compounds with antioxidant properties, therefore they could manifest potential anti-inflammatory, antineoplastic, antiaging, antimicrobial and antiviral properties. Thus, they can find wide application in various pathological conditions and processes.

Further clarification and understanding of involved mechanisms will allow more precise definition of situations where local CC administration will prove beneficial. Such an investigation may also be useful for the development of new compounds with beneficial effects in the medication and prevention of multifactorial diseases.

Conclusions

The most informative biomarkers of antioxidant system functionality have been estimated and selected to assess the level of oxidative stress in erythrocytes on experimental exposure by administering native CCs to laboratory animals and which can be used to determine the efficacy of new native preparations.

The influence of tested CC on the indices of the antioxidant system is selective. This selectivity may be the basis of their strong selective antiproliferative and cytotoxic action on tumor cells, but not on healthy ones.

The elucidation of the molecular mechanisms underlying the action of CC broadens the theoretical knowledge about the biological properties of a number of chemical compounds and, at the same time, offers new possibilities to explore perspective objects in order to obtain new effective drug preparations.

References

- 1. Durackova Z. Some current insights into oxidative stress. Physiol Res. 2010;59(4):459-469. doi: 10.33549/physiolres.931844.
- 2. Jabs T. Reactive oxygen intermediates as mediators of programmed cell death in plants and animals. Biochem Pharmacol. 1999;57(3):231-245. doi: 10.1016/s0006-2952(98)00227-5.
- Poyton RO, Ball KA, Castello PR. Mitochondrial generation of free radicals and hypoxic signaling. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2009;20(7):332-340. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2009.04.001.
- Fridovich I. The biology of oxygen radicals. Science. 1978;201:875-880. doi: 10.1126/science.210504.
- Goossens V, De Vos K, Vercammen D, Steemans M, Vancompernolle K, Fiers W, Vandenabeele P, Grooten J. Redox regulation of TNF signaling. Biofactors. 1999;10(2-3):145-156. doi: 10.1002/biof.5520100210.
- Goossens V, Grooten J, De Vos K, Fiers W. Direct evidence for tumor necrosis factor-induced mitochondrial reactive oxygen intermediates and their involvement in cytotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1995;92(18):8115-8119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.18.8115.
- Hussain SP, Hofseth LJ, Harris CC. Radical causes of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(4):276-285. doi: 10.1038/nrc1046.
- Schraufstatter I, Hyslop PA, Jackson JH, Cochrane CG. Oxidant-induced DNA damage of target cells. J Clin Invest. 1988;82(3):1040-1050. doi: 10.1172/JCI113660.
- 9. Gulea A, Tsapkov V, Poirier D, et al. [Sulfanylcontaning copper (II) internal complexes with 2-[(2-hydroxifenilamino)-methyl]- fenol and 1-[(2-hy-droxifenilamino)-methyl]-naftalene-2-ol]. [Russ J General Chem]. 2010;40(3):212-218. Russian.
- Gudumac V, Rîvneac V, Tagadiuc O, et al. Metode de cercetare a metabolismului hepatic: elaborare metodică [Methods of research of hepatic metabolism: methodical elaboration]. Chisinau: Tehnica-Info, 2012. 162 p. Romanian.
- Shakya B, Yadav PN. Thiosemicarbazones as potent anticancer agents and their modes of action. Mini Rev Med Chem. 2020;20(8):638-661. doi: 10.2174/1389557519666191029130310.

74

- Krasnovskaya O, Naumov A, Guk D, et al. Copper coordination compounds as biologically active agents. Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Jun;21(11):3965. doi: 10.3390/ijms 21113965.
- 13. Kobayashi M, Sugiyama H, Wang DH, et al. Catalase deficiency renders remnant kidneys more susceptible to oxidant tissue injury and renal fibrosis in mice. Kidney Int. 2005;68(3):1018-1031. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00494.x.
- 14. Park YS, You SY, Cho S, Jeon HJ, Lee S, Cho DH, Kim JS, Oh JS. Eccentric localization of catalase to protect chromosomes from oxidative damages during meiotic maturation in mouse oocytes. Histochem Cell Biol. 2016;146(3):281-288. doi: 10.1007/s00418-016-1446-3.
- 15. Nazıroğlu M. Molecular role of catalase on oxidative stress-induced Ca²⁺ signaling and TRP cation channel activation in nervous system. J Recept Signal Transduct Res. 2012;32(3):134-141. doi: 10.3109/10799893.2012.672994.
- 16 Glorieux C, Calderon PB. Catalase, a remarkable enzyme: targeting the oldest antioxidant enzyme to find a new cancer treatment approach. Biol Chem. 2017;398(10):1095-1108. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2017-0131.
- 17. Schetter AJ, Heegaard NH, Harris CC. Inflammation and cancer: interweaving microRNA, free radical, cytokine and p53 pathways. Carcinogenesis. 2010;31(1):37-49. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp272.
- Sies H. Hydrogen peroxide as a central redox signaling molecule in physiological oxidative stress: oxidative eustress. Redox Biol. 2017;11:613-619. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2016.12.035.
- He L, He T, Farrar S, Ji L, Liu T, Ma X. Antioxidants Maintain Cellular Redox Homeostasis by Elimination of Reactive Oxygen Species. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2017;44(2):532-553. doi: 10.1159 / 000485089.
- 20. Bhattacharyya A, Chattopadhyay R, Mitra S, Crowe SE. Oxidative stress: an essential factor in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal mucosal diseases. Physiol Rev. 2014;94(2):329-354. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00040.2012.
- 21. Menegon S, Columbano A, Giordano S. The dual roles of Nrf2 in cancer. Trends Mol Med. 2016;22(7):578-593. doi: 10.1016/j.mol-med.2016.05.002.
- 22. Cullen JJ, Mitros FA, Oberley LW. Expression of antioxidant enzymes in diseases of the human pancreas: another link between chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. Pancreas. 2003;26(1):23-27. doi: 10.1097/00006676-200301000-00005.
- Bartsch H, Nair J. Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in the genesis and perpetuation of cancer: role of lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, and repair. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2006;391(5):499-510. doi: 10.1007/s00423-006-0073-1.
- 24. Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell. 2010;140(6):883-899. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025.
- Grivennikov SI, Karin M. Inflammation and oncogenesis: a vicious connection. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2010;20(1):65-71. doi: 10.1016/j. gde.2009.11.004.
- 26. Garodia P, Ichikawa H, Malani N, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB. From ancient medicine to modern medicine: ayurvedic concepts of health and their role in inflammation and cancer. J Soc Integr Oncol. 2007;5(1):25-37. doi: 10.2310/7200.2006.029.
- 27. Aggarwal BB, Gehlot P. Inflammation and cancer: how friendly is the relationship for cancer patients? Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2009;9(4):351-369. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2009.06.020.
- Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Increased risk of largebowel cancer in Crohn's disease with colonic involvement. Lancet. 1990;336:357-359. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)91889-i.
- 29. Gillen CD, Walmsley RS, Prior P, Andrews HA, Allan RN. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a comparison of the colorectal cancer risk in extensive colitis. Gut. 1994;35(11):1590-1592. doi: 10.1136/ gut.35.11.1590.
- Ekbom A, McLaughlin JK, Nyren O. Pancreatitis and the risk of pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 1993;329(20):1502-1503. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199311113292016.
- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. 2002;420:860-867. doi: 10.1038/nature01322.
- 32. Kundu JK, Surh YJ. Inflammation: gearing the journey to cancer. Mutat Res. 2008;659(1-2):15-30. doi: 10.1016/j.mrrev.2008.03.002. 33.

Aggarwal BB, Vijayalekshmi RV, Sung B. Targeting inflammatory pathways for prevention and therapy of cancer: short-term friend, long-term foe. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(2):425-430. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0149. Lin WW, Karin M. A cytokine-mediated link between innate immunity, inflammation, and cancer. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(5):1175-1183. doi: 10.1172/JCI31537.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Valeriana Pantea, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8835-6612 Marina Gamaniuc, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7662-0973 Veaceslav Popa, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3139-2652

Authors' contribution

VP designed the research, reviewed statistics and interpreted the data, revised the data and drafted the manuscript; MG conceptualized the project and designed the research, drafted the manuscript; VP conducted/ perfomed the laboratory work, revised the manuscript critically. All the authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The trial was the authors' initiative; the authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The research protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (protocol No 73 of 26.04.2017) and the tests have been done according to the contemporary principals in biological standardization of experiences and Declaration of Helsinki with further amendments (Somerset West Amendment, 1996).

Conflict of Interests

No competing interests were disclosed.



75

REVIEW ARTICLES

https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.14 UDC: 546.27:616.71/.72



The role of boron in the functioning of the osteoarticular system

*1Maria-Victoria Racu, ²Ion Romulus Scorei, ¹Iurie Pinzaru

¹National Agency for Public Health, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova ²BioBoron Research Institute, Craiova, Romania

Authors' ORCID iDs, academic degrees, and contributions are available at the end of the article

*Corresponding author – Maria-Victoria Racu, e-mail: maria.victoria.racu@gmail.com Manuscript received June 26, 2021; revised manuscript November 04, 2021; published online November 26, 2021

Abstract

Background: Boron was classified by the World Health Organization as 'possible essential elements for human health'. It can be found in different forms in the environment, has beneficial effects on bones and its deprivation can impair calcium and magnesium metabolism and bone development, their health and maintenance. Dietary boron supplementation can help prevent and manage degenerative and inflammatory bones and articular diseases, such as arthritis, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and osteoporosis. Relevant articles were identified in PubMed, Google Scholar, ProQuest, and Scopus databases published until June 2021, describing the role of boron in the functioning of the osteoarticular system.

Conclusions: From organic and inorganic boron forms that can enter the human body, organic plant based boron compounds are highly bioavailable. In the functioning of the osteoarticular system boron acts by regulation of calcium and magnesium metabolism, enhancing the vitamin D activation process and influencing serum steroid hormone levels. A boron intake equal to or higher than 3 mg per day can help prevent/or correct arthritis, osteoporosis and osteoarthritis. Calcium fructoborate can reduce pain, joint discomfort and increase endogenous vitamin D level in patients with osteoarthritis. Boron may play a role in pathophysiology of rheumatoid arthritis and its severity and a supplementation with boron element may be useful. **Key words:** boron, boron containing compounds, osteoarticular system, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis.

Cite this article

Racu M-V, Scorei IR, Pinzaru I. The role of boron in the functioning of the osteoarticular system. *Mold Med J.* 2021;64(5):76-80. https://doi.org/10.52418/moldovan-med-j.64-5.21.14.

76

Introduction

It is supposed that trace element boron (B) is essential for human health. There is, however, clear evidence that dietary intakes of this element are beneficial to humans. In humans, boron deprivation impairs calcium metabolism and bone health as well as brain function and energy metabolism [1].

B, which was described as a trace element until 1980, was included in the class of 'possible essential elements for human health' by the World Health Organization (WHO). There is also evidence that boron plays a role in the maintenance of healthy bones and joints. It has beneficial effects on bones, especially trabecular and alveolar ones, in ways they are independent of any other nutritional stressor [2].

Following the existing findings, boron is beneficial, if not essential, for trabecular microarchitecture that promotes bone strength through affecting osteoblast and/or osteoclast presence or activity. Boron deprivation decreased bone volume fraction, trabecular thickness and impaired alveolar bone repair [3]. Also, B plays an important role in osteogenesis, and its deficiency has been shown to adversely impact bone development and regeneration. Diet supplementation with B has repeatedly been shown to markedly reduce urinary excretion of both calcium and magnesium and to increase serum levels of estradiol and calcium absorption in periand postmenopausal women. This trace element also beneficially impacts vitamin-D utilization [4].

B is widely distributed in the environment combined with oxygen to form compounds called borates. They are found in soils and rocks and also, in different kinds of water. Because they are essential for plants, borates occur naturally in fruits and vegetables and elsewhere in the food chain [5]. Following a database created to assess boron concentration in different foods and beverages from the American diet, the top 2 contributors were coffee and milk, but fruits, vegetables and nuts are also rich in this trace element [6]. Thus, the main sources of boron in the diet are drinking water and food products rich in boron.

Considering the growing interest in boron as a possible essential element for human health, its daily intake and

possible nutritional sources, B influence on osteoarticular system and a lack of research about boron in Moldova, it was decided to search the information about the role of boron in the functioning of the osteoarticular system in order to do a further research about its consumption impact on the osteoarticular health of the Moldovan population.

It was necessary to find out what the PubMed, Google Scholar, ProQuest, and Scopus databases published until June 2021 using the following key terms: "boron", "boron compounds", "organic boron compounds" combined using the Boolean operator AND "osteoarticular diseases", "rheumatoid arthritis", "osteoarthritis". The reference list from the resulting publications was manually searched for any relevant trials with elimination of results not related to the article topic.

Results and discussion

The purpose of this review is to present the role of boron in the functioning of the osteoarticular system, alongside with its dietary sources and active compounds in the form of which it can be found.

Boron is considered to be a biological trace element but there is substantial and growing support for it to be classified as an essential nutrient for humans, depending on its speciation. Similar to other elements, boron doesn't act on its own but as a part of various molecules [7].

Active boron compounds and dietary sources

This trace element can be found both in an inorganic and organic form. The last one, organic boron containing compounds (BCCs), is essential for human health, being involved in the cellular metabolism. Plant based organic BCCs such as sugars and polyalcohol borate esters are very important in the human nutrition. It can be used in cell metabolism during which they are at least partially transformed into boric acid that will subsequently be eliminated as waste [7].

Boric acid and borates are inorganic BCCs found in soils and employed by plants and bacteria for the manufacture of all known B organic natural compounds. It has been known for a long time that B deficiency in soils, leads to depletion of BCCs in fruits and vegetables in the food supply, was correlated with a high incidence of arthritis [7].

There are three main sources that supply B for humans: drinking water, vegetable foods (mainly fruits and vegetables) and products daily used for personal care (soaps, lipsticks, shampoo, skin cream, gastric antacids, cosmetics, detergents, contraceptives and estrogen supplements). These sources, on average, supply around of 0.6, 1.0, and 0.5 mg B a day per person, respectively [8].

Also, since 1990, two more important sources of boron, such as supplements and nutraceuticals have appeared. They can supply between 3 and 10 mg of B per day. The essentiality of B in humans is not yet widely accepted, but the scientific information indicates that to ensure an adequate nutrition, humans require between 2 and 6 mg B per day for one person [8].

According to recently published research, people older than 40 can prevent/or correct arthritis, osteoporosis and osteoarthritis by taking B equal to or higher that 3 mg per day. In the countries following the famous healthy Mediterranean diet that includes staple foods rich in B such as grape, broccoli, garlic, tomato, pomegranate and olives combined with the consumption of drinking water with high levels of B, daily intake of this trace mineral frequently results higher than 13 mg per day [8].

On average, dried fruits, nuts and avocados contain between 1 and 4.5 mg of boron/100 g. Fresh fruits, vegetables, and honey, contains between 0.1 to 0.5 mg boron/100 g, whereas animal foods provide only 0.01 to 0.06 mg of boron/100 g. Another important source of boron is water, and the content varies according to geographic location [9].

Osteoarticular diseases in which boron may be involved

Epidemiologic evidence suggests that in the areas of the world where boron intakes usually were 1 mg or less / day, the estimated incidence of arthritis ranged from 20 to 70%. On the other hand, in areas of the world where boron intakes were usually 3 to 10 mg, the estimated incidence of arthritis ranged from 0 to 10% [10].

In the diet, many people do not consume more than one milligram of B a day, which may be a clinical concern. Soils are depleted, and certain fertilizers inhibit boron absorption into plants. Low boron levels were correlated with higher serum levels of rheumatoid factor (RF), the antibody that causes destruction of the joints in rheumatoid arthritis, and in osteoarthritis, which were correlated with disease duration and severity [11].

In the 1980s, boron was discovered to play a role in regulating mineral metabolism (such as calcium and magnesium) and enhancing the vitamin D activation process in humans. These discoveries led to the hypothesis of using boron both in the prevention of osteoporosis and in the treatment of osteoarthritis. Although, studies assessing these purposes are at preliminary stages, reports are promising [12].

It was found that boron is located almost entirely and exclusively within the mineral portion of bone. Boron is suggested to affect bone mineral by influencing serum steroid hormone levels (estrogen and testosterone) and the metabolism and utilization of calcium and other mineral elements of bone. Some studies suggest that calcium fructoborate, when administered orally, is effective in reducing discomfort and stiffness associated with osteoarthritis disorders, and bone loss [13].

Calcium fructoborate is sugar-borate ester which is a complex of calcium, fructose, and boron found naturally in fresh and dried fruits, vegetables and herbs, and wine [14].

A growing number of researches indicate that the calcium fructoborate significantly reduces serum levels of the C-reactive protein in humans, suggesting that it may contribute to bone health by controlling the inflammation associated with loss of bone mineral density [14].

In one study which was performed on 53 postmenopaus-

al women aged 55–60 living in Turkey, where the subjects are naturally exposed to high ($\geq 1 \text{ mg/L}$) or low (< 1 mg/L) boron concentration in drinking water, it was detected that serum concentration of osteocalcin, a sensitive and specific indicator of osteoblast function, together with dietary boron may play a role in bone metabolism. According to this study, daily boron intake of 1 mg/L and more through drinking water may affect bone metabolism in postmenopausal women positively [15].

Chronic and granulomatous inflammation (including that associated with osteoarticular diseases) was decreased in a rat model through the combination of boron with dexamethasone [16].

Inadequate boron intake is involved in inflammatory processes, including joint swelling, restricted movement, as well as body temperature, antibody production, blood hemostasis, serine protease (which is linked to platelet aggregation), activity of lipoxygenase (an enzyme that helps control inflammation), and metabolism of leukotrienes, chemical mediators of inflammation [17].

Below will be described the boron role in preventing osteoarticular diseases, such as osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Its implication in osteoporosis will be avoided because this disease is multifactorial, and the role of boron is difficult to follow.

Boron and osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis is a chronic disease that involves progressive destruction of articular cartilage which results in impaired joint motion, severe pain, and, ultimately, disability. This disease affects mostly elderly people [18].

Alongside with nonpharmacological interventions (weight loss, education programs, exercise, and so on) and pharmacological treatments (paracetamol, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs [NSAIDs], nutraceuticals and functional foods could provide an advantageous alternative. These nutraceuticals and functional foods that contain boron may have a beneficial effect in osteoarthritis too [18].

Joint discomfort is a common complaint in osteoarthritis which is associated with limited joint function, decreased feelings of energy and decreased quality of life. Pietrzkowski Z. et al. reported, after conducting placebo-controlled clinical study on 60 participants with self-reported knee discomfort, that supplementation with 110 mg calcium fructoborate twice per day was associated with improving knee discomfort during the 2 weeks of intake [19].

Another study has shown that boron levels, along with those of lead and zinc, were reduced in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip when those patients went for hip replacement. Also, the level of demineralization in the osteoarthritis patients is greater than in those who don't suffer from this disease [20]. So, boron key role played in the chemical make-up of bones and joints through its effects on calcium metabolism is very important fact for prevention and treatment of osteoarthritis [21].

Naza M. A. et al. released a clinical evaluation and measurement of serum boron concentration, erythrocyte sedimentation rate and total white blood cell count of 43 patients with knee OA. The results were compared with those of healthy individuals. After these, the authors concluded that serum boron levels were significantly lower in patients with knee OA, and negatively correlated with the duration and severity of the disease [22].

Another study researched the influence of calcium fructoborate (commercially marketed under the trade name FruiteX-B*) on symptoms associated with OA conditions. In this study, calcium fructoborate was tested for fourteen days at a serving of 108 mg twice a day on subjects diagnosed with minor osteoarthritis conditions of the knees by CT scan. Blood level of C-Reactive Protein in 7 out of 10 subjects was found reduced up to 37% compared to day 1 baseline levels. Also, the study showed that blood level of endogenous 1.25(OH) vitamin D was increased more than 19% compared to baseline [23].

In a double-blind study conducted in Australia, 20 patients with confirmed osteoarthritis were given a placebo or a supplement providing 6 mg of boron daily for 8 weeks; 15 patients completed the study. Of the 7 patients consuming the boron supplement, 5 reported improved subjective measures for their arthritic condition (e.g., less pain on movement), whereas only 1 of 8 patients consuming the placebo reported an improvement in their arthritic condition [24].

In two clinical cases which were presented by Hesselink J. M. and Russell A. L. in order to reveal the role of boron salts (fructoborate) in the treatment of symptoms in osteoarthritis was demonstrated the effectiveness of boron in treating the pain of osteoarthritis to a level of good control and that when taken long term it prevents exacerbations of pain [25].

Following the USA nutritional protocol for osteoarthrosis, for patients it is recommended a boron supplementation of 6 mg of B a day [26].

Boron and rheumatoid arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a common, systemic autoimmune disease of unknown cause that primarily affects the peripheral joints in a symmetric pattern. It is characterized by chronic inflammation of the synovial joints which can lead to progressive joint destruction including symmetric joint swelling with stiffness, warmth, tenderness and pain and affects approximately 1-2% of the general population worldwide [27].

Trace elements may play a critical role in the onset, progress and curing of the disease. Some studies have reported reduced serum selenium, magnesium, zinc, elevated serum copper in RA patients. A cross sectional study which enrolled 107 RA patients and 214 controls found a significant low serum boron level in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatoid factor titer was significant predictor of low serum boron level. This may suggest that boron element may play a role in pathophysiology of RA and its severity and a supplementation with boron element and diets rich in fruits, vegetables, nuts, and pulses may be useful [27].

Following the results of a double-blind randomized pla-

cebo-controlled clinical trial with 60 days supplementation period with calcium fructoborate and sodium tetraborate for 72 Iraqi patients with active rheumatoid arthritis (RA) maintained on etanercept, boron as an adjuvant has potentiated therapeutic outcomes in RA patients by improvement of the clinical scores and significantly decreases the inflammatory markers in RA patients [28].

The safety of boron supplements when used in pharmacological doses as adjuvant with etanercept in treatment of RA patients was studied and the results showed that boron supplements – calcium fructoborate and sodium tetraborate have no negative impact on erythrocyte sedimentation rate, hemoglobin, white blood cells, platelets count, hepatic and renal functions [29].

Although the role of boron in functioning of osteoarticular system has been investigated in numerous studies, at this moment more research at this subject is needed in order to recommend boron as an essential trace mineral for bones, joins and human body in general.

Following this aim, the next step is to study the link between different boron concentrations in drinking water from the different regions of the Republic of Moldova and osteoarticular morbidity (by osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis) of the population.

Conclusions

1. Boron can enter the human body in an organic and inorganic form. The organic plant based boron compounds are highly bioavailable.

2. In the functioning of the osteoarticular system boron acts by regulation of mineral metabolism (such as calcium and magnesium), enhancing the vitamin D activation process and influencing serum steroid hormone levels.

3. A boron intake equal to or higher than 3 mg per day can help prevent/or correct arthritis, osteoporosis and osteoarthritis.

4. Boron, especially calcium fructoborate, can reduce pain, joint discomfort and increase endogenous vitamin D level in patients with osteoarthritis.

5. Boron may play a role in pathophysiology of rheumatoid arthritis and its severity and a supplementation with boron element may be useful.

References

- 1. Hathcock JN. Vitamin and mineral safety. 3rd ed. Washington: Council for Responsible Nutrition; 2014. 184 p.
- Korkmaz M. Boron: environmental exposure and human health. In: Nriagu JO, editor. Encyclopedia of environmental health. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2011. p. 442-445. doi:10.1016/b978-0-444-52272-6.00376-7.
- Nielsen FH. Is boron nutritionally relevant? Nutr Rev. 2008;66(4):183-191. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2008.00023.x
- 4. Pizzorno L. Nothing boring about boron. Integr Med. 2015;14(4):35-48.
- Murray FJ. A human health risk assessment of boron (boric acid and borax) in drinking water. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 1995;22(3):221-230. doi: 10.1006/rtph.1995.0004.
- Rainey CJ, Nyquist LA, Christensen RE, et al. Daily boron intake from the American diet. J Am Diet Assoc. 1999;99(3):335-340. doi: 10.1016/ s0002-8223(99)00085-1.

- Donoiu I, Militaru C, Obleagă O, Hunter JM, Neamţu J, et al. Effects of boron-containing compounds on cardiovascular disease risk factors: a review. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 2018;50:47-56. doi: 10.1016/j. jtemb.2018.06.003.
- 8. Sosa Baldivia A, Ruiz-Ibarra G, Etchevers JD. Will boron be essential for human nutrition? Arch Latinoam Nutr. 2016;66(1):82-83.
- 9. Dessordi R, Navarro MA. Boron action in bone health. Rheumatol Orthop Med. 2017;2(1):1-3. doi: 10.15761/ROM.1000112.
- Newnham R. Essentiality of boron for healthy bones and joints. Environ Health Perspect. 1994 Nov;102(Suppl 7):83-85. doi: 10.1289/ ehp.94102s783.
- 11. Ash M. Minimising the impact of age and arthritis-related changes on joint health and function. 2018 Sep 26 [cited 2020 Jun 20]. In: www. clinicaleducation.org [Internet]. Newton Abbot: Clinical Education; c2021-. Available from: https://www.clinicaleducation.org/resources/ reviews/minimising-the-impact-of-age-and-arthritis-related-changeson-joint-health-and-function/
- 12. Boron. J Diet Suppl. 2008;5(1):62-94. doi: 10.1080/19390210802329352.
- Mogosanu GD, Bita A, Bejenaru LE, et al. Calcium fructoborate for bone and cardiovascular health. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2016;172(2):277-281. doi: 10.1007/s12011-015-0590-2.
- Scorei ID, Scorei RI. Calcium fructoborate helps control inflammation associated with diminished bone health. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2013;155(3):315-321. doi: 10.1007/s12011-013-9800-y.
- Boyacioglu O, Orenay-Boyacioglu S, Yildirim H, Korkmaz M. Boron intake, osteocalcin polymorphism and serum level in postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 2018;48:52-56. doi: 10.1016/j. jtemb.2018.03.005.
- 16. Hanaw MA, Saad AH, Zheen A, Tavga A. Anti-inflammatory effects of boron alone or as adjuvant with dexamethasone in animal models of chronic and granulomatous inflammation. Int J Basic Clin Pharmacol. 2015;4(4):701-707. doi: 10.18203/2319-2003.ijbcp20150376
- Schauss AG. Boron. 2012 Sep [cited 2020 Jun 20]. In: Rejuve clinic [Internet]. Saratoga: Rejuve; 2021-. Available from: http://www.rejuvemedical. com/wp content/uploads/2012/09/boron.html
- Ameye LG, Chee WSS. Osteoarthritis and nutrition. From nutraceuticals to functional foods: a systematic review of the scientific evidence. Arthritis Res Ther. 2006;8(4):R127. doi: 10.1186/ar2016.
- Pietrzkowski Z, Phelan M, Keller R, Shu C, Argumedo R, Reyes-Izquierdo T. Short-term efficacy of calcium fructoborate on subjects with knee discomfort: a comparative, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study. Clin Interv Aging. 2014;9:895-899 doi: 10.2147/CIA.S64590.
- 20. Kolasinski SL. Boron supplementation for low bone density and osteoarthritis. 2002 Feb 1 [cited 2020 Jun 20]. In: ReliasMedia [Internet]. Morrisville: ReliasMedia; 2021-. Available from: https://www.reliasmedia. com/articles/118545-boron-supplementation-for-low-bone-densityand-osteoarthritis
- 21. Morelli V, Naquin C, Weaver V. Alternative therapies for traditional disease states: osteoarthritis. Am Fam Physician. 2003 Jan 15;67(2):339-344.
- 22. Naza MA, Omer RB, Saad AH. Relationship between serum concentrations of boron and inflammatory markers, disease duration, and severity of patients with knee osteoarthritis in Sulaimani city. Nat J Physiol Pharm Pharmacol. 2015;6(1):27-31. doi: 10.5455/njppp.2015.5.0809201576.
- 23. Reyes-Izquierdo T, Nemzer B, Gonzales AE, et al. Short-term intake of calcium fructoborate improves WOMAC and McGill Scores and beneficially modulates biomarkers associated with knee osteoarthritis: a pilot clinical double-blinded placebo-controlled study. Am J Biomed Sci. 2012;4(2):111-122. doi: 10.5099/aj120200111.
- 24. Nielsen FH, Meacham SL. Growing evidence for human health benefits of boron. J Evid Based Complement Altern Med. 2011;16(3):169-180. doi: 10.1177/2156587211407638.
- 25. Hesselink JM, Russell AL. The role of boron salts in the treatment of symptoms in osteoartrosis: presentation of 2 cases. Juniper Online J Case Stud. 2017;2(2):001-005. doi: 10.19080/jojcs.2017.02.555582.
- Hughes EJ. Nutritional protocol for osteoarthrosis (Degenerative Joint Disease). J Clin Nutr Diet. 2016;2:25. doi: 10.4172/2472-1921.100032

- 27. Al-Rawi ZS, Gorial FI, Al-Shammary WA, Muhsin F, Al-Naaimi AS, Kareem S. Serum boron concentration in rheumatoid arthritis: correlation with disease activity, functional class, and rheumatoid factor. J Exp Integr Med. 2013;3(1):9-15. doi: 10.5455/jeim.101112.or.053.
- 28. Hussain SA, Abood SJ, Gorial FI. The adjuvant use of calcium fructoborate and borax with etanercept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis:

Pilot study. J Intercult Ethnopharmacol. 2017;6(1):58-64. doi: 10.5455/ jice.20161204021549.

29. Abood SJ, Gorial FI, Hussain SA. Safety of boron supplements in rheumatoid arthritis patients maintained on etanercept treatment. Pharm Glob Int J Compr Pharm. 2016;03(02):1-5.

Authors' ORCID iDs and academic degrees

Maria-Victoria Racu, MD, PhD Applicant – https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9203-7892 Ion Romulus Scorei, BioD, BiochemPhD, Professor of Biochemistry – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7157-4288 Iurie Pinzaru, MD, PhD, Associate Professor of Public Health – https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5293-8410

Authors' contribution

MVR designed the trial and drafted the first manuscript; IRS and IP interpreted the data and revised the manuscript critically. The authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by the National Agency for Public Health of Moldova and the BioBoron Research Institute from Craiova, Romania. The trial was the authors' initiative. The authors are independent and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

No approval was required for this study.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interests.



GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

The manuscript has to be sent electronically to editor@moldmedjournal.md by the author, responsible for the correspondence, using the **Authorship Statement Form** and **License Agreement**.

The authors are kindly requested to visit our web site www.moldmedjournal.md and strictly follow the directions of the **Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement**.

Details about submission and article processing charge can be found on the journal's website: www.moldmedjournal.md.

All papers are to be executed in the following manner:

1. The manuscript should be typed in format A4, 1.5-spaced, with 2.0 cm margins, printing type 12 Times New Roman, in Microsoft Word.

2. The original article (presents new and original scientific findings, explains research methodology and provides data) has to be less than 16 pages long and should consist of an Introduction, Material and methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusions and be followed by not more than 40 references.

3. The review article (provides an overview of a field or subject, synthesizes previous research) must not exceed 25 pages and contain not more than 100 references.

4. The title page should include the first and family name of all the authors, their academic degrees, the name of the department and institution from which the paper has arrived, the phone number and e-mail address of the corresponding author.

5. The abstract should be written on the title page and limited from 220 to 240 words.

The abstract of original article should have 4 parts: Background, Material and methods, Results, Conclusions.

The abstract of review article should have 2 parts: Background and Conclusions.

The abstract should end with 3 to 6 key words.

6. The tables and figures must be typed, consecutively numbered and followed by an explanatory text. The figures that have to emphasize a comparison or details are published in color. If colored figures are to be placed, the author must pay an additional fee of \notin 100 per page (1-8 figures on a page).

7. The references are to be listed in order of their appearance in the text, and the appropriate numbers are to be inserted in the text in square brackets in proper places.

The list of references should contain more than 50% in Scopus or WoS, more than 80% with DOI and not more than 30% of monographs or conference abstracts.

The references must comply with the general format outlined in the Uniform Requirements for the Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals developed by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (www.icmje. org), chapter IV.A.9.

The references in the Cyrillic script should be transliterated into Latin script using the American Library Association and Library of Congress Romanization Tables as follows: A=A, B=B, B=V, Γ=G, Д=D, E=E, Ë=E, Ж=ZH, 3=Z, И=I, Й=I, K=K, Л=L, M=M, H=N, O=O, Π=P, P=R, C=S, T=T, Y=U, Φ=F, X=KH, Ц=TS, Ч=CH, Ш=SH, Щ=SHCH, Ъ=", Ы=Y, b=', Э=E, Ю=IU, Я=IA.

Immediately after the transliteration the translation of the title in English in the square brackets should follow. For example: Ivanov IV, Shchukin NF, Men'shikov VM, Ad"yunktov AM. Transplantatiia organov i tkanei [Transplantation of organs and tissues]. Vestnik Khirurgii. 2010; 26(6):45-49. Russian.

Address of the Editorial Office

192, Stefan cel Mare Avenue, Chisinau, MD-2004, the Republic of Moldova Telephone: +373 22 205 209, +373 79 429 274 mobile www.moldmedjournal.md editor@moldmedjournal.md

81